
Annual Report 2009



The Annual Report 2009 contains statements which are not based on current or historical fact  
and which are forward looking in nature. These forward looking statements reflect knowledge  
and information available at the date of preparation of this Annual Report 2009 and the 
Company undertakes no obligation to update these forward looking statements. Such forward 
looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties facing the Group 
including, without limitation, those risks described in this Annual Report 2009, and other unknown 
future events and circumstances which can cause results and developments to differ materially from 
those anticipated. Nothing in this Annual Report 2009 should be construed as a profit forecast.

The Annual Report 2009 can be viewed online at www.rexam.com/ar09. Downloadable files 
are also provided.
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Rexam is a leading global consumer packaging company.

We make beverage cans as well as a broad range of plastic packaging products and solutions.  
Our manufacturing skills, level of service and understanding of customer and consumer needs make  
us a sought after business partner for many of the world’s most famous and successful consumer brands.

Our packaging is often key to maintaining and reinforcing our customers’ reputation and values.  
It plays a major role in their strategies, helping to shape their consumers’ brand experiences.

Consumer packaging is an integral part of modern living. It protects and preserves. It enables efficient 
distribution. It helps brand owners to promote their goods and to inform their consumers. The lifestyle many 
of us take for granted is predicated, in part, on the availability of a sustainable packaging supply chain.

We are continually seeking innovative ways to design more effective packaging and manufacture it more 
efficiently. Packaging is a significant part of the supply chain and there are compelling commercial reasons 
to use less materials, energy and water but there are equally good environmental ones too. We focus on 
reducing costs and environmental impact throughout the supply chain and the lifecycle of the packaging and 
we actively support measures to increase the amount of used packaging that is recovered and recycled.

Introduction to Rexam
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2009 Results Summary
2009 2008

Underlying business performance1

Sales £4,866m £4,618m
Underlying operating profit £446m £466m
Underlying profit before tax £285m £328m
Underlying earnings per share 25.4p 31.5p3

Dividends proposed and paid per share 8.0p 18.7p3

Statutory results2

Sales £4,866m £4,618m
Operating profit £92m £380m
(Loss)/profit before tax £(59)m £240m
Total (loss)/profit for financial year £(29)m £171m
Total basic (loss)/earnings per share (3.7)p 23.9p3

1  Underlying business performance is continuing operations before exceptional items, the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on financing derivatives.

2 Statutory results, profits and earnings include exceptional items, the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets, fair value changes on financing derivatives and discontinued operations.

3 Restated for the 2009 rights issue.

4 Continuing operations include ongoing operations and businesses that have been disposed or were held for sale but exclude discontinued operations.

Sales from continuing operations4

1 2005: £2,806m
2 2006: £3,301m
3 2007: £3,611m
4 2008: £4,618m
5 2009: £4,866m

1 2 3 4 5

Underlying operating profit from continuing operations4

1 2005: £371m
2 2006: £375m
3 2007: £354m
4 2008: £466m
5 2009: £446m

1 2 3 4 5
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Rexam is headquartered in London, UK. We have 
105 plants in more than 20 countries across the 
globe. In addition to the well established markets 
of Western Europe and North America, we have 
operations in countries including Brazil, China, 
Egypt, Guatemala, India, Malaysia, Mexico, 
Poland and Russia. Some 25% of our sales come 
from emerging markets.

In 2009, we employed on average 22,900 
people, around a quarter of whom were in China 
and South East Asia. 

Sales 2009

1 Beverage Cans 74%
2 Plastic Packaging 26%

1

2

Underlying operating profit 2009

1 Beverage Cans 70%
2 Plastic Packaging 30%

1

2
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Sales by customer location 2009

1 US 
2 Brazil
3 Russia
4 Austria
5 Spain
6 UK
7 France
8 Germany
9 Other countries

2009 
£m

2008
£m

US 1,899 1,825
Brazil 560 460
Russia 300 314
Austria 269 280
Spain 241 213
UK 185 204
France 173 181
Germany 172 154
Other countries 1,067 987

4,866 4,618

2009 
£m

2008
£m

Beverage Cans 3,573 3,289
Plastic Packaging 1,241 1,273
Ongoing operations 4,814 4,562
Disposals and businesses for sale 52 56
Continuing operations 4,866 4,618

2009 
£m

2008
£m

Beverage Cans 310 306
Plastic Packaging 130 157
Ongoing operations 440 463
Disposals and businesses for sale 6 3
Continuing operations 446 466
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2009 was a difficult and turbulent year for most  
businesses as the global economy saw a significant 
reversal after years of growth. Retailers and 
suppliers dramatically reduced their inventory levels 
to protect cash and there was a radical change in 
consumer behaviour as loss of confidence caused 
individuals to rein in their expenditure, especially 
on discretionary purchases. 
Rexam was not immune to these macro factors. Trading in 2009  
was very challenging and it is disappointing to report a loss after  
tax on a statutory basis of £29m.

Details of our underlying and statutory performance can be found  
in the Business Review, but let me highlight the key points. In summary, 
reported Group sales grew 5% to £4,866m due to favourable 
foreign currency exchange. Organic sales, however, which excludes 
the impact of acquisitions, disposals and currency, declined 7% 
mainly as a result of lower volumes, especially in Plastic Packaging 
and parts of Beverage Can Europe, and the pass through of lower 
aluminium and resin costs to customers. Underlying profit before tax 
was down 13% to £285m and underlying earnings per share 
dropped to 25.4p. 

But the figures only tell part of the 2009 story. In the first part of the 
year we experienced, as did our customers, declining volumes. We 
focused therefore on taking cost out of the business and protecting 
our cash flow. Our expectation was that trading would stabilise in 
the second quarter as customers replenished stocks. We announced 
the closure of plants in both Beverage Cans and in Plastic Packaging 
to balance capacity with demand, as well as headcount reductions 
including a number of senior management positions. We focused  
on improving working capital and reducing capital expenditure  
to optimise cash flow.

However, conditions did not improve in the second quarter and it 
became apparent that destocking had given way to lower demand 
especially in the more cyclical and premium parts of our business 
such as dispensing systems, specialty cans and beverage closures. 
As you will see in detail in the Business Review, this put pressure on 
profits and cash flow. It became clear that our capital structure would 
not cope with this drop in operating profits and that our credit rating 
consequently was coming under significant pressure. We had to act 
swiftly to address this, and that is why the Board decided to proceed 
with a rights issue.

Chairman’s Statement

“ We are today a stronger and more 
competitive Company than at the start of 
2009 and we are well placed to participate 
in the upturn when it comes.” 

Peter Ellwood 
Chairman
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Rights issue
Let me briefly give you more background to the rights issue. At the 
beginning of 2009 our debt stood at £2.6bn. Whilst a large part  
of the increase in 2008 was due to currency translation, driven by 
the weakness of sterling against the dollar, the underlying cause 
behind the level of debt was our significant capital expenditure 
programme and the acquisitions of OI Plastics and Rostar. The 
expectations were that these investments would yield the profit growth 
required to service and pay down debt and help to maintain our 
investment grade rating. Indeed, our investments did begin to bear 
fruit in the first half of 2008 when we saw 8% organic growth in 
both sales and operating profit. 

In March 2009, the credit rating agency Standard & Poor’s 
downgraded Rexam to the lowest investment grade rating with a 
stable outlook and, whilst Moody’s reaffirmed its investment grade 
rating, it changed its outlook from stable to negative. The rating 
agencies indicated that unless we made meaningful debt repayment 
in 2010, there was a significant risk that we might lose our 
investment grade status. The continued trading shortfall in the second 
quarter of 2009 meant our ability to reduce that debt meaningfully 
became extremely questionable.

In the prevailing economic climate, the loss of investment grade 
would have had significant negative consequences on the cost and 
availability of credit. The Board did not consider this an acceptable 
risk, especially in view of the need, at that time, to refinance 
approximately £2.5bn of debt facilities as they mature between 
2011 and 2013. Given the results of trading in the first half, it 
would have been irresponsible to simply hope that our investment 
grade status would be maintained without any action by ourselves 
beyond what we were already doing or, indeed, hope that there 
would be a marked improvement in a global economy that was 
experiencing the longest and deepest recession in recent times. 
Having examined all options available, we determined that the only 
course that would strengthen our capital structure to accommodate 
the trading environment would be a rights issue. 

I am pleased to say that the rights issue was successful and that 
Rexam is now rated stable outlook investment grade by both rating 
agencies. The rights issue raised £334m (net proceeds) which was 
used to pay down debt. Together with an excellent 2009 cash flow 
performance, we now have a much stronger balance sheet and debt 
at the end of the year, at £1.8bn, was £0.8bn down from a year 
earlier.

Change in dividend policy
The trading environment and the rights issue also caused us to 
re-examine our dividend policy. In 2008, we increased the dividend 
by 5% but did so by increasing the debt burden as we did not have 
enough free cash flow from which to pay that dividend. This was not 
a sustainable policy. In conjunction with the rights issue, we decided 
not to declare a 2009 interim dividend and, whilst this was 
disappointing to many of our shareholders in the short term, it was 
seen as best for the Company and shareholders in the long term. 
Recognising the importance of the dividend to many shareholders, 
the Board will propose a final 2009 dividend of 8p per share payable 
on 3 June 2010 to holders of shares registered on 7 May 2010, 
subject to shareholder approval at the AGM in May 2010.

In the medium term we intend to establish dividend cover in the 
range of 2.0 - 2.5 times underlying earnings, split broadly one third, 
two thirds between the interim and final payments. This is naturally 
predicated on financial resources being available and underlying 
earnings developing as currently anticipated.

Changes to the Board
One of the Board’s most important tasks in 2009 was to manage  
the succession of the Chief Executive, Leslie Van de Walle, once he 
had signalled his intention to retire. The search for his successor by 
the Nomination Committee followed due process and was both swift 
and thorough. We are delighted that Graham Chipchase accepted 
the offer to become our new Chief Executive. He has been a 
member of the Board since 2003, first as Finance Director and  
then as Group Director, Plastic Packaging. He knows Rexam and  
its people well through his financial and operational roles and has 
demonstrated the leadership skills to take our Company forward. 
With Graham at the helm, we look forward with confidence to  
the next phase of Rexam’s development.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank Leslie for his contribution 
to Rexam. He achieved much during a period of unprecedented 
turmoil in the global economy. We wish him every success in  
the future.

Summary
We are committed to improving our performance in 2010.  
The Board believes that the investments made in recent years  
to strengthen our business were the right decisions. As our profit 
performance declined in the wake of the global recession, we acted 
resolutely and are today more appropriately based in terms of cost 
and capital structure for the current trading environment.

The consumer packaging industry remains fundamentally attractive 
and the sector is relatively resilient. Rexam is a strong and profitable 
global business. We have a sound financial position following the 
rights issue, well invested assets with good market positions and  
the right people in the right place.

We demonstrated a reasonably resilient operational performance  
in 2009 and the actions we have taken are well on track to deliver 
value for shareholders. On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank 
the executive team for their leadership of the business and all our 
employees across the globe for their contribution in achieving these 
results. My thanks also go to our shareholders for their support during 
this challenging year.

We are today a stronger and more competitive Company than at  
the start of 2009 and we are well placed to participate in the upturn 
when it comes.

Peter Ellwood 
Chairman 
17 February 2010
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Business Review

The Business Review sets out our vision and 
strategy. It looks at our performance in 2009 at a 
Group and sector level and contains an overview 
of the global consumer packaging market to give  
a fuller view of our industry and the dynamics of 
the environment in which we operate.

The review also covers the risks that may affect 
the execution and implementation of our strategy 
and our work to ensure that Rexam is seen as a 
responsible and sustainable company.

Our vision and strategy
The vast majority of our sales are made to large 
consumer products companies which are typically 
major multinational or regional brand owners.
Our customers are invariably world class organisations – often 
considered best in class in their category. They are well consolidated 
and continue to rationalise their supplier base and focus on cost. 
Generally, they look to align themselves with global partners who 
understand the scale and nature of their business and who can also 
supply their needs at a local level.

They require support for their growth plans in established and 
emerging markets and consistency in terms of technological capability, 
service and quality. They expect their partners to understand the drivers 
of their markets and to be proactive in contributing to innovative 
solutions to changing packaging needs and in driving costs out  
of the supply chain. They also expect them to act in a responsible 
manner and support their own efforts towards sustainability.

Our vision
Our vision is to be the best global consumer packaging company  
– a reference for all others in our industry. Being best is a journey 
rather than a destination, and it plays to one of our core values: 
continuous improvement. 

Being the best for our shareholders entails continuous and sustainable 
value creation. 

Being the best for our customers means consistently setting ourselves 
new challenges to excel in providing them with quality products and 
world class service.

Being the best for our people means ensuring that they have a safe 
and fair place of work in which they can develop fully. 

Our strategy
We have evolved our strategy in light of the changing environment. 
To ensure that we deliver shareholder value, our strategy is based  
on taking the lead in four key areas: achieving best performance; 
strengthening relationships with our customers and suppliers; 
relentlessly pursuing operational excellence and building a winning 
organisation.

To achieve best performance, our focus is on the fundamentals  
of cash generation, cost control, improved return on capital and 
absolute profits.

Strengthening our relationships with customers and suppliers hinges 
on continuing to develop our market insight to guide our quality and 
service as well as our innovation and product development, and 
delivering value through the whole supply chain and being 
recognised for these aspects of our offering.

Relentlessly pursuing operational excellence means taking the  
lead in key areas such as safety, operations, sustainability and risk 
management. These are the fundamentals of a quality business and 
play to our proven core strengths.

Building a winning organisation means fostering a culture that 
consistently drives performance towards our vision and delivers  
on promises.

Graham Chipchase 
Chief Executive 
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Key performance indicators
We use a range of financial and non financial measures and indicators (key performance indicators: KPIs)  
to measure the achievement of our strategic aims and by which the Board assesses performance against  
the strategy. These KPIs are set out below. Whilst some of them do cover the new strategic priorities,  
going forward we will be extending and refining them to ensure that they cover all four key strategic  
areas, especially when it comes to measuring our relationships with our customers and building a  
winning organisation.

2009 2008 20071 20061 20051

Shareholder value
Sales2 (£m) 4,866 4,618 3,611 3,301 2,806
Underlying operating profit2 (£m) 446 466 354 375 371
Underlying earnings per share2, 3 (p) 25.4 31.5 24.9 31.7 31.0
Free cash flow (£m) 290 (128) 24 173 248
Ordinary dividends per share3 (p) 8.0 18.7 17.8 16.9 16.1
Capital expenditure (gross) (£m) 184 389 311 214 176
Return on capital employed4 (%) 9.5 11.0 11.9 15.6 16.4
Underlying operating profit margins2 (%) 9.2 10.1 9.8 11.4 13.2
Annual cost efficiencies and savings2 (£m) 42 35 32 28 29
Safety5

Group lost time accident rate (LTAR) performance 0.8 1.1 1.7 1.6 –
Plants verified against appropriate international standards 406 42 34 – –
Environment5

Significant uncontrolled or abnormal releases Nil Nil Nil 1 Nil
Emissions (millions of metric tonnes CO2 equivalent) 1.09 1.247 – – –
Plants verified against appropriate international standards 46 37 32 – –

1  Sales and underlying performance exclude the Glass business.

2 Underlying business performance is continuing operations before exceptional items, the amortisation of certain acquired intangibles and fair value changes on financing derivatives.

3 Restated for the 2009 rights issue.

4  Underlying operating profit plus share of associates profit after tax divided by the average of opening and closing of shareholders’ equity after adding back retirement benefit obligations (net of tax)  
and net borrowings.

5 See also table on page 26.

6 2009 reduction due to disposal of Petainer.

7 Carbon Disclosure Project baseline year.
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Operational review
2009 was an extraordinary year in which we 
made progress in a number of strategic areas as 
we pursued our vision to become the best global 
consumer packaging company.
Group performance
Our financial performance did not meet all our key measurement 
criteria. Whilst a number of our businesses performed as we 
expected, others turned out to be impacted more by the recession 
than we had hoped. Overall, our business turned out to be less 
resilient than had been the case in previous economic downturns.

Reported sales rose to £4.9bn due to the benefit of foreign exchange 
translation. Organic sales were down 7% owing to a decline in 
volumes largely in Plastic Packaging and some parts of Beverage 
Can Europe, together with the lower cost of aluminium and resin 
passed through to customers.

Underlying operating profit was £446m, a 4% reduction on a 
reported basis but a 17% decline on an organic basis. We achieved 
some price improvements in our Beverage Cans business and 
benefited from significant cost reductions. However, these were 
insufficient to offset the impact of lower volumes referred to above. 
Underlying profit before tax was £285m and underlying earnings 
per share were 25.4p compared with £328m and 31.5p 
respectively in 2008.

Statutory results
Results on a statutory basis include the effect of acquisitions, 
disposed businesses, currency translation and exceptional and  
other items. The exceptional and other items are described in  
more detail in the Financial review. Sales for continuing operations 
were £4,866m (2008: £4,618m) and loss before tax was £59m  
(2008: profit £240m). Total loss for the financial period was  
£29m (2008: profit £171m) and total basic loss per share  
was 3.7p (2008: earnings per share 23.9p).

Focus on cash flow and cost
During this period of turmoil in financial markets and the global 
economy, we focused on improving cash flow and reducing cost.

We were very pleased with our strong cash performance. This  
was mainly driven by tighter control of working capital and reduced 
capital expenditure. Working capital inflow for the year was £40m 
compared with an outflow of cash in 2008 of £155m. We cut 
capital expenditure to £184m (2008: £389m).

We acted swiftly and resolutely to cut costs. The closure of 15%  
of our North American beverage can capacity, started in mid 2008, 
was completed in July 2009. The announced restructuring of our 
European beverage can business is also complete. The Dmitrov plant 
in Moscow, Russia, was closed in August and the Dunkirk plant in 
France closed in December. These measures will reduce costs by 
£20m per year from 2010 for one off cash costs of around £30m.

The reorganisation of Plastic Packaging announced in May, for an 
exceptional charge of about £45m at a cash cost of £35m, is on 
track to deliver annualised savings of £30m in 2010 and beyond. 
The reorganisation involves the closure and consolidation of seven 
plants across the Plastic Packaging operations, five in the US and 
two in Europe, as well as a 10% reduction in headcount (some 
1,500 employees) across the sector. The programme is progressing 
according to plan with two of the seven plants now closed and 
1,100 of the planned redundancies already made. Additional 
actions undertaken in 2009 included shortened working hours for  
all Personal Care employees during the second half of the year.

As a result of the trading environment in 2009, £193m of goodwill 
attributable to the Closures business was written off. We will be 
shutting an additional Closures plant in the US which will deliver 
incremental savings of £7m by 2011 for a cost of £13m, of which 
£6m is cash.

Our restructuring actions will result in annual savings of some £75m 
in 2010, of which £29m came through in 2009, ahead of plan. 
With the savings from the action in the Closures business, this target 
will increase to £82m by 2011.

Business Review

“ During this period of turmoil in financial markets 
and the global economy, we focused on improving 
cash flow and reducing cost.” 
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Record efficiency savings
We delivered a record £42m of efficiency savings across the  
Group as we pursued relentlessly the continued application of six 
sigma and lean enterprise methodologies. Beverage Cans made 
significant savings through lower spoilage and reduced energy 
consumption as well as further lightweighting of their products.  
In Plastic Packaging, major savings arose from scrap reduction  
and recycling programmes, maintenance cost reductions and 
enhancements in injection moulding technology.

Summary and outlook
Trading conditions were difficult throughout 2009. However, we 
produced a strong cash performance, our cost reduction programme 
is ahead of plan and we delivered record efficiencies.

Although the strength of any global economic recovery is unclear, 
volumes appear to be stabilising. However, we expect business 
conditions in a number of our operations to remain tough. In 
Beverage Can Europe, there is ongoing uncertainty as to the 
development of specialty cans and, in Russia, to the continued effect 
of the recession and the impact of new taxes on beer. In Closures, 
we have already taken action in 2010 to reduce cost further to 
counter what is an enduring weakness in beverage closures. In 
Personal Care, our performance in the current year will depend,  
in large part, on consumer confidence and discretionary spend  
in the US. 

We continue to maintain the tight management of cash and limit 
capital expenditure to below depreciation. Looking ahead, our single 
minded commitment is to enhance shareholder value. This means 
focusing on the fundamentals of cash flow optimisation, cost control 
and improving return on capital.

We believe that the trading environment will remain challenging 
throughout the year but, as we benefit from the cost saving measures 
we are taking, overall we expect our performance to improve  
in 2010.

Efficiency gains 2005 - 2009 (£m)

1 2005: £29m
2 2006: £28m
3 2007: £32m
4 2008: £35m
5 2009: £42m

1 2 3 4

Beverage Cans   Plastic Packaging

5

1414

19
21

8 14
15

17

21

23

“ We delivered a record £42m of efficiency savings 
across the Group as we pursued relentlessly the 
continued application of six sigma and lean 
enterprise methodologies.” 
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Beverage Cans represents 74% of ongoing Group 
sales and 70% of Group underlying operating  
profit (2008: 72% and 66% respectively).

Beverage Cans 
Rexam is a global leader in beverage cans. The beverage can industry is well consolidated and has high 
barriers to entry. There are three global players.

Our Beverage Cans business is essentially a regional business operating on a global scale. In general, 
our plants are located close to our customers to minimise logistics costs. Our main operations are in 
Europe, North America and South America. Our market shares in these regions are 46%, 23% and 58% 
respectively. We also have plants in China and India and joint ventures in Guatemala and South Korea. 

Beverage cans are made from aluminium or steel. They are a popular form of beverage packaging 
throughout the world. They are the most lightweight, high performance beverage packaging container 
available today and uniquely sustainable being 100% recyclable and the metal 100% reusable. They are, 
in fact, the most recycled type of beverage packaging in the world. We are confident of their future in an 
increasingly environmentally conscious world.

In addition to their environmental credentials, consumers appreciate their lightness, the ease of refrigeration 
and the fact that they keep contents fresh and carbonated. Beverage producers like cans because they are 
quick to fill, maintain product integrity and are easy and efficient to transport. They are effective in moving 
volume (especially in multi pack formats) and their smooth metallic surfaces provide optimum exposure for 
a brand. For retailers, cans are simple to handle and, as they are easily stackable, make effective use of 
space on supermarket shelves.

Our cans are used for a wide array of beverages including beer, carbonated soft drinks, sports and energy 
drinks, iced tea and spirit mixers. Emerging categories such as juice, water, iced coffee, functional drinks 
and wine are using the can to enter and open up new markets.

The beverage can’s share of the global carbonated soft drink pack mix is 20% by volume and 41% by unit. 
There was no change compared with 2008. In beer, the shares are 22% and 31% respectively (2008: 22% 
and 30%). The slight increase in can share in beer is attributable to the continued shift from refillable and 
non refillable glass.

Business Review
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2009 2008

Sales £3,573m £3,289m
Underlying operating profit £310m £306m
Return on sales 8.7% 9.3%

Beverage Cans proved to be relatively resilient in the face of the 
global recession. Reported sales grew 9% chiefly due to favourable 
foreign exchange translation.

Excluding the effect of pass through of lower raw material costs, 
organic sales were flat as pricing benefits in Europe and North 
America and volume growth in South America were offset by weaker 
volumes in parts of the European business and the North American 
operation.

Organic operating profit fell 10%. Cost savings in the European  
and North American businesses and the increased volumes in South 
America, particularly Brazil, were cancelled out by the decline in 
volumes in European specialty cans, and by the effect of the 
economic decline in Russia. As a result, margins also fell.

Beverage Can Europe & Asia
Industry volumes in Europe were weaker than expected. As a whole, 
the European beverage can market declined 3% with beer accounting 
for the majority of the decline. We indicated last year that specialty 
cans were untried in a recession and, indeed, they proved less 
resilient than standard cans.

Volumes in the Russian market, which dropped dramatically in the 
second half of 2008, continued to decline and did not stabilise until 
the final quarter of the year, finishing 26% down on 2008.

Our own European beverage can volumes were down 9% reflecting 
our greater exposure to Russia and specialty cans. Excluding Russia, 
our volumes of standard cans were broadly flat with a good 
performance especially in the Scandinavian markets. Our total 
specialty can volumes were down 14% as consumers moved away 
from premium priced beverages in cans and customers launched 
fewer new products.

The closure of two plants in Russia and France will reduce our cost 
base and cut our European beverage can making capacity by 7% 
creating a more favourable balance between demand and the 
location of our capacity. 

Beverage Can North America
The beverage can market in North America stabilised in the second 
half to its more normal long term trend, leaving a 1% decline for the 
year as a whole. Rexam’s total volumes for the year declined 3%. 
Our 24oz can continued to perform well with volumes up 7% 
benefiting from continued growth in iced teas and beer which favour 
this size of can. Our standard can volumes declined 5% primarily 
owing to our greater exposure to premium brands as consumers 
moved to ‘own label’ products.

The restructuring programme announced in the second half of 2008 
is on track to deliver around £20m in anticipated savings in 2010. 
The Oklahoma facility, which was the final element of the plant 
reorganisation, was closed at the start of July 2009. In all, we have 
reduced our 12oz can making capacity in North America by 15% 
and reduced our headcount by around 270 people. 

Beverage Can South America
South America maintained its growth trajectory. We delivered strong 
volume growth driven by Brazil and Chile where consumer behaviour 
has been largely unaffected by the global economic downturn. 
Overall our volumes grew 9% with standard cans up 3%. Our own 
standard can volumes are almost maximised by current capacity 
constraints. We are to re-open the Pouso Alegre plant in Minas 
Gerais. It will have a capacity of 800m standard cans and will  
be ready for the final quarter of 2010.

Specialty can volumes in South America grew by more than 50%, 
albeit from a low base. They continued to increase their penetration 
amongst all drinks categories owing to strong market growth as  
well as the successful launch of Rexam’s Sleek™ can in the region. 
Specialty cans now account for 15% of our total volume in South 
America compared with 11% in 2008.
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Business Review

Plastic Packaging represents 26% of Group sales  
and 30% of Group underlying operating profit  
(2008: 28% and 34% respectively).

Plastic Packaging 
Plastic Packaging focuses primarily on the value added and generally faster growing segments of rigid 
plastic packaging. The segments in which we have chosen to operate are technologically advanced: 
significant intellectual property and product innovation are key to many of the products.

The rigid plastic packaging market remains fragmented with the top 10 manufacturers accounting for 
just 18% of the market. PIRA International, a provider of business intelligence to the packaging industry, 
estimates that the rigid plastics market declined slightly in value terms in 2009, but is expected to be  
the fastest growing segment within plastic packaging.

Rexam offers its customers a global manufacturing and sales capability. The three divisions that make  
up the sector share a number of customers and are united by common injection moulding and other 
technologies and a focus on intellectual property, innovation and operational excellence.

Products include spray samplers, lipstick and mascara cases, compacts, closures for fragrances,  
lotions and beverages, fine mist and foam pumps, high barrier food containers and sophisticated  
drug delivery devices.
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2009 2008

Sales £1,241m £1,273m
Underlying operating profit £130m £157m
Return on sales 10.5% 12.3%

The challenging global economic environment had a considerable 
effect on Plastic Packaging. Whilst the Healthcare division remained 
resilient throughout the year, the Personal Care and Closures divisions 
reported significant volume declines. This was due initially to 
customer destocking and subsequently to lower consumer demand. 
There were some signs of stabilisation in trading conditions in the 
second half and we began to benefit from the cost reduction actions 
taken earlier in the year. 

On a reported basis, Plastic Packaging sales were down 3%  
to £1,241m. The benefit of foreign exchange translation did not 
compensate a fall in organic sales which came from significant 
volume declines in Personal Care and Closures as well as the effect 
of the pass through of lower resin costs to customers. Underlying 
pricing remained broadly flat despite pricing pressure.

Organic operating profit was down 30% as cost and efficiencies 
and the benefit of foreign exchange were unable to offset the impact 
of the negative volumes and the change in product mix. Operating 
margin declined to 10.5%.

The plant closures and restructuring of the business (detailed earlier) 
have led to a 5% reduction in our overall injection moulding capacity. 
This will not impair our ability to benefit from the upturn when it 
comes. We have sufficient capacity to grow with the market.

Resin costs remained below the levels experienced in 2008. In 
around 80% of our sales contracts, the resin costs are passed through 
to our customers, so minimising our exposure to the movement in resin 
prices. In addition, we have made further progress to hedge future resin 
usage where customer contracts do not contain terms to allow resin 
pass through, thus reducing our exposure to future resin price rises. 

Personal Care
Personal Care was impacted by a slowdown in the fragrance and 
cosmetics market in both the US and Europe resulting in a significant 
drop in volume. The stabilisation in performance in the second half 
was the result of a strong demand for foam pumps following the 
H1N1 outbreak, improved demand for lotion products as well as 
some new product launches as customers’ confidence returned.

In general, customers worked to smaller batch sizes and shorter order 
commitments whilst retailers reduced stock holding and expected 
suppliers to be more flexible and to be able to cope with any 
fluctuations in demand. 

We acted swiftly to the drop in demand with cost saving initiatives, 
including plant closures, plant restructuring, headcount reductions, 
salary freezes and furloughs. In the US, we announced the closure  
of a plant in Pompano, FL, in June and the sale of the Sussex, WI, 
plant to its management in December. Additional restructuring in the 
US, included the closure of the Holden, MA, plant, the relocation of 
the Innovation Centre to Buffalo Grove, Il, and the closure of a sales 
office in Purchase, NY. In Europe, following negotiations with local 
works councils, we are undertaking a significant restructuring of the 
Personal Care plants in Annecy and Simandre in France.

Closures
Closures was also severely impacted by the effects of the recession. 
Full year volumes declined significantly and continuing reduced 
consumer demand for bottled beverages in the US did not show  
any recovery in the second half in what is a more enduring trend. 
Consumer demand for high barrier food products showed signs  
of improvement in the second half.

Cost saving initiatives were implemented including headcount 
reduction. In the US, the closure of the Hamlet, NC, plant was 
announced in October whilst the Hot Springs, AR, plant underwent 
consolidation. The sale in June of the Deeside business in the UK 
marked our exit from the non high barrier food container market.

In February 2010 we announced the closure of our Constantine, MI, 
plant. This will incur an exceptional charge of some £13m this year 
at a cash cost of £6m and result in savings of £2m in 2010 and  
of £5m in 2011 and beyond.

Healthcare
Healthcare remained largely resilient to the current economic 
environment as the products rely less on consumers’ disposable 
income. Volumes increased slightly on the back of continued strong 
growth in our pharmaceutical packaging business as new devices 
came into production, although this was partially offset by reductions 
in the primary packaging and prescription parts of the business.

The Healthcare division restructured during the year bringing the 
three separate businesses into one central organisation. The aim is to 
reduce costs and continue to leverage synergies in quality, technology, 
operations and sales and strengthen relationships with customers.

In December we announced the closure of the Nashua, NH, plant  
as part of the alignment of our manufacturing capabilities across our 
global business.
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Financial review
The financial review of our results is based on what  
we term the underlying business performance, as  
shown in the first column of the table below, which  
excludes exceptional and other items. We feel  
that the underlying figures aid comparison and  
understanding of the Group’s financial performance.
Group financial performance

Underlying
business

performance1

£m

Exceptional  
and other 

items1

£m
Total
£m

2009:
Sales 4,866 – 4,866
Operating profit/(loss) 446 (354) 92
Share of associates and joint ventures 
profit/(loss) after tax 1 (4) (3)
Total net finance cost2 (162) 14 (148)
Profit/(loss) before tax 285 (344) (59)
Profit/(loss) after tax attributable to 
Rexam PLC 200 (229) (29)

Total basic loss per share (p) (3.7)
Underlying earnings per share (p) 25.4
Proposed final dividend per share (p)3 8.0

2008:
Sales 4,618 – 4,618
Operating profit/(loss) 466 (86) 380
Share of associates and joint ventures 
profit after tax 1 – 1
Total net finance cost2 (139) (2) (141)
Profit/(loss) before tax 328 (88) 240
Profit/(loss) after tax 226 (55) 171
Attributable to:
Rexam PLC 172
Minority interests (1)

171

Total basic earnings per share 
(restated) (p)4 23.9
Underlying earnings per share 
(restated) (p)4 31.5
Interim and final dividends  
per share (restated) (p)4 18.7

1  Underlying business performance is the primary performance measure used by management, 
who believe that the exclusion of exceptional and other items aids comparison of underlying 
performance of continuing operations. Exceptional items include the gains and losses on 
disposal of businesses, the restructuring and integration of businesses, major asset impairments 
and disposals, significant litigation and tax related claims and significant gains arising on 
reduction of retiree medical and pension liabilities. Other items include the amortisation of 
certain acquired intangible assets (customer contracts and relationships and technology and 
patents) and fair value changes on financing derivatives.

2  Underlying total net finance cost comprises net interest of £131m (2008: £132m) and 
retirement benefit obligations net finance cost of £31m (2008: £7m) and excludes fair value 
changes on financing derivatives.

3  Subject to approval at AGM 2010 and payable on 3 June 2010.

4 Restated for the 2009 rights issue.

A summary of underlying business performance is set out below.

2009
£m

2008 
£m

Ongoing operations 4,814 4,562
Disposals 52 56
Sales 4,866 4,618

Ongoing operations 440 463
Disposals 6 3
Underlying operating profit 446 466
Share of associates and joint ventures 
profit after tax 1 1
Underlying total net finance cost (162) (139)
Underlying profit before tax 285 328
Underlying profit after tax 200 226

Underlying earnings per share (p) 25.4 31.54

The following tables, showing sales and underlying operating profit, 
compare the ongoing operations on a consistent basis to 
demonstrate ‘like for like’ trading performance. This basis includes  
the 2008 acquisition of the Russian beverage can maker Rostar as  
if acquired on 1 January 2008 (by adding its pre acquisition results) 
but excludes disposals and businesses held for sale (described as 
‘Disposals’). Organic change is the year on year change in ongoing 
operations from businesses owned since the beginning of 2009 at 
constant exchange rates.

The disposal group was the Petainer plastic bottle business which 
was sold in November 2009. 

Analysis of sales movement 

Total
£m

Beverage 
Cans

£m

Plastic
Packaging

£m

Sales reported 2008 4,618
Disposals (56)
Ongoing operations 2008 
 reported 2009 4,562 3,289 1,273
Acquisition 2008 – Rostar 10 10 –
Currency fluctuations 618 408 210
Ongoing operations 2008  
pro forma basis 5,190 3,707 1,483
Organic change in sales (376) (134) (242)
Ongoing operations reported 2009 4,814 3,573 1,241
Disposals 52
Sales reported 2009 4,866

Organic sales, which exclude the impact of acquisitions, disposals 
and currency, fell by £376m or 7%. In Beverage Cans the reduction 
in volumes in the European and North American operations, together 
with the impact of the pass through of lower aluminium costs, was 
offset by pricing benefits in Europe and North America, and volume 
gains in the South American operation. For Plastic Packaging, the 
impact was twofold: the pass through effect of lower resin costs and 
significant volume declines in Closures and Personal Care due 
initially to customer destocking and subsequently to lower consumer 
demand in the global economic downturn. Healthcare, however, 
produced a resilient performance compared with the prior year.

Business Review
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Analysis of underlying operating profit movement 

Total
£m

Beverage 
Cans

£m

Plastic
Packaging

£m

Underlying operating profit  
reported 2008 466
Disposals (3)
Ongoing operations 2008 
reported 2009 463 306 157
Acquisition 2008 – Rostar 1 1 –
Currency fluctuations 66 37 29
Ongoing operations 2008 
pro forma basis 530 344 186
Organic change in underlying 
operating profit (90) (34) (56)
Ongoing operations reported 2009 440 310 130
Disposals 6
Underlying operating profit  
reported 2009 446

Analysis of the organic change in underlying operating profit is set 
out below. 

Total
£m

Beverage 
Cans

£m

Plastic
Packaging

£m

Price changes (including passthrough) (83) (13) (70)
Cost changes 112 11 101
Price and cost changes 29 (2) 31
Volume and mix changes (161) (55) (106)
Efficiency and other savings 42 23 19
Organic change in underlying  
operating profit (90) (34) (56)

Underlying operating profit, after adjusting for the impact of 
acquisitions, disposals and currency, fell by £90m reflecting the fall 
in volume in most parts of the business partly offset by cost reductions 
and efficiency savings across the Group. 

The principal drivers within the Beverage Can operations were the 
decline in European volumes, particularly in specialty cans and as a 
result of the economic decline in Russia, offset by cost savings in the 
European and North American business following the capacity 
reduction initiatives, licence income of £11m and volume gains in 
the South American operation, particularly in Brazil. The effect of 
price increases, offset by the pass through of falling aluminium costs, 
has largely covered other input cost increases. 

Plastic Packaging reported a 30% decline in underlying operating 
profit predominantly due to the effect of the economic downturn on 
volumes. Price changes of £70m reflect the impact of lower resin 
costs being passed through to customers; underlying pricing was flat. 
The overall volume decline, as discussed in the sales analysis above, 
was compensated in part by cost savings realised following the 
integration of OI Plastics in 2008 and cost reduction initiatives 
implemented in the current year together with efficiency savings.

Exchange rates
The exchange rates used to translate the consolidated income 
statement and balance sheet are set out in note 1 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Consolidated income statement
The US dollar and the euro, the principal currencies that impacted 
our results, both strengthened significantly against sterling in the year. 
The net effect of currency translation caused sales and underlying 
operating profit compared with 2008 to increase by £618m and 
£66m respectively. 

The movement in exchange rates had the following impact on the 
translation into sterling for reported sales and underlying operating 
profit in 2009: 

Sales 
£m

Underlying 
operating

profit
£m

Euro 142 21
US dollar 468 45
Other currencies 8 –

618 66

In addition to the translation exposure, the Group is also exposed  
to movements in exchange rates on certain of its transactions. These 
exposures are largely hedged and principally include the US dollar/
euro/rouble and the US dollar/Brazilian real movement for the 
European and South American Beverage Can operations 
respectively. 

Consolidated balance sheet
Most of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in US dollars and 
euros. Currency movements were substantial, reducing net 
borrowings by £192m and net equity by £150m. 

Underlying total net finance cost
2009 

£m
2008

£m

Net interest (131) (132)
Retirement benefit obligations net finance cost (31) (7)
Underlying total net finance cost (162) (139)

The underlying total net finance cost increased by £23m compared 
with the prior year, primarily due to the increase in retirement benefit 
obligations net finance cost as discussed in ‘Retirement benefits’ below. 

The average market interest rates for US dollar borrowings were 
down by around 2.25% and for euro borrowings 3.4% compared 
with the prior year. The overall average interest rate charge for the 
year for Rexam was around 5.6%, which is marginally lower than the 
prior year. This average reflects the increased proportion of fixed rate 
debt, such as that on the US private placement and US bond issues 
made in June 2008, the reduction of floating rate debt following the 
rights issue in July 2009 and the higher arrangement and facility fees 
attributed to the negotiation of new bank facilities during the first half 
of the year.

Based on reported underlying operating profit, interest cover was 
3.4 times compared with 3.5 times for 2008. The reduction is due 
to the fall in underlying operating profit. Interest cover is based on 
underlying operating profit and underlying total net interest expense 
excluding charges in respect of retirement benefit obligations.
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Tax
The tax charge for the year was £85m (30%) on profit before 
exceptional and other items (2008: £102m (31%)). The rate reflects 
the mix of territories in which Rexam operates, the availability of tax 
incentives in certain jurisdictions, and active management of tax risks. 
In 2010 and beyond we anticipate the rate to remain around the 
same level.

Cash tax payments in the year were £62m, the same as in 2008.  
It is expected that the cash tax paid in future years will remain below 
the underlying tax charge in the consolidated income statement, in a 
range of approximately 70% to 80% of that charge.

Exceptional and other items
The exceptional and other items arising in 2009 in respect of 
continuing operations are as follows:

 Before tax 
£m

 Tax 
£m

After tax 
£m

Exceptional items:
Impairment of goodwill (196) 74 (122)
Restructuring of businesses (108) 24 (84)
Disposal of businesses (5) 5 –
Total exceptional items included  
in operating profit (309) 103 (206)
Amortisation of certain acquired 
intangible assets (45) 16 (29)
Total exceptional and other items 
included in operating profit (354) 119 (235)
Exceptional items – loss on sale of an 
associate (4) – (4)
Financing derivative market value 
changes 14 (4) 10
Total exceptional and other items (344) 115 (229)

Exceptional items
Impairment of goodwill
As a result of the trading environment experienced throughout the 
year by the Plastic Packaging Closures and Beverage Cans India 
businesses, the carrying value of the goodwill related to these 
businesses was reassessed. Consequently, it was determined that 
£196m of goodwill be written off; £193m attributable to Plastic 
Packaging Closures (including £113m already written off in June 
2009) originally arising on the acquisition of OI Plastics in 2007 
and £3m to Beverage Cans India that was also written off in  
June 2009.

Restructuring of businesses
The total restructuring and plant closure cost in respect of the 
reorganisation of Plastic Packaging is £45m. The restructuring plan 
reflects the closure and consolidation of plants within Personal Care, 
Closures and Healthcare and a redundancy programme in Healthcare 
and in its North American administration function. There will be a 
charge amounting to some £18m (of which £11m is cash) in 2010 
for this restructuring programme and to close a further Closures US 
facility to address falling demand in this business. Within Beverage 
Cans, a restructuring charge of £56m has been made to cover the 
closure of the Dmitrov, Russia and Dunkirk, France facilities within  
the European business, in response to volume decline in that region, 
and for the reorganisation of the North American business initiated  
in 2008. A further charge of £6m will be made in 2010 for the 
European restructuring. In addition, £7m has been charged in respect 
of a reduction in corporate staff, including cancellation of certain 
long term incentives. These restructuring programmes are expected  
to benefit underlying operating profit by £82m on an annual basis 
by 2011, with £29m already realised in 2009.

Disposal of businesses
In November 2009, the Group disposed of the Petainer plastic 
bottle business based in Sweden and the Czech Republic for £15m 
and in December 2009 it disposed of a small Personal Care 
business based in Sussex, WI for £4m. The combined loss on these 
two transactions before tax was £5m.

Loss on sale of an associate
In May 2009, the Group disposed of its interest in an associate 
plastic packaging business based in Mexico for £2m realising a loss 
of £4m.

Other items
Amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets
Intangible assets, such as technology patents and customer contracts, 
are required to be recognised on the acquisition of businesses and 
amortised over their useful life. The directors consider that separate 
disclosure, within exceptional and other items, of the amortisation  
of such acquired intangibles amounting to £45m before tax  
(2008: £44m) aids comparison of organic change in underlying 
profit.

Fair value changes on financing derivatives
The fair value of the derivatives arising on financing activities directly 
relates to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The 
fair value will change as the transactions to which they relate mature, 
as new derivatives are transacted and due to the passage of time. 
The fair value change on financing derivatives for the year was a net 
gain of £14m (2008: net loss £2m). The impact of derivatives 
arising on trading items such as commodities and forward foreign 
exchange contracts is included within underlying operating profit.

Business Review
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(Loss)/earnings per share

2009
2008

restated

Underlying earnings per share (p) 25.4 31.5
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (p) (3.7) 23.9

Average number of shares in issue (millions) 787 721
Year end number of shares in issue (millions) 877 643

Underlying earnings per share reduced by 19% from 31.5p, as 
restated for the rights issue, to 25.4p. This is due to the decline in 
underlying operating profit together with the increase in retirement 
benefit obligations net finance cost and the impact of the rights issue 
in July 2009. 

The basic loss per share, which includes exceptional and other items, 
was 3.7p (2008: earnings per share 23.9p, restated). The reduction 
reflects the impact of exceptional items in 2009, primarily arising 
from a significant goodwill impairment charge and higher restructuring 
cost as actions were taken to mitigate the impact of the global 
economic downturn. 

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefit obligations (net of tax) on the balance sheet  
as at 31 December 2009 were £279m, an increase of £109m 
compared with £170m reported at 31 December 2008. This was 
principally due to changes in actuarial values amounting to £120m 
(after tax) arising as a result of lower discount rates, which are used 
to value the liabilities in the defined benefit pension plans, and lower 
bond values in the US funded plan partly offset by higher equity 
values in the UK plan.

A detailed analysis of retirement benefits is set out in note 25 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Changes to the actuarial value of retirement benefits at the balance 
sheet date are shown in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. These changes increased the retirement benefit obligations 
by £120m in 2009 as follows:

£m

Defined benefit pension plans:
Plan liabilities – principally lower discount rates  
and higher inflation (259)
Plan assets – higher than expected returns on equities 
offset by lower than expected returns on bonds 73
Retiree medical liabilities – improved claims trend  
offset by lower discount rates 5
Actuarial losses before tax (181)
Tax 61
Actuarial losses after tax (120)

The retirement benefit obligations net finance cost is analysed  
as follows:

2009
£m

2008
£m

Defined benefit pension plans:
Expected return on plan assets 127 140
Interest on plan liabilities (150) (140)

(23) –
Retiree medical – interest on liabilities (8) (7)
Net finance cost (31) (7)

The increase in retirement benefit obligations net finance cost  
in 2009 compared with 2008 can be mainly attributed to lower 
expected returns on pension plan assets and higher discount rates  
at 1 January 2009 versus 1 January 2008 on pension plan 
liabilities. It is estimated that the net finance cost in 2010 will fall to 
around £15m; this reduction is due mainly to higher expected asset 
returns and lower discount rates offset by the impact of a higher 
pension deficit at 31 December 2009.

The total cash payments in respect of retirement benefits are as follows:

2009
£m

2008
£m

Defined benefit pension plans 20 53
Other pension plans 12 9
Retiree medical 11 9
Total cash payments 43 71

Cash payments to defined benefit pension plans reduced as a result 
of an agreed reduction in the deficit contribution to the UK plan, from 
£22m to £5m, and lower discretionary contributions to the US 
funded plan. Based on current actuarial projections, it is expected 
that cash contributions to defined benefit pension plans in 2010 will 
be around £26m. 

Pension legislation in the US will require the US defined benefit plans 
to meet a higher minimum statutory funding standard in the future and 
to make cash contributions sufficient to eliminate funding deficits over 
seven years. Based on current actuarial projections, it is estimated 
that cash contributions to the US defined benefit plan will be 
increased by around US$80m in 2011 compared with 2010.
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Cash flow
Free cash flow for the year resulted in an inflow of £290m 
compared with an outflow of £128m for 2008. This reflects a 
significant reduction in capital expenditure (being some 80% of 
depreciation) and a substantial improvement in working capital. The 
latter improvement is due to a combination of factors; the reversal of 
adverse factors that impacted the Group in late 2008, principally 
related to inventories, the fall in sales as referred to above and 
initiatives to actively reduce the level of working capital. 

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

Underlying operating profit 446 466
Depreciation and amortisation1 227 178
Retirement benefit obligations (18) (46)
Change in working capital 40 (155)
Restructuring costs (36) (19)
Other movements 6 14
Cash generated 665 438
Capital expenditure (net) (174) (383)
Net interest and tax paid (201) (183)
Free cash flow 290 (128)
Equity dividends (79) (131)
Business cash flow 211 (259)
Acquisitions2 (5) (136)
Disposals 21 –
Cash flow including borrowings acquired 227 (395)
Share capital changes 334 1
Exchange differences 192 (627)
Other non cash movements 20 (18)
Net borrowings at the beginning of the year (2,601) (1,562)
Net borrowings at the end of the year3 (1,828) (2,601)

1  Excludes amortisation of certain acquired intangibles amounting to £45m (2008: £44m).

2  Includes net borrowings acquired of £nil (2008: £12m).

3  Net borrowings comprises borrowings £2,095m (2008: £2,859m) less cash and cash 
equivalents £113m (2008: £75m), collateral deposits £nil (2008: £42m) and certain 
financial derivative instruments £154m (2008: £141m).

Capital expenditure  
2009 2008

Capital expenditure (gross) (£m)1 184 389
Depreciation and amortisation (£m)2 227 178
Ratio (times) 0.8 2.2

1  Capital expenditure is on a cash basis and includes computer software that has been 
capitalised. 

2  Amortisation excludes £45m (2008: £44m) amortised on acquired customer contracts and 
certain other intangibles excluding computer software.

Gross capital expenditure was £184m, 0.8 times depreciation and 
amortisation. This lower level of expenditure reflects a substantially 
reduced investment in strategic and growth projects. The principal 
projects completed were in the Beverage Can business and in the 
European operations in particular, including the new can plant in 
Denmark and additional can lines in Spain and Egypt. Plastic 
Packaging has also continued to invest, albeit at a lower level given 
the tough economic environment, to support a range of products 
particularly in the pharmaceutical markets. 

It is expected that capital expenditure in 2010 will be broadly similar 
to 2009.

Acquisitions and disposals
Expenditure on acquisitions, including net borrowings assumed,  
was £5m for the acquisition of the remaining 50% of Rexam Pavisa, 
a Mexican based personal care plastic packaging manufacturer. The 
Group has disposed of its Petainer plastic bottle business, a small US 
Personal Care business and its interest in an associate company 
based in Mexico for an aggregate consideration of £21m.

Balance sheet and borrowings
As at

31.12.09
£m

As at
31.12.08 

£m

Goodwill and other intangible assets 2,481 2,949
Property, plant and equipment 1,723 1,982
Retirement benefits (net of tax) (279) (170)
Other net assets 225 16

4,150 4,777

Total equity, including minority interests 2,322 2,176
Net borrowings1 1,828 2,601

4,150 4,777

Return on capital employed (%)2 9.5 11.0
Interest cover (times)3 3.4 3.5
Gearing (%)4 79 120

1  Net borrowings comprise borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, collateral deposits and 
certain derivative financial instruments.  

2 Underlying operating profit plus share of associates profit after tax divided by the average of  
 opening and closing of shareholders’ equity after adding back retirement benefit obligations  
 (net of tax) and net borrowings. 

3  Based on underlying operating profit divided by underlying total net interest expense.

4  Based on net borrowings divided by total equity including minority interests.

The level of net borrowings at 31 December 2009, down by 
£773m compared with the previous year, reflects the strong cash 
flow in the year, the proceeds of the rights issue and the favourable 
impact of currency translation. The currency denomination of our net 
borrowings, including financing derivatives, is as follows:

As at
31.12.09

£m

As at
31.12.08

£m

US dollar 1,719 2,063
Euro 400 373
Sterling and other (291) 165
Net borrowings 1,828 2,601

For the management of foreign currency asset matching and interest 
rate risk, the profile of gross borrowings is 70% (2008: 79%) in  
US dollars, 27% (2008: 15%) in euros and 3% (2008: 6%) in other 
currencies.

Our gearing has fallen from 120% to 79% following the reduction  
in net borrowings. Interest cover at 3.4 times is outside our preferred 
target range, but should improve going forward as the full year effect 
of the rights issue is reflected. We remain comfortably within our debt 
covenants and our liquidity remains strong with committed debt 
headroom at over £1bn at the year end.

Business Review
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At 31 December 2009, the Group’s principal committed loan  
and bank facilities totalled some £3bn in varying currencies and 
maturities (of which £148m is due in 2010), as detailed below:

Currency Maturity
Facility

£m

Subordinated bond Euro swapped 
to US$ 2067 625

US private placement and  
public bond US$ 2013 482
Medium term note Euro 2013 621
Revolving credit facility1 Multi currency 2012 647
Bilateral bank facilities Multi currency 2012 258
Bilateral bank facilities Multi currency 2011 221
Revolving credit facility1 Multi currency 2010 128
Bilateral bank facility GBP 2010 20
Total committed loan and  
bank facilities 3,002

1  The existing £775m revolving credit facility will be replaced by a £647m forward start 
revolving credit facility in November 2010. 

Net borrowings include interest accruals and certain financial 
derivatives as set out below:

As at
31.12.09

£m

As at
31.12.08

£m

Net borrowings excluding derivative financial 
instruments 1,982 2,742
Derivative financial instruments (154) (141)
Net borrowings 1,828 2,601

Derivative financial instruments comprise instruments relating to net 
borrowings (cross currency and interest rate swaps) and those related 
to other business transactions (forward commodity and forward 
foreign exchange deals). Total derivative financial instruments are set 
out below:

As at
31.12.09

£m

As at
31.12.08

£m

Cross currency swaps 146 126
Interest rate swaps 11 12
Foreign exchange forward contracts (3) 3
Derivative financial instruments included  
in net borrowings 154 141
Other derivative financial instruments 28 (239)
Total derivative financial instruments 182 (98)

The increase in the value of cross currency swaps can be mainly 
attributed to the effect of the relatively weaker US dollar on the 
swaps related to the €750m subordinated bond offset by the 
maturity in March 2009 of swaps related to medium term notes 
(MTNs). The increase in value of other derivatives was due mainly  
to the rise in aluminium prices and the maturity of loss making 
aluminium commodity derivative contracts.

Treasury risk management
Rexam’s treasury risk management is based upon sound economic 
objectives and good corporate practice. 

Derivative and other financial instruments are used to manage trading 
exposures, liabilities and assets under parameters laid down by the 
Board, which are monitored by its Finance Committee. The Group’s 
major hedging activities are to mitigate the following risks:

(i) Commodity price and currency transaction risks for aluminium  
 purchases made by its European and South American beverage  
 can operations and for resin purchases made by its Plastic  
 Packaging businesses;

(ii) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks associated with the  
 Group’s borrowing facilities; and

(iii) Currency translation risks of net assets in overseas subsidiaries.

The Group has not used derivative financial instruments for purposes 
other than for hedging its exposures.

To avoid income statement volatility, and where such benefits 
outweigh the costs of compliance, the Group has designated many 
of its economic hedges as hedging instruments under IAS39. 
However, for certain effective economic hedging relationships such 
hedge accounting treatment is not permitted under IFRS. Where 
hedge accounting is not achieved, fair value movements on 
derivatives are recorded in the consolidated income statement which 
could give rise to earnings volatility. 

It is the Group’s policy to maintain a range of maturity dates for its 
borrowings, and to refinance them at the appropriate time so as to 
reduce refinancing risk. The issue of longer term borrowings, through 
the MTN programme, the issue of a subordinated bond or through 
other bond and debt markets, is a key element of the Group’s debt 
and financial risk management process. A €700m MTN, to mature 
in March 2013, was issued in March 2006.  A €750m 
subordinated bond issued in June 2007 was swapped into US 
dollars, at floating rates, to enable it to partly fund the acquisition  
of OI Plastics. Although the subordinated bond matures in 2067, 
Rexam has the option to redeem after 10 years or on any interest 
payment date thereafter. In June 2008, the Group issued a 
US$550m US public bond and made a US$225m US private 
placement, both at fixed interest rates and maturing in 2013.  

In 2009, the Group secured around £700m in bilateral facilities and 
refinanced a substantial portion of the £775m revolving credit facility 
to underpin its access to liquidity and to address the 2010 maturities. 
Following the rights issue in July 2009, the Group elected to cancel 
some £285m of bank facilities. The Group has also taken advantage 
of an improvement in market conditions to buy back some €10m of 
the MTNs in 2009 to rebalance the debt mix. Since the end of the 
year another €12m of the MTNs have been purchased and further 
purchases may be made if these conditions continue.
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As in previous years, packaging for food and for beverages were  
the two largest end-use markets in 2009 accounting for nearly 70% 
of sales. Packaging for healthcare and personal care applications, 
two other key areas for Rexam, made up more than 10% of global 
consumer packaging sales.

Reduced consumer spending was registered in all end-use markets. 
Whilst the value of healthcare sales remained broadly flat and those 
for food declined slightly, consumer spending on non-essentials such 
as cosmetics and personal care products slowed dramatically. 
However, over the period 2009 to 2014, cosmetics packaging is 
forecast to register the highest growth in value of 4% pa, along with 
packaging for healthcare products.

Plastic packaging
In terms of packaging materials on a global basis, plastic accounted 
for close to 40% of all global packaging sales, the largest share of 
the market. Rigid plastic packaging, Rexam’s area of focus, is 
expected to be the fastest growing plastics type during the period 
2009 to 2014 with a predicted average annual growth rate of 4%. 
Growth will be driven mainly by the growing popularity of single-
serve packaging. Plastics will also continue to benefit from advances 
in material properties which are facilitating the substitution of 
traditional packaging materials, predominantly glass.

Beverage cans
On a global basis, beverage cans accounted for 6% of the consumer 
packaging market value in 2009. Beverage can consumption 
showed positive growth driven by the emerging markets of South 
America, Asia and the Middle East. This offset the sharp drop in 
Eastern Europe and especially Russia where the impact of the 
downturn has been more severe and has had a more dramatic  
effect on consumer habits. In Europe (excluding Russia), beverage 
can consumption was broadly flat. Meanwhile in the US, overall  
can consumption declined by around 1%. In all developed markets, 
consumption of cans for carbonated soft drinks, the largest category 
for beverage cans, reported a decline. Beer in beverage cans 
continued to grow in most regions. After a year of downward 
pressure on industry value, PIRA expects beverage can sales  
to grow globally by 2% pa to the end of 2014.

In developed countries, beverage can growth will be driven by the 
increasing use of innovative applications such as coloured ends, new 
coatings and new sizes, and by promoting the use of beverage cans 
in new segments such as wine, juice, dairy and water. In emerging 
markets, the beverage can will continue to pick up momentum as 
brewers and fillers exploit the advantages of the beverage can to 
help stimulate domestic demand as consumers in these markets 
become more affluent. 

Consumer behaviour and trends
Key trends are exerting powerful influences on consumers’ lives 
across many different industries, social classes and age groups. 
Trend cycles are emerging more rapidly as a result of economic 
volatility, technological progress and a growing willingness to  
accept new ideas.

Business Review

The global consumer packaging market
This review is based on a number of external 
sources such as PIRA International and Euromonitor 
International, an independent market research 
group. It also draws on other research and our 
own in-house business intelligence resources.  
It briefly examines the state of the global consumer 
packaging market, the relative positions of the 
two materials that we use, metal and plastics, and 
also looks at a number of trends that may have 
an influence on our end use markets and therefore 
opportunities for packaging companies.
The global financial crisis severely tested the resilience of the 
consumer packaging industry in 2009. Global market value shrunk 
by 3% to US$380bn as a result of reduced consumer spending on 
packaged goods. Consumption levels, however, did not decline. 
Although the total spend dropped, consumers continued to purchase 
similar levels of packaged food and beverages in terms of units but 
sought out cheaper options. PIRA forecasts that the industry’s sales 
value will recover in 2010 and is expected to grow at an average 
annual rate of 3% over the next five years to reach US$440bn  
by 2014. 

Consumer packaging market value CAGR 2009-14 by material 

1 Rigid plastics 4.0%
2 Flexible plastics 3.8%
3 Glass 2.4%
4 Paper and board 2.3%
5 Other metal 1.9%
6 Beverage cans 1.6%
7 Others (0.4%)

CAGR 2009-14: 3%.  
Source: PIRA International 2009 (excludes secondary/bulk and industrial packaging).

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Consumer packaging market value by material 2009 

Source: PIRA International 2009 (excludes secondary/bulk and industrial packaging).

1 Paper and board 34%
2 Rigid plastics 27%
3 Glass 11%
4 Flexible plastics 10%
5 Other metal 9%
6 Beverage cans 6%
7 Others 3%
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4
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6 7
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Changes in consumer behaviour
In 2009, there was a noticeable switch from premium to economy 
brands or private/own label products in many areas. However, in 
some mature markets, consumers were more selective, continuing to 
purchase high end products in some categories, such as anti-ageing 
creams or organic foods, but switching to cheaper options in others. 
In cosmetics, most of the prestige brands showed themselves to be 
comparatively resilient to the downturn. In conjunction with this, there 
has been a polarisation of the ‘masstige’ market (the middle ground 
between the mass and prestige markets) with brands either repositioning 
themselves towards the premium or the lower end of the market.

Asia and Latin America made great strides as luxury brand markets 
and there was substantial growth in demand among the aspirational, 
brand focused, middle income classes.

Retail formats for the price conscious consumer, such as hypermarkets 
and discounters, outperformed department stores, supermarkets and 
small grocers, who were unable to offer competitive prices. 
According to Euromonitor, these types of outlets will continue to see 
the largest gains in retail value in the medium term as consumers 
worldwide seek out better value for money. 

Health, well being and convenience
Consumers’ focus on health and wellness maintained its momentum 
in 2009 supported by changing demographics and public health 
concerns.

The need for convenience also continued to pervade all aspects  
of people’s lives. In a world where time is an increasingly precious 
commodity, consumers are seeking out more efficient and effective 
products that help to free up and maximise leisure time. Consumers 
are highly influenced by the convenience attributes of a product 
whether it be simplicity or multiplicity of use, ease of storage, 
portability or even features that help to save time when making 
purchasing decisions, such as colour coding.

Staying at home
One other trend, especially noticeable in Western Europe and  
the US, is the reduction in ‘on trade’ sales, i.e. sales of food and 
beverages in restaurants and bars. The global downturn has led to 
an intensification of what is described as ‘nesting’ or ‘cocooning’, 
terms used to describe the phenomenon of people spending more 
time at home with friends and family and less time socialising outside 
the home. Attempting to take advantage of this trend, many 
companies are now making products that replicate the restaurant or 
bar experience at home which opens up opportunities for innovative 
packaging solutions. 

Sustainability
Contrary to many predictions, the concerns about the sustainability of 
modern society have not abated in the wake of the global economic 
downturn and consumers seem to have maintained their desire for 
more ethical consumption. There has been an increase in brands and 
organisations, such as Fairtrade, promoting features such as organic 
sourcing, carbon neutral manufacturing or eco-friendly packaging.

Consumers, particularly in the developed world, remain concerned 
about climate change and sustainability. They are also concerned 
about the impact that packaging and waste may have on the 
environment. Packaging is vital to everyday life so there are 
important opportunities for packaging companies to improve the 
environmental profile of their products by increasing recyclability as 
well as compatibility with existing waste management schemes. The 
challenge is to preserve and enhance the packaging’s functionality 
whilst doing this.

Consumer packaging market value by end use 2009

Source: PIRA International 2009 (excludes secondary/bulk and industrial packaging).

1 Food 50%
2 Beverages 19%
3 Healthcare 6%
4 Cosmetics 5%
5 Other 20%
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2

3

4
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Consumer packaging market value by geographic region 2009 

Source: PIRA International 2009 (excludes secondary/bulk and industrial packaging).

1 Europe 36%
2 Asia and rest of world 32%
3 North America 28%
4 South America 4%

1

2

3

4

Plastic resins that are easier to recycle and packaging with clearer 
communication on how to recycle are other examples of what can 
be done. Lightweighting is another. Much has been done to make 
packaging lighter. In general, the average weight of plastic 
packaging has dropped by more than a quarter since 1997, and 
items such as blow moulded plastic bottles are 60% lighter than in 
the 1970’s. This means plastic packaging has strong fuel efficiency 
benefits when transporting products. 

The beverage can celebrates 75 years as a package in 2010.  
The amount of material used in the manufacture of an average can 
has been reduced by 80% during that time. The greatest advances 
have come in the last 20 years and the work to reduce material 
usage continues. Beverage cans are highly recyclable and can be 
recycled repeatedly without loss of performance. The more people 
recycle, the more sustainable the can becomes as a package. In the 
case of aluminium cans, the energy used to make cans from recycled 
aluminium is only 5% of that used to make a can from virgin raw 
material so recycling makes real environmental sense.

Prospects of market recovery
Overall, recovery in developed markets is expected to be gradual. 
Consumers are being careful with their spending owing to stagnant 
incomes, high levels of debt and widespread unemployment. 
Emerging markets are expected to rebound more quickly and appear 
poised to lead a global recovery. PIRA predicts that all regions will 
return to growth between 2009 and 2014, led by South America 
and the combined region of Asia, Middle East and Africa with a  
5% pa increase in terms of value.
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Key Group risk factors
Risk management is part of our focus on operational 
excellence, a key strategic priority for the Group. 
Rexam faces a wide range of risks, the main ones 
being market, operational, environmental, social, 
governance as well as financial. This section 
identifies the main risk factors that may affect the 
execution and implementation of Rexam’s strategy.
In 2009, the Group risk register was reviewed by the executive 
team, the Audit Committee and the Board. Given the continuation  
of the volatility of the global economy, the Board will monitor the 
register every month for the foreseeable future.

Set out below is a summary of the key risks for the Group as a whole.  
It does not provide an exhaustive analysis of all risks affecting the Group. 
Not all of the factors listed are within the control of the Group and other 
factors besides those listed may affect the performance of its businesses. 
Some risks may be unknown at present and other risks, currently 
regarded as immaterial, could turn out to be material in the future.

The global financial and economic crisis has heightened many 
Group risks and exposed new ones. However, the challenge remains 
the same in terms of identifying those risks that are most relevant and 
developing appropriate methods to avoid or mitigate them. The 
following table provides brief descriptions of the key types of risk to 
which the Group’s operations are exposed and identifies, in each 
case, their potential impact on the Group and the principal processes 
in place to manage and mitigate the risk.

Further information on the process by which risk is managed  
and reported is covered under Internal control and risk management 
in the Corporate Governance report.

Our customer base is concentrated. In Beverage 
Cans, the top ten customers account for 80% of 
sales and for Plastic Packaging it is 33%. Of the 
remaining customers, none accounts for more  
than 1% of our sales.

Top 10 customers account for 62% of Rexam sales (2009)

Carlsberg
Coca-Cola
GSK
Heineken
Hornell
InBev
L’Oreal
Pepsi
Procter & Gamble
Red Bull

62%

Type of risk and potential impact Key mitigation actions taken to manage these risks
Dependency on key customers
Our customer base is concentrated (see chart above). Loss of sales 
volumes from key customers would adversely impact our business.

Many of our largest customers have traded with us for many years, 
during which we have built up a strong interdependency and sense 
of partnership. These relationships increase the likelihood of retaining 
customers, provided that we continue to deliver value for money.

Customer contracts
The risk that significant/major contracts may not be renewed with 
customers, or that they may not be negotiated on terms favourable 
to secure appropriate margins/terms of business, will have a major 
impact on the Group’s underlying profitability and overall 
performance.

This risk is monitored very closely by management at all levels  
to ensure that relationships with key customers are strong in many 
areas relating to quality of products supplied, innovation of 
products, speed of delivery and price competitiveness along with 
ensuring that contracts are negotiated to ensure that terms are 
favourable to all parties concerned. The key mitigation here is to 
ensure that key customer relationships are managed effectively.

Changes in packaging legislation and regulatory environment
Packaging will continue to be a focus for government legislators 
working within the sustainability agenda. Changes in packaging 
legislation and regulation affecting producer responsibility for 
recycling, recycled content, carbon foot print and land fill taxation 
are an increasing risk.

Through established and effective membership of relevant trade 
associations and by direct collaboration with governmental and 
non governmental organisations, and through its own offices, 
Rexam continually monitors changes or proposed changes in laws 
or regulations that may adversely affect our business if arbitrarily 
implemented. This ensures the best possible chance of shaping  
an outcome favourable to Rexam and its stakeholders.

Financial risk
Our main financial risks are related to the cost and availability of 
funds to meet our business needs, movements in interest rates and 
foreign currency exchange rates, as well as commodity prices.

Rexam’s financial risk management is based upon sound economic 
objectives and good corporate practice. Derivative and other 
financial instruments are used to manage exposures under 
conditions identified by the Board and monitored by its Finance 
Committee. Further details of our financial risks and the way in 
which we mitigate them are set out in note 24 to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Type of risk and potential impact Key mitigation actions taken to manage these risks
Tax risk
In an increasingly complex international tax environment,  
some uncertainty is inevitable in estimating our tax liabilities. 

We seek to plan and manage our tax affairs efficiently in the 
jurisdictions in which we operate. Tax planning will complement 
and be based around the needs of our operating businesses. We 
exercise our judgement in assessing the required level of provision for 
tax risk and allocate resources appropriately to protect our position. 

Business interruption
Every business faces the potential risk of its operations being 
impacted by disruption due to loss of supply, industrial relations, 
failures with technology, physical damage as a result of fire, flood 
or other such event. 

Rexam has established protocols and procedures across the Group 
as a whole such that plans are in place to ensure business continuity 
in our operations. Strong relationships with customers and suppliers 
mean that, where possible, there are arrangements in place to ensure 
alternative sources of supply or production for critical product lines. 

Competition
Rexam operates in competitive markets. Aggressive pricing from 
competitors may cause a reduction in our sales and margins. 

We aim to build long term relationships with our customers with the 
aim of becoming an integral part of their supply chain and helping 
to drive out costs. We also ensure that we are the supplier of 
choice by focusing on innovation for our customers and maintaining 
the highest standard of operational excellence to achieve lowest 
cost manufacturer status. 

Pension deficit
Key operational risks are related to cash contributions, charges  
to the profit and loss account, and balance sheet volatility. 

Rexam’s retirement benefit risk management is overseen by the 
Retirement Benefits Committee (RBC). The RBC reviews all suggested 
new promises for and improvements to retirement benefits. Managing 
deficit volatility on the balance sheet and general de-risking of funded 
plans which include equity, interest rate and inflation risk is 
undertaken by pension plan fiduciaries in consultation with the RBC. 
Cash contributions are negotiated with plan fiduciaries in line with 
good practice and regulatory requirements in the countries in which 
the respective plans operate. 

Supply of faulty or contaminated products
Rexam’s reputation as a business partner relies heavily on its ability 
to supply quality products on time and in full. The consequences of 
not being able to do so could be severe. Such consequences might 
include adverse effects on consumer health, loss of market share, 
financial costs and loss of turnover.

As part of our Environment, Health and Safety policy and our Lean 
Enterprise framework we have strict control measures and systems  
in place to ensure that the safety and quality of our products are 
maintained. 

Changes in the cost and availability of direct materials
Aluminium is our most significant raw material cost. Resin is  
also important to us and we purchase quantities of steel for our 
European beverage can operation. Steep and prolonged rises  
in input prices may have a material impact on our results. One 
consequence of a substantial rise could be a change in demand  
for our products as customers adjust their packaging mix and  
the materials they use.

In Beverage Cans, almost all of our metal needs are on a pass through 
basis or hedged. In the Americas beverage can businesses, we 
charge the majority of our customers on a pass through basis whilst 
in Europe 70% of our supply needs are on this basis. To mitigate the 
risk on the remaining aluminium exposure, we hedge the aluminium 
cost and associated currency requirements. We purchase aluminium 
and steel from a small number of regional and global suppliers with 
whom we have long term relationships and contracts. We are able 
to dual source our metal in the event of a major supply disruption.

In Plastic Packaging, some 80% of the resin costs are on a pass 
through basis which includes resin escalator/de-escalator provisions 
that allow change in our selling price as resin prices change.  
We reduce our exposure to future resin price rises through hedging 
where we do not have pass through contracts. We pursue a dual 
qualification of suppliers for all major new projects. Additionally, 
since late 2008, Rexam has an active programme to qualify 
alternate supply sources for existing applications. As a result, we 
are 30% dual qualified globally. 75% of our resin supply is covered 
by a security of supply agreement.

Changes in consumer lifestyle, nutritional preferences and health 
related concerns
A substantial part of our sales is generated by packaging for 
products such as carbonated soft drinks and alcoholic beverages. 
Any far reaching consumer shift away from these product types  
as a result of lifestyle, nutrition and health considerations, or even 
legislation, could have a significant impact on our business.

Whilst it is difficult to fully plan for this change, we monitor market 
and consumer trends as well as political developments through our 
own and external business intelligence services and through our 
involvement in national and international packaging associations  
in the countries and regions where we operate. 

National political and economic stability
Rexam operates in countries and regions with diverse economic 
and political conditions and sensitivities. Our expansion in 
emerging markets means that this exposure is increasing.

Emerging market risks are assessed in detail by management when 
considering investment opportunities and setting financial policies 
and procedures. We also take external advice on such matters.  
In 2009, we commissioned a detailed review by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers of certain tax and treasury risks in Russia. 
We will continue to carry out reviews of key risk areas both 
internally and with external expert support.
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Corporate responsibility
Rexam is committed to running its business in a 
responsible and sustainable manner. We believe 
that this is fundamental to helping ensure success 
for our business now and in the long term.
In line with our Group strategy, our responsibility and sustainability 
activities focus on creating value for stakeholders. By aligning activities 
with our business strategy we put sustainable thinking at the heart of 
our decision making process.

Rexam is a significant consumer of natural resources. We use  
metals for our beverage cans and oil based polymers for our plastic 
packaging products. Across both businesses we consume electricity, 
water and natural gas that generate carbon and other greenhouse 
gases that have been linked to adverse climate change. We also 
transport our products by road and rail to our customers’ sites.  
In order to protect what we have today and ensure a successful  
long term future, we must continually improve our stewardship  
of these elements. 

Our Corporate Responsibility (CR) programme makes good business 
sense and there is an inherent commitment to sustainability among  
all our operations and employees manifested in our focus on six 
sigma and lean enterprise. Improving resource efficiency in our own 
operations and continual improvement are at the very core of our 
manufacturing processes, not least because of the material benefits 
they bring to us and the whole packaging supply chain.

In 2009, we formalised our responsibility and sustainability activities 
with the appointment of a Group Head of Corporate Responsibility. 
We broadened our approach, defining all the areas where CR can 
best create and protect value for Rexam, identifying the most effective 
levers and deploying suitable mechanisms for improvement, control, 
measurement and communication to our key stakeholders. We also 
expanded our range of key performance indicators and set out a 
clear strategy in and around our raw material stewardship in 
Beverage Cans and Plastic Packaging.

Responsibility and sustainability strategy
Our Group vision is to be the best global consumer packaging 
company. This extends to our vision for our actions in and around 
responsibility and sustainability. Our strategy is predicated on a ‘triple 
bottom line’: environmental responsibility for our planet, economic 
performance for our prosperity and progress for our people.

In CR, value is at the centre of all we do, whether it is creating value 
or protecting the value we have created. This aligns with our business 
strategy and complements those of our partners along the supply 
chain, so that the work we do and the actions we take make a direct 
impact on both our sustainability and that of our customers. By focusing 
on material responsibility and sustainability issues, our efforts in this 
area will be traceable back to the balance sheet.

We set out below the three main areas of our CR strategy and report 
on progress made during 2009. The CR section on our website 
provides a full range of information for all our stakeholders regarding 
our approach and our progress in this area.

Environmental responsibility
Climate change mitigation
Studies show that the carbon footprint of the packaging supply  
chain is now largely decoupled from GDP growth. The diagrams  
on page 27 show this to be the case for both plastic packaging  
and beverage cans.

2009 was a benchmark year for us in terms of carbon measurement 
and disclosure. We registered fully our global carbon performance 
with the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP), an international reference 
organisation dedicated to reducing the carbon impact on the 
environment by industry. The CDP allows us to demonstrate publicly 
to our customers and other stakeholders our commitment and progress 
towards lowering our carbon footprint and reducing our impact on 
adverse climate change.

According to CDP, our CO2 footprint in 2008, our baseline year, 
was 1.24 million tonnes which classifies us as a medium impact 
business. We are committed to abide by CDP’s requirements in 
mitigating adverse climate change and our target is to reduce this 
figure. We will do this by continuing to reduce energy and raw 
material consumption per tonne of product and by optimising  
logistics in the supply chain.

In 2009, our CO2 footprint improved to 1.09 million tonnes. Going 
forward we will report carbon intensity per kilogram of raw material 
converted so that we continue to compare our annual performance 
on a like-for-like basis.

Energy consumption
Energy efficiency is a key focus of our Lean Enterprise programme. 
We can demonstrate a very positive track record on energy 
consumption reduction over the years. Significant savings have been 
made by reducing electricity and gas consumption through applying 
best practice for air compressors, lighting systems, efficient electrical 
motors and injection moulding technology.

Our overall energy consumption in 2009 decreased by 11% partly 
due to the economic downturn. As can be seen on page 25, energy 
consumption per tonne of production continued to move in a positive 
direction in 2009.According to CDP, our CO2 footprint classifies 

us as a medium impact business. In 2009, we 
reduced our carbon footprint to 1.09 million tonnes 
(2008: 1.24 million tonnes).
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Resource consumption (processed raw material tonnes/tonnes  
of production)

Group
1 2007: 1.44
2 2008: 1.48
3 2009: 1.42 
Beverage Cans
4 2007: 1.62
5 2008: 1.69
6 2009: 1.59
Plastic Packaging
7 2007: 1.08
8 2008: 1.04
9 2009: 1.031 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Group   Beverage Cans   Plastic Packaging

Raw material sustainability stewardship
Our key raw materials are aluminium, steel and plastic resins from 
fossil based fuels. In 2009, we continued as a Group to improve 
performance in terms of tonnes of raw material per tonne of 
production, driven by excellence in performance best practice 
sharing initiatives and the continued application of our lean 
enterprise philosophy and toolset. Significant volumes of waste  
and spoilage were recycled through conversion back to process 
feedstock via third parties.

The availability of raw materials is vital to Rexam’s future and we are 
taking more ownership for their sustainability. The strategy for each 
material is similar in terms of conservation and efficiency but is 
different in terms of end of life recycling or substitution.

Beverage cans
Beverage cans are made entirely from metal that is both fully 
recoverable and recyclable as an infinitely reusable material. Our 
raw material contains scrap that has been reprocessed many times 
over. Sufficient reprocessing infrastructure exists on a global scale  
to recycle every beverage can manufactured. 

Our environmental strategy for beverage cans on a global scale 
centres on the two key ‘R’s’ – Reduce and Recycle. In Europe, for 
example, over the past 25 years, consumption of drink cans has 
increased 50% but through rigorous lightweighting and improved 
recycling rates the amount of virgin material required to make these 
cans has decreased 50%. Rexam, as a leading global canmaker,  
is leading this decoupling effect across its operations and 
demonstrating the principle of achieving more from less. 

In 2009, we continued to lead the industry in reducing the amount  
of metal used to make each can and, following extensive testing with 
customers, we started supplying cans with midwall thickness less than 
100 microns, thinner than a human hair. Can ends are getting 
lighter, too, through the use of thinner material.

Recycling substantially lowers the carbon footprint of beverage cans 
and is therefore critical to their environmental performance. Recycling 
saves enormous amounts of energy and CO2 (up to 95% of the energy 
used to make a can from virgin material). Many countries already 
have excellent recycling rates. In Brazil, for example, it is above 
95%, but where this is not the case, we invest considerable funds 
and resources to improve the collection and recovery infrastructure  
in the countries in which we operate. In Europe, for example, we are 
closely involved in the ‘Every Can Counts’ collection and recycling 
programme initiated in 2009 in the UK and which is now being 
replicated in other European countries. In the US, our plants, working 
closely with local organisations to promote recovery and recycling 
cans, collected more than 1,360 metric tonnes of aluminium cans 
over a six week period leading up to America’s Recycle Day in 
November. In South America, the business encourages and promotes 
recycling amongst the staff with in-house recycling programmes at 
each and every plant. As an industry, our global goal is to ensure 
that every empty can is recovered and the metal reused. 

Plastic packaging
Whereas beverage cans focus on the two R’s, our strategy in Plastic 
Packaging revolves around five R’s – Reduce, Re-use, Recycle, 
Recover and Replace. 

Material reduction, for example, is not only a cost saving but it also 
reduces transport demands and increases fuel and logistics 
efficiencies in the supply chain. 

In terms of re-use and recycling, waste plastic is a vital resource. In 
our plants we make sure that, where possible and where permissible, 
every kilo of process scrap is fed back into the raw material stock 
through closed loop recovery systems. Already we partner with 
established ethical brands to provide packaging that uses between 
40 and 70% of recycled post industrial plastic waste.

As plastics have high energy content and have CO2 emission factors 
25% less than coal1, we support the use of recycling and energy 
recovery from waste (EFW) reclamation where other more sustainable 
options are unavailable and landfill is the only option. In 2008, 
recycling and EFW in Europe increased giving a total recovery rate 
for plastics of 51.3%1.

Finally, in terms of replacing fossil fuels, we are collaborating with  
a number of universities, R&D departments and customers to evaluate 
sustainable eco-friendly polymers to replace fossil fuel derived types. 
However, effective substitution with plant based biopolymers remains 
a technical and environmental challenge. Performance is still a 
restriction to substitution, as is the quantity of water and land necessary 
to grow the base crops from which these biopolymers are derived.

1 Plastics Europe AISBL, Association of Plastics Manufacturers’ Technical Report 2008.

Energy consumption (energy/tonnes of production MWh/tonne)

Group
1 2007: 3.81
2 2008: 3.68
3 2009: 3.52 
Beverage Cans
4 2007: 4.15
5 2008: 4.12
6 2009: 3.84
Plastic Packaging
7 2007: 3.13
8 2008: 2.75
9 2009: 2.771 2

Group   Beverage Cans   Plastic Packaging

3 4 5 6 7 8 9
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Measuring progress

In 2009 we introduced additional metrics by which we will measure our performance and chart our 
progress. We measure many things at a process level, particularly around effective stewardship of the 
sustainability of our key raw materials, but as indicated in the table below, we have chosen to focus  
on eight measurements for reporting purposes: four that focus on responsibility and four on sustainability. 
They tie our responsibility and sustainability strategy to our balance sheet.

We realise that external influences may necessitate changes but for the foreseeable future we believe  
these measures will add the most value and deliver the most progress for Rexam.

The table summarises the areas of focus, our goals, our progress and how they link to our strategy.

Our focus Our goal Our progress in 2009 Strategic link
Environmental 
management

Zero significant uncontrolled 
or abnormal releases

Implementation of 
management systems

There were no significant uncontrolled or abnormal releases  
in 2009.

All our major operating sites have robust environmental 
management systems (EMS) in place. We encourage them to 
strive for independent external certification. Where this is not 
appropriate we adopt EMS that stand up to internal verification 
against key elements of ISO 14001.

46 (2008: 37) of our 105 plants are verified against  
ISO 14001.

Operational excellence

Safety systems All plants at RAS1 best 
practice level

All our major operating sites have robust health and safety 
management systems in place.

40 (2008: 42) of our 105 plants are verified against  
OHSAS 180013

Behaviour Based Safety programme was launched  
in 58 plants.

Operational excellence

A winning organisation

Accident rate  
reduction

Long term: zero work  
related injuries 

Annually: reduce by 10%

Lost time accident rate (LTAR) reduced 27% compared with 
2008.

Operational excellence

A winning organisation

Energy efficiency Continuous reduction  
in consumption/tonne  
of production

Energy consumption per tonne of production continued to  
move in a positive direction in 2009 (see chart on page 25). 

Operational excellence

Water efficiency Continuous reduction  
in consumption/tonne  
of production

We do not use large quantities of water in our processes but 
recognise the value of this increasingly precious commodity 
which is central to all our beverage customers.

In 2009 we collated data to establish a baseline for future 
measurement of improvement.

Operational excellence

Customer relationships

Raw material 
efficiency

Continuous reduction  
in consumption/tonne  
of production

Raw material efficiency continued to reduce year on year  
(see chart on page 25) based on benchmark year 2007.

Best performance

Customer relationships

Operational excellence
Carbon emission Continuous reduction  

in consumption/tonne  
of production

Carbon Disclosure Project 
compliance2

Total gross global scope 1&2 GHG emissions for 2009 was 
1.09m metric tonnes of CO2equivalent compared with 2008 
baseline of 1.24m metric tonnes CO2equivalent.

Best performance

Operational excellence

Global reporting 
accreditation 

Maintain accreditation Maintained international benchmark accreditation status 
FTSE4GOOD.

Best performance

Customer relationships

Operational excellence

A winning organisation

1 Rexam Audit System for attaining benchmark performance in health and safety structure and performance.

2  Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) submission from Rexam PLC 2008.

3 2009 reduction due to disposal of Petainer.
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Even whilst enjoying strong market growth,  
the beverage can has reduced its environmental 
footprint.

Economic performance 
Efficiency & cost reductions
We use simple and well proven continuous improvement tools such 
as six sigma and 5S to drive a culture of efficiency and economy  
in all we do.

This Lean Enterprise approach is well suited to support our 
sustainability strategy. It enables us to minimise waste in our raw 
materials whilst reducing our consumption of electricity and other 
natural resources. We build internal capability to do this in all our 
operations and then certify achievement of progress through our own 
award system of Bronze, Silver, Gold and Beyond Gold.

In 2009, 43% of our plants (2008: 40%) achieved Gold or Beyond 
Gold status.

Supply chain integrity
Driven by retailers via our major customers, the entire consumer 
packaging supply chain is under pressure to continually improve  
its sustainability and responsibility performance. We are expected  
to actively participate and contribute to this improvement in a 
measurable way.

As a consequence, the requirements for continuous improvement form 
part of our supplier excellence programme and we will continue to 
embed responsible sourcing of our goods and services in order to 
deliver the expectations of our customers and their customers.

In our relationship with our suppliers, we drive performance 
improvement and value within the supply chain applying both 
strategic procurement and Lean Enterprise tools. As part of our 
continuous improvement, we use supplier relationship management 
programmes to set targets for quality, supply, cost and innovation, 
define improvement plans and work with our strategic suppliers  
to deliver those targets.

In 2009, Rexam continued with Phase 2 of the Registration, 
Evaluation and Authorisation of Chemicals (REACH) compliance 
programme. This followed the successful implementation of Phase 1 
during which Rexam worked closely with suppliers and customers 
and was not required to pre-register any chemicals. 

Customer attraction
The majority of our customers have well articulated responsibility and 
sustainability strategies and clear targets and often their reputation 
rests, in part, on leading a responsible and sustainable supply chain. 
Packaging optimisation and reduction or conservation of energy and 
water (the latter, especially among our beverage customers) are 
invariably at the centre of their sustainability strategies. Our aim is  
to align ourselves with our main customers to support their corporate 
responsibility, sustainability and business strategies, and leverage this 
across the supply chain.

In 2009 we continued to participate in and contribute to a number 
of our customers’ sustainability activities. 

Investor attraction
We remain an established member of the FTSE4Good index and  
our aim is to maintain an international performance benchmark.  
The expectations fit comfortably with the way that Rexam believes 
business should be conducted to deliver sustainable success such  
as environmental management; upholding human and labour rights; 
ethical business practices; supply chain labour standards and  
climate change mitigation.

Decoupling of plastics waste and landfill

EU15+NO/CH until 2004 and EU27+NO/CH from 2005 
Source: PlasticsEurope
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Business Review

Progress for our people
One of our key strategic aims is to build and maintain a winning 
organisation and make Rexam a ‘great place’ to work. This entails 
providing the skills, knowledge and structure to deliver the services 
that our customers want and ensuring that our people understand  
the expectations customers place on our organisation.

Rexam employed an average of 22,900 people worldwide during 
2009. 

The Group aims to attract, develop and retain the best people  
by providing a safe and stimulating working environment, offering 
appropriate employment conditions and terms as well as rewarding 
career opportunities. We are committed to providing a working 
culture that is inclusive to all. We do not condone unfair treatment of 
any kind and offer equal opportunities for all aspects of employment 
and advancement regardless of race, nationality, sex, age, marital 
status, disability or religious or political belief. 

In 2009, we continued to build on making Rexam a safe place to 
work and on developing, motivating, engaging, and recognising our 
people to extend their capability to drive excellence in business 
performance.

Health and safety
Providing employees with a safe, fair and enjoyable place to work  
is core to our business and characterises our approach to people. 
We recognise the link between good environmental, health and 
safety (EHS) performance and improved business gains.

In 2009, under our Physical Risk Management (PRM) strategy,  
we embedded further our commitment to protecting our people, the 
environment in which we operate and our assets. Our cross sector 
working group, comprising senior sector EHS directors and 
managers, further developed standards and processes to help build 
a culture of continuous improvement in PRM performance.

Rexam has a good track record in safety when compared with other 
industries. We recognise that, even though our performance is good 
in comparison with our industry sector, any injury, and impact 
detrimental to the environment or damage to our assets is 
unacceptable. Our target is ‘zero accidents’. In practice we know 
we have to work hard to achieve that goal by learning from every 
incident that occurs.

In 2009, our health and safety incident performance showed further 
improvement and since 2004 it has improved 46% as measured by 
lost time accidents rates (LTAR). Further analysis indicated that the root 
causes of 66% of our incidents had their foundation in inappropriate 
actions and behaviours. As such, we continue to implement our 
programme of behaviour based safety (BBS) improvements, whereby 
critical behaviours are observed and feedback is provided to 
reinforce safe behaviours and identify any potential barriers to 
preventing the same type of accident occurring again. By the end of 
2009, we had successfully implemented BBS programmes at more 
than half (58) of our operating sites. Our aim is to continue to roll out 
the programme across all our operating units in 2010.

Rexam uses a clearly defined and strict approach to assessing and 
recording lost time accidents by including not only lost time incidents 
but also restricted work days in our statistics. LTAR showed an 
improvement of 20% in 2009. Now 38% of our sites are reporting 
zero LTAR compared with 37% in 2008 and 27% in 2007. 
Beverage Cans showed an improvement of 35% on 2008 to move 
to an LTAR of 0.9 whilst Plastic Packaging maintained its 
performance at an already excellent LTAR of 0.4. 

For us, a significant incident is one that results in 30 days or more of 
lost time or restricted work. In 2009 there were eight such incidents 
including broken limbs owing to falls, hand crush injuries and severe 
cuts to hands. In each case immediate action was taken to make the 
existing situation safe. Further investigation was completed to 
establish the root causes, understand the lessons learnt and 
implement a ‘get well ‘programme of improvement to prevent a 
reoccurrence of the incident. The key learning points were then 
shared with other sites. 

We use the number of work days away and/or restricted time 
(DART) as a measure of severity. Our Group DART figure for 2009 
shows a 10% deterioration from 2008. This figure, however, masks 
significant improvements in the DART performance for our Plastic 
Packaging, Beverage Cans Europe & Asia and Beverage Cans 
South America sectors of 28%, 55% and 32% respectively. 

Heightened pandemic preparedness
Following the World Health Organisation’s pandemic alert  
to the H1N1 virus, we responded immediately issuing a global 
communication through our intranet and then provided regular 
updates and guidance on infection prevention and control. Our 
response matched the mild to moderate severity of the illness and 
helped us to continue to deliver on our business commitments whilst 
keeping our employees and customers safe. The impact on the 
business was negligible.

Managing performance
Rexam has a globally consistent performance management and 
development system for all levels of management. The online 
performance development system requires individuals’ performance 
to be reviewed by their respective manager and business objectives 
and personal development goals to be set for both the near as well 
as the long term. In 2009, 89% of all managerial staff completed  
a performance review.

The system will be extended to all salaried employees in 2010.

Training and development
As part of creating a winning organisation, Rexam is committed to 
helping people reach their full potential through ongoing development. 
We have various levels of development programmes ranging from 
the Rexam Horizon Program that addresses the needs of senior 
leaders to programmes to improve the skills of our plant operators.

In 2009 we continued our focus on succession planning and talent 
development. The first intake of alumni graduated from the newly 
established Rexam Academy. The Academy is an important 
investment in our future talent. It provides them with a clear 
development plan, ideas for career options in Rexam and a mentor 
for those who are at an early stage in their Rexam career. During the 
year, we extended the concept to our operations in China, 
establishing a specific Chinese-speaking Rexam Academy.

To improve further organisational capability and individual 
performance to deliver competitive advantage, in 2010 we plan to 
create an overarching Rexam business school that encompasses the 
Horizon Program and the Rexam Academy. The school, which builds 
on and leverages a proven model already used by Beverage Cans 
Europe & Asia, will focus on front line leadership, manufacturing and 
supply chain, sales and marketing, finance and human resources. It 
will be open to all employees and will help drive our values and 
culture through the organisation.
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Engaging our people
We use a range of communication tools in order to reach different 
employee groups within the business. A regular groupwide team 
briefing process reinforces the strategic messages and serves to 
cascade news and information to local business and plants. Regular 
news bulletins give people a broad view of Rexam’s activities and 
focus on highlighting and illustrating the four strategic aims of the 
Company. The Chief Executive posts regular video broadcasts on  
the intranet through the year covering important events such as Group 
results announcements, or when there is a need to reach a wider 
audience quickly. The various businesses also publish their own 
newsletters and magazines to keep their employees informed of 
relevant business news. 

Although surveys have been made at local business level, we have 
not formally measured the level of engagement of our people on  
a groupwide basis since 2007. We plan to carry out a full global 
survey in 2010 to measure the engagement of our people and to 
provide a baseline for measuring Rexam as a great place to work. 
We will report back on this in 2011.

Reward and recognition
The Rexam Vision, to be the best global consumer packaging 
company, gives clear and consistent direction and sense of purpose. 
This is reinforced by our four core values: Continuous Improvement, 
Trust, Teamwork and Recognition, encapsulated in and represented 
by The Rexam Way. These values establish a common framework 
and a set of fundamental beliefs for everything that we do across  
our operations. We know that the foundation of delivering our vision 
and values is through the performance of our people. 

To support our goal of attracting and retaining the best people, we 
provide competitive and fair rates of pay and benefits in the markets 
in which we operate.

For 2008 we introduced a series of relevant Rexam-specific 
leadership practices to develop people and manage performance 
across the Group. Following this, for senior managers we 
implemented reward differentiation related to individual performance 
against the Rexam leadership practices and the achievement of 
personal objectives as part of the short term incentive plan.

Long term incentive awards proposed in 2009 were discontinued  
as one of the cost reduction initiatives implemented to meet the 
challenging economic environment. We will award long term 
incentives in 2010. Going forward, all senior managers will be 
rewarded on the metric of growth in earnings per share to align  
them to the creation of shareholder value.

In 2009 

… a number of sites achieved milestone 
performance in terms of safety: Greenville, a US 
Plastic Packaging plant, reached 6 years without  
a lost time accident whilst our beverage can plant 
in Fairfield achieved a 5 year run.

… we introduced a group standard on behaviour 
based safety (BBS).

… we reduced Lost Time Accident Rates.

LTAR (Lost Time Accident Rate) per 100 employees per year

Beverage Cans
1 Industry: 3.5
2 2007: 2.0
3 2008: 1.0
4 2009: 0.9
Plastic Packaging
5 Industry: 3.7
6 2007: 0.8
7 2008: 0.4
8 2009: 0.4

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Industry based on US data 2006   Beverage Cans   Plastic Packaging
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Directors and Officers

Peter Ellwood 

The Board considers that all 
the non executive directors 
are independent.

Noreen Doyle John Langston

Wolfgang Meusburger Jean-Pierre Rodier Carl Symon

Graham Chipchase David Robbie David Gibson 
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Chairman
Peter Ellwood (66)
Appointed to the Board as a non executive director on 1 February 
2008 and as Chairman on 1 May 2008. Peter was Chairman  
of Imperial Chemical Industries PLC (ICI) until ICI was acquired by  
Akzo Nobel NV at the beginning of 2008. Prior to that, he was 
Group Chief Executive of Lloyds TSB Group plc. He is a member  
of the Supervisory Board of Akzo Nobel NV.

Non Executive Directors
Noreen Doyle (60)
Appointed to the Board on 22 March 2006. Noreen is currently  
a non executive director of Credit Suisse Group, Newmont Mining 
Corporation and QinetiQ Group PLC, and a member of the Advisory 
Panel for the Macquarie European Infrastructure Fund II. She held 
various senior operational positions at Bankers Trust Company and  
at the European Bank for Reconstruction & Development (EBRD) until 
her retirement as First Vice President of the EBRD in 2005.

John Langston (60)
Appointed to the Board on 30 October 2008. John, a chartered 
accountant, is currently Finance Director of Smiths Group plc.  
He joined the Board of Smiths Group in 2000 holding operational 
roles until he became Finance Director in 2006. He was a director 
of TI Group plc prior to its acquisition by Smiths Group.

Wolfgang Meusburger (56)
Appointed to the Board on 1 December 2006. Wolfgang currently 
sits on the board of a number of international consumer goods 
companies in Europe and an educational facility in Switzerland.  
He is Chairman of Kägi Söhne AG and Chairman of the non 
executive board of Schoellershammer, and is a non executive director 
of BS Group, CCT Reig Group, Chiquita Fruit Bar and the Leysin 
American School. He has held various senior international positions 
in the consumer goods industry and was Chief Executive of Tchibo 
GmbH until 2001. He now acts as an advisor on management 
issues and business development.

Jean-Pierre Rodier (62)
Appointed to the Board on 7 June 2006. Jean-Pierre is currently an 
associate with Mediobanca Banca di Credito Finanziario. He is also 
Chairman of Enterprises et Personnel and an advisor to Corporate 
Value Associates. He was Chief Executive of Union Minière and 
Chairman and Chief Executive of MetalEurop France prior to his 
appointment as Chairman and Chief Executive of Pechiney until 
2003 when Pechiney merged with Alcan.

Carl Symon (63)
Appointed to the Board on 17 July 2003 and as senior independent 
director on 8 February 2006. He is a non executive director of  
BT Group plc and BAE Systems plc and Chairman of Clearswift 
Systems Limited. He was previously a non executive director of 
Rolls-Royce Group plc and Chairman of HMV Group plc. He held 
senior executive positions with IBM Corp. in Canada, the US, Latin 
America, Asia and Europe and retired in 2001.

Executive Directors
Graham Chipchase (47)
Chief Executive
Appointed as Chief Executive designate on 16 November 2009 
and as Chief Executive on 1 January 2010. He was appointed to 
the Board on 10 February 2003 as Group Finance Director and 
became Group Director Plastic Packaging on 14 July 2005.  
Before joining Rexam, Graham was Finance Director of GKN plc’s 
Aerospace Services business and, prior to that, he held various 
positions within the BOC Group plc’s European and US subsidiaries.

David Robbie (46)
Finance Director
Appointed to the Board as Finance Director on 3 October 2005. 
Before joining Rexam, David was Chief Financial Officer of Royal 
P&O Nedlloyd NV and, before that, Chief Financial Officer of  
CMG plc. He is a non executive director of the BBC and a trustee  
of Aldeburgh Music.

Leslie Van de Walle (53)
Chief Executive Officer until 31 December 2009
Appointed to the Board on 17 January 2007 and as Chief Executive 
Officer on 1 February 2007 until his retirement from the Board on 
31 December 2009. Leslie was Executive Vice President of Global 
Retail of Royal Dutch Shell plc until December 2006 and, prior to 
that, he held a number of senior international management positions 
with Cadbury Schweppes plc and was Chief Executive of United 
Biscuits plc. He is a non executive director of Aviva plc and was  
a non executive director of Aegis Group plc until May 2009.

Company Secretary
David Gibson (47)

Changes to the Board
Bill Barker, Group Director Beverage Cans, resigned as an executive 
director on 7 January 2009 and Michael Buzzacott retired as a  
non executive director on 7 May 2009.

Leslie Van de Walle retired as Chief Executive Officer on  
31 December 2009.

Management – operational and corporate
André Balbi – Beverage Can Americas

Tomas Sjölin – Beverage Can Europe & Asia

Malcolm Harrison – Plastic Packaging

Steve Wirrig – Plastic Packaging Closures

Marc Haemel – Plastic Packaging Healthcare

Misha Riveros-Jacobson – Plastic Packaging Personal Care

Jonathan Thornton – Communications

Jon Alder – Corporate Responsibility

Jon Atchue – Human Resources

Sandra Moura – Investor Relations

David Gibson – Legal

Jon Drown – Treasury
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Directors’ Report
The directors present their Report, the audited Group consolidated 
financial statements and the audited Company financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2009.

The Business Review, and all other sections of the Annual Report to 
which cross reference is made, are incorporated into this Directors’ 
Report by reference.

Business Review
A review of the strategy and performance of the Group, including  
the financial performance, can be found in the Business Review on 
pages 6 to 29. The principal activities and financial summary are set 
out on pages 1 to 3 with the key performance indicators on page 7. 
A description of the key Group risk factors is reviewed on  
pages 22 and 23.

The Annual Report 2009 has been prepared for, and only for,  
the members of the Company, as a body, and no other persons.  
The Company, its directors, employees, agents or advisers do not 
accept or assume responsibility to any other person to whom this 
document is shown or into whose hands it may come and any such 
responsibility or liability is expressly disclaimed. This Annual Report 
may contain statements which are not based on current or historical 
fact and which are forward looking in nature. These forward looking 
statements reflect knowledge and information available at the date of 
preparation of this Annual Report and the Company undertakes no 
obligation to update these forward looking statements. Such forward 
looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks and 
uncertainties facing the Group including, without limitation, those 
risks described in this Annual Report, and other unknown future events 
and circumstances which can cause results and developments to 
differ materially from those anticipated. Nothing in this Annual Report 
should be construed as a profit forecast.

Dividends
Subject to shareholder approval, the directors have proposed a 2009 
final dividend of 8.0p per share. A 2009 interim dividend was not 
declared and the total dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 
is therefore 8.0p per share (2008: 18.7p restated).

Dividend on shares
Dividend  

per share (p)
Ex dividend

date
Record

date
Payment 

date

2009 final 8.0 05.05.10 07.05.10 03.06.10

Principal acquisitions and disposals
There have been no significant acquisitions or disposals of Group 
businesses during 2009.

Directors
The Board of directors during the year ended 31 December 2009 
and at the date of this Report is set out on page 31.

Graham Chipchase, an executive director and the Group Director 
Plastic Packaging, was appointed Chief Executive designate with 
effect from 16 November 2009 and succeeded Leslie Van de Walle 
who retired as Chief Executive Officer on 31 December 2009.

Bill Barker, an executive director and the Group Director Beverage 
Cans, resigned from the Board on 7 January 2009. Michael 
Buzzacott, a non executive director, retired from the Board on  
7 May 2009.

In December 2008, the Association of British Insurers (ABI) issued 
guidance to the effect that, where a company issues more than one 
third of its issued share capital in connection with a rights issue its 
members may expect that all directors of the company wishing to 
remain in office will stand for re-election at the annual general meeting 
following the decision to make the issue. Therefore, in accordance 
with best practice following the rights issue in July 2009, all the 
current directors will stand for re-election at the AGM 2010. 

The Board’s recommendations for the re-election of all directors can 
be found on pages 39 and 40 of the Corporate Governance Report 
and in the Notice of AGM 2010.

In accordance with section 992 of the Companies Act 2006,  
the directors disclose that the Company’s Articles of Association 
(Articles) govern the appointment and replacement of directors.  
The powers given to the directors are contained in the Articles and 
include, subject to relevant legislation and authority being given to 
the directors by shareholders in general meeting, authorisation to the 
Company to issue and buy back its own shares. The Company 
annually seeks the authority of shareholders for the exercise by the 
directors of these powers. The Articles, which may only be amended 
with shareholders’ approval in accordance with relevant legislation, 
can be found on the Company’s website.

The service contracts of the executive directors and the letters  
of appointment for the non executive directors are available for 
inspection at the registered office of the Company, and will be 
available at the AGM 2010.

Directors’ interests
None of the directors had any interest during or at the end of  
the year in any contract of significance in relation to the business  
of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings. 

Full details of the share interests in the ordinary share capital of the 
Company and other interests of those directors holding office on  
31 December 2009, including any interest of a connected person, 
are set out in the Remuneration Report.
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Share capital
The Company had 876,829,017 ordinary shares of 642/7p each 
(shares) in issue at 31 December 2009. At the AGM 2009, 
shareholders approved an increase in the authorised share capital  
to £750,000,000.

On 29 July 2009 the Company announced a 4 for 11 rights issue 
and under the authority given to the directors at the AGM 2009, 
233,799,459 new shares were issued at 150p per share (rights 
issue). The rights issue raised £334m (net of costs). Full details of the 
rights issue and the Company’s authorised and issued share capital, 
together with details of the rights and restrictions attaching to the 
shares, can be found in note 27 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Purchase of own shares
At the AGM 2009, shareholders passed a special resolution 
renewing the authority to the Company, in accordance with the 
Articles and relevant institutional guidelines, to purchase a maximum 
number of its own shares in the market. 

No shares have been purchased in the market, nor has any contract 
been made to purchase shares under the previous or existing 
authorities from 1 January 2009 to the date of this Report. The 
directors are seeking to renew the authority at the AGM 2010. 
Further details can be found in the Notice of AGM 2010.

Share purchase authority

Number of shares
AGM 2010 

Proposed
AGM 2009 

Approved

10% of issued share capital 87.68m 64.29m

Substantial shareholdings
At the date of this Report, the Company had received notification 
from the following financial institutions of their and their clients’ 
interests in the voting rights of the Company, in accordance with  
the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR) of the Financial Services 
Authority, which are required to be disclosed under section 992 of 
the Companies Act 2006. The number of shares and percentage 
interests are as disclosed at the date on which the interests were 
notified to the Company.

Interests of 3% or more in issued share capital
Notes Shares %

Wellington Management Co LLP (i) 69,085,426 7.88
BlackRock Inc 44,238,302 5.05
Legal & General Group Plc 34,660,260 3.95
Norges Bank 27,243,966 3.11

(i) The number of shares and percentage interest was disclosed to the Company in a notification 
requested under section 793 of the Companies Act 2006.

Information provided to Rexam pursuant to the DTR is publicly 
available via the Regulatory Information Services and on the 
Company’s website.

Financial risk management
The financial risk management and objectives of the Group and the 
exposure of the Group to price, credit, liquidity and cash flow risk 
are set out in the Business Review and note 24 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Significant agreements
Rexam has a number of commercial agreements which are essential 
to the Group’s business, as discussed in the Key Group risk factors 
section of the Business Review on pages 22 and 23. Mitigation 
arrangements are in place to safeguard, as far as possible, the 
Group’s business in the event of the unexpected termination or 
amendment of such agreements.

The Company is also required to disclose any significant agreements 
that take effect, alter or terminate on a change of control of the 
Company. In the event of a takeover bid, some commercial 
agreements allow the counterparties to alter or terminate the 
arrangements on a change of control of the Company. The Company 
has committed debt facilities all of which are directly or indirectly 
subject to change of control provisions albeit the facilities do not 
necessarily require mandatory prepayment on a change of control. 

At 31 December 2009 the facilities subject to these provisions were:

Debt facilities 
Notes Amount Maturity

Subordinated bond (i) €750m June 2067
US public bond $550m June 2013
US private placement $225m June 2013
Medium term note €690m March 2013
Bilateral credit facility, multi currency £50m December 2012
Bilateral credit facility, multi currency $161m July 2012
Bilateral credit facility, multi currency €100m July 2012
Bilateral credit facility, multi currency £18m July 2012
Revolving credit facility forward start 
November 2010, multi currency (ii) £647m July 2012
Bilateral credit facility, multi currency €50m July 2011
Bilateral credit facility, multi currency €95m April 2011
Bilateral credit facility, multi currency £50m March 2011
Bilateral credit facility, multi currency £40m March 2011
Revolving credit facility, multi currency (ii) £775m November 2010
Bilateral credit facility, multi currency £20m November 2010

(i) Swapped from euro to US$ denomination.

(ii) The existing £775m revolving credit facility will be replaced by the £647m forward start 
revolving credit facility in November 2010.

Details of the service contracts of the executive directors and the 
letters of appointment for the non executive directors together with the 
Company’s policy on how a change of control will affect the service 
contracts are summarised in the Remuneration Report.

The trustee of the Rexam Employee Share Trust holds shares in order 
to satisfy awards under the Rexam employee share plans. If an offer 
is made to acquire the Company’s shares, the trustee is not obliged 
to accept or reject any such offer in respect of any shares which are 
at that time subject to options which are outstanding, or which have 
at that time otherwise been allocated to or earmarked for 
beneficiaries of the Trust. However, the trustee shall have regard to 
the interests of the beneficiaries and shall have the power to consult 
them to obtain their views on such offer and, subject to the 
foregoing, may consider any recommendations made to it by the 
Company but shall not be obliged to comply with such 
recommendations.

The Company has granted a qualifying pension scheme indemnity  
in the form permitted by the Companies Act 2006 to the directors  
of Rexam Pension Trustees Limited, the Trustee to the Rexam Pension 
Plan. The indemnity remains in force at the date of this Report. 
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Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to 
affect its future development, performance and position are set out in 
the Business Review on pages 6 to 29. The financial position of the 
Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are 
also detailed in the Business Review on pages 14 to 19. In addition, 
notes 22, 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements  
include the Group’s objectives and policies for managing its capital, 
its financial risk management objectives, details of its financial 
instruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to credit risk 
and liquidity risk.

The Group has considerable financial resources, as detailed on 
pages 14 to 19 of the Business Review, together with established 
agreements with a number of customers and suppliers across different 
geographic areas and markets. During 2009, the Group accessed 
the equity markets to raise £334m (net of costs) through the rights 
issue and the bank debt market to both increase its committed bank 
facilities and also refinance a substantial portion of its 2010 maturities. 
As a consequence, the directors believe that the Group is well 
placed to manage its business despite the current economic 
environment which increases risks and uncertainties.

The directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are satisfied  
that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the consolidated and Company financial statements.

Research and development
The Group aims to keep at the forefront of all relevant product, 
process and system developments in the markets in which it operates. 
Rexam has internal and customer innovation programmes focused  
on creative packaging solutions and their successful implementation. 
These programmes have resulted in a number of new consumer 
packaging products which include Rexam’s Crystal Transparency, an 
innovative plastic material which looks like glass, airless dispensing 
tubes and airless, ergonomically advanced dispensers. Fusion, an 
aluminium bottle developed over recent years, is expected to go into 
full production at the Rexam plant in the Czech Republic. The 
Group’s expenditure on research and development during the year 
amounted to £20m (2008: £19m).

Payments to suppliers
The Group’s operating businesses are responsible for the terms and 
conditions under which they conduct business transactions with their 
suppliers. It is Group policy to agree the terms of payment and make 
payments to suppliers in accordance with those terms, provided that 
suppliers have complied with all relevant terms and conditions.

The Company had 11 days (2008: 17 days) purchases outstanding 
at 31 December 2009 based on the average daily amount invoiced 
by suppliers.

Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group in 2009 amounted to 
£381,000 as shown in the table. No donations were made for 
political purposes.

Charitable donations
2009 2008

UK £38,000 £61,000
Rest of world (excluding UK) £343,000 £536,000

The UK businesses made donations to various charities and sporting 
and cultural events. 

Rest of world donations included support of scholarship programmes 
and educational opportunities for young people. They also included 
donations to healthcare organisations, hospitals and local community 
initiatives, principally in Russia, the US and Italy. Rexam has undertaken 
to match employees’ donations to Direct Relief International, a US 
non profit organisation, that will provide medical aid, supplies and 
equipment to the victims of the recent earthquake in Haiti.

Employees
The Rexam Way culture is a fundamental characteristic of the 
Company’s day to day activities and distinguishes the Company  
as a market leader and an employer of choice. Trust, Teamwork, 
Continuous Improvement, and Recognition are the Group’s chosen 
core values which continue to involve, inform and motivate employees 
to work towards the vision of making Rexam the best global consumer 
packaging company. In 2009 the Company has built upon the 
success of the Rexam Academy, extending regional programmes  
to facilitate performance and development management throughout 
the Group and also to strengthen succession planning. The Talent 
Management and Horizon Programs continue as key programmes 
whose aims are to raise overall employee performance and identify 
and systematically develop employee talent. Additionally, the online 
integrated Performance Development System launched during 2008 
and which measures leadership practices and business objectives,  
as well as personal development and individual potential, has been 
more widely extended in 2009. Rexam people are key in helping  
to deliver the Group’s vision of being the best global consumer 
packaging company. Further information on the Group’s training  
and development programmes can be found in the Business Review 
on page 28.

The Group has active policies of equal opportunity ranging from 
selection and recruitment to training and development which meet the 
needs of its operations around the world. Disabled people are given 
full consideration for employment and subsequent training (including, 
if needed, retraining for alternative work where employees have 
become disabled), career development and promotion on the basis 
of their aptitudes and abilities.

Directors’ Report
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Communication with employees has an important focus through team 
briefings where employees can participate and give their views on 
any aspect of the Group’s business. During 2009 the Chief Executive 
Officer issued online updates to employees through the Group’s 
intranet and answered questions from employees through his weblog. 
The Group’s full and half year results announcements are also 
presented on video made available via the intranet. At the 
subsequent team briefings employees are given the opportunity to 
comment on the financial and economic factors affecting the Group’s 
performance. The Group’s global intranet is an immediate source of 
information and knowledge. At regular intervals an electronic news 
bulletin is produced and distributed globally to employees, 
supplementing the monthly communications produced by the 
businesses to keep their employees informed of what is happening  
in and around their sector.

The Rexam European Forum (REF) is a joint employee representative 
and management body established in 1998. It was created for the 
exchange of information and dialogue concerning issues which may 
impact Rexam’s employees within the European Economic Area.  
The REF holds an annual meeting attended by the Chief Executive 
and other senior management. A smaller coordinating committee 
drawn from representatives within the REF meets quarterly to discuss 
organisational issues as well as any exceptional business issues 
which may arise and which may have an impact on Rexam’s 
European employees. During 2009, the REF also established a series 
of joint working groups, made up of REF representatives and managers, 
who advise and make recommendations on the implementation of 
Group activities such as Behaviour Based Safety, a programme to 
reinforce safe behaviours and reduce accidents in the work place. 

The Company has well established employee share schemes to 
promote share ownership, as described in the Remuneration Report. 
Competitive retirement and benefit packages are offered and, subject 
to the culture, market practices and regulations in the countries where 
we carry out our business, benefits may be provided in whole or in 
part by the government, private or supplementary Rexam sponsored 
programmes. Financial details of the Group’s worldwide retirement 
benefit obligations can be found in the Business Review and note 25 
to the consolidated financial statements.

Corporate governance statement
The information that fulfils the requirements for this corporate 
governance statement in accordance with rule 7.2 of the DTR can  
be found in this Directors’ Report and in the Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 36 to 43.

Corporate responsibility
Information relating to the Company’s policies towards environmental, 
social and governance areas of corporate responsibility (CR) can be 
found in the Corporate responsibility section of the Business Review 
and in the CR section on the Rexam website.

Directors’ statement
Each person who is a director of the Company at the date of 
approval of this Report confirms that:

•  so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and

•  each director individually has taken all the steps that they ought to 
have taken as a director to make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are 
aware of that information.

Auditors
In accordance with the recommendation of the Audit Committee,  
a resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
will be proposed at the AGM 2010.

Annual General Meeting 2010
The AGM of the Company will be held at 11.00am on 6 May 2010 
at Church House, Dean’s Yard, London SW1, details of which can 
be found in the Notice of AGM 2010.

On behalf of the Board 
David Gibson 
Company Secretary 
17 February 2010
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Corporate Governance Report
Compliance
This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Combined 
Code on Corporate Governance issued in 2008 (the Code) by the 
Financial Reporting Council (FRC). This Report, together with the 
Business Review, the Directors’ Report and the Remuneration Report, 
provides a summary of the Group’s procedures for applying the 
principles of the Code and the extent to which such principles have 
been applied. The Company is committed to the highest standards  
of corporate governance and the Group’s governance policies are 
monitored by the Board and kept under constant review.

Throughout the period 1 January to 31 December 2009 the 
Company has been fully compliant with the Code.

Directors
The Board
The Board’s primary role is to provide entrepreneurial leadership  
and to develop and implement a coherent long term strategy for  
the Group. Its other roles are to oversee management and succession 
planning, to maintain control over the Group’s assets, to develop 
robust corporate governance and risk management practices and 
procedures, to establish high ethical standards of behaviour and 
ensure that its obligations to its shareholders are understood  
and achieved.

The Board monitors the performance of management and aims to 
ensure that the strategy, policies and procedures adopted are not 
only in the long term interest of shareholders but also meet the needs 
of Rexam’s customers, suppliers, employees and the local 
communities in which Rexam operates.

Matters referred to the Board are considered by the Board as a 
whole and no one individual has unrestricted powers of decision. 
There are well documented procedures and controls, including a 
formal schedule of matters that requires the Board’s specific approval 
and is reviewed annually. This provides the framework for the 
decisions to be taken by the Board and those which can be 
delegated to committees of the Board or senior management.

Schedule of matters reserved for the Board

Board appointments and removals.
The appointment and removal of principal advisors and external 
auditors.
Changes to the Group’s management and control structure.
The Group’s strategy, including the acquisition and disposal  
of businesses.
Matters relating to the Company’s share listing.
High level financial decisions.
All capital expenditure projects over £10m or any capital 
expenditure project which, regardless of the amount, does not meet 
the Group’s financial criteria.

The Group’s global insurance programme is reviewed annually. 
Appropriate insurance cover has been obtained to protect the 
directors and senior management in the event of a claim being 
brought against any of them in their capacity as directors or officers 
of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Chairman and Chief Executive
Rexam has a non executive Chairman and a Chief Executive. There 
is a clear division of responsibility between the positions, with the 
Chairman responsible for the running of the Board and the Chief 
Executive responsible for the executive management of the Company 
and the running of the Group’s businesses.

Peter Ellwood, Chairman of the Company, during the year met with 
senior management and visited various Rexam businesses. He also 
met individually with a number of institutional shareholders to discuss 
the Group’s performance during 2009 and the rights issue.

Graham Chipchase, Group Director Plastic Packaging, was 
appointed Chief Executive designate with effect from 16 November 
2009 and succeeded Leslie Van de Walle who retired as Chief 
Executive Officer on 31 December 2009. Graham Chipchase has 
been a member of the Board since 2003, first as Finance Director 
and then as Group Director Plastic Packaging. He knows Rexam and 
its people well through these financial and operational roles and has 
demonstrated the leadership skills to take the Company forward to 
the next phase of its development. Leslie Van de Walle met with the 
institutional shareholders on a regular basis during 2009 and 
Graham Chipchase has met with institutional shareholders since his 
appointment as Chief Executive.

Carl Symon is the senior independent director and is available to talk 
to shareholders if they have any issues or concerns or if there are any 
unresolved matters that shareholders believe should be brought to his 
attention.

The written job specifications for the roles of Chairman, Chief 
Executive and the senior independent director are reviewed annually 
by the Nomination Committee.

Details of the external directorships held by Peter Ellwood, Leslie Van 
de Walle and Carl Symon can be found on page 31. The Board 
considers that these external directorships did not make conflicting 
demands on their time commitment to the Company. Graham 
Chipchase does not hold any external directorships.
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In addition to regular scheduled Board meetings, the Company 
operates through various Board committees. The Board committees 
are governed by terms of reference which detail the matters 
delegated to the committee and for which they have authority  
to make decisions. The terms of reference for the main committees 
can be found on the Rexam website. Membership of the Audit, 
Nomination and Remuneration Committees is restricted to the 
independent non executive directors. 

The number of Board and main Board committee meetings held 
during the year and directors’ attendance at each meeting that they 
were eligible to attend are shown in the table below. Where 
directors were unable to attend the meetings they received a copy  
of the agenda and the papers, and had an opportunity to comment 
on the matters to be discussed in advance of the meetings.

Attendance at Board and main Board committee meetings

Board 
Audit 

Committee 
Nomination 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee

Finance 
Committee

Meetings held in 2009 11 4 5 10 3
Meetings attended
P Ellwood 11 – 5 – –
M Buzzacott (i) 4 1 – 4 1
G Chipchase (ii) 11 – – – – 
N Doyle 10 3 4 – 3
J Langston (iii) 10 4 3 – 3
W Meusburger 11 – 5 10 –
D Robbie 11 – – – 3
J-P Rodier 11 – 5 10 –
C Symon 11 4 5 10 –
L Van de Walle 10 – – – 3

(i)  Michael Buzzacott retired from the Board and the Audit, Remuneration and Finance 
Committees on 7 May 2009.

(ii)  Graham Chipchase was appointed to the Finance Committee on 1 January 2010.

(iii)  John Langston was appointed to the Nomination Committee on 3 July 2009.

(iv)  Bill Barker resigned from the Board on 7 January 2009 and did not attend any meetings  
in 2009.

During the year Peter Ellwood met twice with non executive directors 
without management in attendance to discuss Board related issues  
on a less formal basis. He also held various individual meetings  
and conference calls with non executive directors. Their discussions 
covered areas including Group performance, strategy and 
succession planning.

Audit Committee
The main terms of reference of this Committee are set out in the 
section Audit Committee and Auditors on pages 41 and 42. 

Nomination Committee
The main terms of reference of this Committee are to review  
the structure, size and composition of the Board and make 
recommendations to the Board on the role and nomination of 
directors for appointment to the Board, Board committees and the 
appointment of the Company Secretary. The Committee is also 
responsible for assessing the time needed to fulfil the roles of 
Chairman, senior independent director and non executive directors, 
and assisting the Chairman with the annual performance evaluation 
process to assess the overall and individual performance and 
effectiveness of the Board and Board committees.

Remuneration Committee
The main terms of reference of this Committee are set out in the 
Remuneration Report on page 44.

Finance Committee
The main terms of reference of this Committee are to oversee and 
report to the Board on financial risk management strategy, policy  
and treasury transactional matters. Additionally, the Committee assists 
the Board in reviewing and approving major financial transactions, 
including currency exposures and interest rate management. Together 
with the directors named above Jon Drown, Director Group Treasury, 
is a member of this Committee. The Committee holds at least two 
scheduled formal meetings each year with full attendance to discuss 
matters of policy. Additional meetings are held during the year as 
necessary for which the quorum is three members, one of whom must 
be either the Finance Director or the Director Group Treasury.

Membership of Board and main Board committees
Board Audit Committee Nomination Committee Remuneration Committee Finance Committee

P Ellwood Chairman Chairman

B Barker Resigned 7 January 2009

M Buzzacott Retired 7 May 2009 Chairman retired 7 May 2009 Retired 7 May 2009 Retired 7 May 2009

G Chipchase Appointed 1 January 2010

N Doyle Chairman

J Langston Chairman from 7 May 2009 Appointed 3 July 2009

W Meusburger
D Robbie
J-P Rodier
C Symon Chairman

L Van de Walle Retired 31 December 2009 Retired 31 December 2009

Where applicable, the date on which a member was appointed to or resigned from the Board or a committee during 2009 and up to the date of this Annual Report is shown above.
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The Board also operates through the Chief Executive’s, the Retirement 
Benefits and the Share Options committees. 

The Chief Executive’s Committee, whose members are the Chief 
Executive and any two other directors, has responsibility to approve 
certain matters above established financial limits other than those 
specifically reserved for the Board. 

The main terms of reference of the Retirement Benefits Committee are, 
on behalf of the Board, to review and make recommendations to the 
Board on the Group’s retirement benefit arrangements including 
consulting with the Company and the pension plan trustees on the 
control and funding of such arrangements. It considers and reviews 
external advice received in respect of investment strategy, global 
asset allocation and funding levels. The members of this Committee 
include David Tucker, an independent external appointment who is 
the Committee Chairman, Jon Atchue, the current Group Director 
Human Resources, appointed to the Committee on 14 January 2010, 
Frank Brown, Director of US Administration and David Robbie. Bill 
Barker, the former Group Director Beverage Cans and Roger Bellis, 
the former Group Director Human Resources were members of the 
Committee until their resignations on 7 January 2009 and  
31 December 2009 respectively. The Committee met three times  
in 2009 and all members of the Committee in office at the date of 
each meeting were present with the exception of Frank Brown who 
was unable to attend the meeting in June and Roger Bellis who was 
unable to attend the meeting in December.

The main terms of reference of the Share Options Committee are  
to grant options to employees over ordinary shares in the Company 
under the savings related share option schemes and to allot shares 
under the savings related share option schemes and the long term 
share option schemes. The members of this Committee include any 
director, David Gibson, Company Secretary and Jennifer Smith, 
Deputy Company Secretary. A Chairman is elected at each meeting 
and the quorum is two members, one of whom must be a director. 
The Committee met as necessary in 2009.

Board balance and independence
Throughout 2009 and up to the date of this Annual Report the 
Company has had a majority of independent non executive directors 
on the Board.

Board balance 31.12.09 17.02.10

Chairman and non executive directors 6 6
Executive directors 3 2

Rexam has a Board of people of different nationalities with 
international business backgrounds representing a range of diverse 
skills and experience to enable them to effectively govern a global 
business. The Board works as a team but independence of thought 
and approach is encouraged. Influence is balanced within the Board 
by virtue of Peter Ellwood who is a non executive Chairman, together 
with a non executive senior independent director and a further four 
non executive directors, all of whom the Board considers to be 
independent. Their professional skills and wide international business 
experience are invaluable in constructively challenging and 
developing the Group’s strategy and direction. The Board is aware 
of the other commitments of the non executive directors and considers 
that these commitments do not conflict with their duties as directors  
of the Company. A biography of each member of the Board and 
details of their other directorships are given on page 31. The Board 
evaluates the membership of its individual Board committees on an 
annual basis and aims to ensure that its principal committees have 
different non executive directors as their chairman.

Appointments to the Board
Recommendations for appointments to the Board are the 
responsibility of the Nomination Committee. All of the current 
members of this Committee are independent non executive directors. 
The Committee regularly reviews and considers the ongoing 
membership of the Board, reviews job descriptions and objective 
criteria for Board and senior executive appointments and oversees 
talent management and succession planning. 

All new Board appointment projects are conducted through a formal, 
rigorous and transparent procedure between the Nomination 
Committee and the Board. The Committee identifies through the 
management review process any internal people whose skills, 
experience and contribution to the Group would add value to the 
Board. The Committee also works alongside recruitment consultants 
to evaluate and consider prospective external candidates and review 
internal candidates suggested by the Committee. 

Following an evaluation of candidates, the Committee meets with 
prospective candidates who are then considered and, if appropriate, 
recommendations are made to the Board for approval.

The process leading to the appointment of Graham Chipchase  
as Chief Executive was conducted in this way. The Committee 
considered both internal and external candidates. The Committee 
identified Graham Chipchase’s operational and financial experience 
gained in his previous appointments which, together with his proven 
leadership skills, satisfied the Committee and the Board that he was 
the right person to succeed Leslie Van de Walle and take the 
Company forward as Chief Executive.

Non executive directors serve the Company under letters of 
appointment which are generally for an initial three year term.  
On appointment, an undertaking is requested confirming that the  
non executive director has sufficient time to fulfil his or her role on the 
Board. Any non executive director who has served on the Board for 
a period in excess of nine years will be subject to annual re-election 
at the AGM. The non executive directors’ letters of appointment are 
available for inspection at the Company’s registered office and at  
the AGM.

Information and professional development
For each scheduled Board meeting the Chairman and the Company 
Secretary ensure that, prior to the meeting, the directors receive a 
copy of the agenda for the meeting, Group and business financial 
and operating information so that they are properly informed of the 
Group’s current performance, the Company’s share price and trading 
data for the prior month, and details of any other matter which is to 
be referred to the Board for consideration. The directors also have 
access to the Company Secretary for any further information they 
require. In the months where there is no scheduled Board meeting, 
the directors receive the prior month and cumulative Group and 
business financial and operating information. If there is any urgent 
business to be considered in these months and the subject of the 
business can be communicated by a written paper, the Board may 
be asked to give their approval using the written resolution procedure 
as permitted by the Company’s Articles of Association (Articles).

All newly appointed directors participate in an internal induction 
programme that introduces the director to the Group and includes 
visiting Group businesses. Newly appointed directors, in particular 
those who have not previously held a directorship in a UK listed 
company, are given training facilitated by an external consultant 
which focuses on their role on the Board. The Company Secretary 
gives guidance on Board procedures and corporate governance. 

Corporate Governance Report
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All directors receive ongoing training and members of the committees 
receive specific updates in matters that are relevant to their role. 

The Chairman arranges for the directors to visit at least one of the 
Group’s business locations each year to ensure that their knowledge, 
skills and familiarity with the Group’s businesses are updated and 
maintained. During 2009, the Board visited the newly commissioned 
beverage can plant in Fredericia, Denmark, and visited a customer 
filling plant, also in Denmark. Additionally, members of the senior 
management team with responsibility for the Group’s businesses 
make periodic presentations at Board meetings about their 
businesses, performance, suppliers, customers, markets and strategy. 
Periodic presentations are also made at Board meetings by members 
of the senior management team who have corporate or service 
centre functional responsibilities.

The Company Secretary, who is appointed by the Board, is 
responsible for ensuring compliance with Board procedures. This 
includes taking minutes of the Board meetings and the recording  
of any concerns relating to the running of the Company or proposed 
actions arising therefrom that are expressed by a director in a Board 
meeting. The Company Secretary is also secretary to the Audit, 
Nomination and Remuneration committees. Under the direction  
of the Chairman, he is responsible for the communication of relevant 
information between the Board and the senior management team. 
The Company Secretary is available to give ongoing advice to all 
directors on Board procedures, corporate governance and regulatory 
compliance. Should a director reasonably request independent 
professional advice to carry out his or her duties, such advice  
is made available at the Company’s expense.

Performance evaluation 2009
All directors, including the Chairman, receive a formal performance 
evaluation to which all other members of the Board have an 
opportunity to contribute. The evaluations are led as indicated below.

Board member 2009 evaluation led by

Chairman Senior independent director
Senior independent director and 
other non executive directors Chairman
Chief Executive Chairman
Executive directors Chief Executive

The Chairman met a number of times with the non executive directors 
during 2009 to discuss the evaluation of the Board and individual 
directors’ performance and succession plans. The Chairman and 
Chief Executive absent themselves when their own performance is 
being assessed. Discussions are led by the Chairman (except in 
relation to his own performance and succession when the senior 
independent director takes the chair) and feedback is provided.

In addition to the personal performance evaluations, an evaluation  
of the effectiveness of the Board and its principal committees was 
undertaken. The directors were asked to complete questionnaires  
and provide comments on Board and committee procedures and 
effectiveness. The results of the evaluations were reviewed by the 
Chairman, the Chief Executive and the Company Secretary prior  
to being presented to the Board. The directors shared the view  
that the Board and its committees continue to operate effectively  
and that, whilst there have been challenges in 2009, the Board  
and its committees have improved their effectiveness. During 2010, 
the Board intends that the processes concerning the following areas 
will be further developed and improved.

Process Objective

Strategic planning To develop the strategic review to facilitate 
more detail and discussion on scenario 
planning, markets and technology; and 
regular reporting to the Board on the progress 
of strategic issues and actions.

Risk management To enhance understanding and regular Board 
debate of risk mitigation measures and any 
changes in the Group’s key risk profile.

Customers To enhance the Board’s understanding and 
involvement with major customer contracts  
and strategies.

Talent management 
and succession 
planning

To extend the Board’s exposure to and 
familiarity with the Group’s talent identification 
and management, and succession planning. 

A full performance evaluation of the Board and its committees will 
continue to be conducted annually.

Election and re-election of directors
Article 56 of the current Articles states, in accordance with the Code, 
that any director appointed to the Board since the date of the last 
AGM should be proposed for election at the first AGM after their 
appointment. Thereafter a director must be proposed for re-election  
at the third AGM following the AGM at which the director was last 
elected or re-elected. Under the Articles, Wolfgang Meusburger,  
Jean-Pierre Rodier and Carl Symon would stand for re-election  
at the AGM 2010.

However, in December 2008, the ABI issued guidance to the effect 
that, where a company issues more that one third of its issued share 
capital in connection with a rights issue its members may expect that 
all directors of the company wishing to remain in office will stand for 
re-election at the next annual general meeting following the decision 
to make the issue. Therefore, in accordance with best practice 
following the rights issue in July 2009, all the current directors  
will stand for re-election at the AGM 2010. 

The Board will only recommend to shareholders that executive  
and non executive directors be proposed for election or re-election  
at an AGM, in accordance with the Articles, after evaluating the 
performance of the individual director. The following directors are 
being recommended by the Board and will be proposed for 
re-election at the AGM 2010:

Name Director

Peter Ellwood Chairman
Graham Chipchase Chief Executive
David Robbie Finance
Carl Symon Senior independent
Noreen Doyle Non executive
John Langston Non executive
Wolfgang Meusburger Non executive
Jean-Pierre Rodier Non executive

The Chairman and all non executive directors are being recommended 
for re-election as they continue to be effective and demonstrate their 
commitment to the Board. 
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Graham Chipchase is being recommended for re-election as the 
Board believes his leadership and insight of the Rexam Group and its 
markets will help grow Rexam organically and will create shareholder 
value. David Robbie is being recommended for re-election as the 
Board believes his strong financial experience and his financial and 
strategic skills are important to the Board as it maintains tight financial 
controls to enable the Group to participate in the economic upturn 
when it comes. A biography of each member of the Board can be 
found on page 31.

Remuneration 
Remuneration policy for directors and employees
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making 
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s remuneration policy 
and setting the remuneration levels and specific packages 
appropriate for the Chairman, each executive director and Band 1 
executive taking into account the Group’s annual salary negotiations. 
The Remuneration Report is on pages 44 to 56 of the Annual Report 
2009 and documents the policy of the Remuneration Committee and 
gives full details of directors’ remuneration.

Accountability and audit
Financial reporting
The Annual Report and the Half Year Report seek to provide a clear 
assessment of the performance and prospects of the Group. The 
Company prepares an Annual Report, in which, following the annual 
audit, the external auditors include an independent report to the 
members. The Half Year Report includes a review report to the 
Company prepared by the external auditors. 

The Annual Report also contains a Business Review which summarises 
the Group’s business strategy, strategic risks and financial and non 
financial performance. 

Internal control and risk management 
The Board recognises that it has overall responsibility for ensuring  
the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of internal 
control. Whilst all elements of risk cannot be eliminated, the system 

aims to identify, assess, prioritise and, where possible, mitigate the 
Group’s risks. Although no system of internal control can provide 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, the Group’s 
systems are designed to provide the Board with reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly 
authorised and recorded and that material errors and irregularities 
are either prevented or detected within a timely period.

During 2009, the Group authority levels and related financial limits, 
which include information on those matters that are specifically 
reserved for the Board’s consideration, were reviewed and updated 
as appropriate.

The Board, after taking account of the detailed work of the Audit 
Committee, confirms that it carried out a review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control which operated within the Group 
during 2009 in accordance with the requirements of the Code and 
the revised guidance issued in October 2005 ‘Internal Control: 
Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code’ (the Turnbull Report). 
This review covers all controls, namely financial, operational, 
compliance and risk management. In order to discharge its 
responsibilities in this regard the Board has established and regularly 
reviews the procedures necessary to implement the internal control 
requirements of the Code. The Committee also considered the 
revised Guidance on Audit Committees issued by the FRC in October 
2008. Where there are any changes in governance regulations and 
new guidance is issued, the Committee will review it and take into 
account any recommendations made. No significant failings or 
weaknesses were identified in the review for the period since  
1 January 2009. The Board is satisfied that, where areas for 
improvement were identified, processes are in place to ensure that 
the necessary action is taken and that progress is monitored. The 
Board will continue to carry out such reviews on an annual basis.

The framework which the Board has established with a view  
to providing effective internal control for both the Group and its 
associates and joint ventures is supported by the key areas set out  
in the table below.

Key areas of the internal control framework

Financial reporting The Group has a comprehensive system for reporting financial results to the Board. An annual budget and 
strategic review are prepared for each business and are consolidated for review by the Board before being 
formally adopted. During the year, monthly management accounts, including cash flow and capital expenditure 
reporting, are prepared with a comparison against budget and prior year. Forecasts are revised in the light  
of this comparison and are also reviewed by the Board.

Responsibility There are clearly defined lines of responsibility and levels of authority in operation throughout the Group,  
with specific matters reserved to the Board. Businesses are decentralised with operating autonomy and financial 
responsibility delegated to corporate and local management to the extent that they have approval to operate 
within defined levels of authority and risk.

Procedures and controls There are formal written Group financial procedures and controls in operation, including specific procedures  
for treasury matters and the approval of significant contracts. Corporate and local management are required  
to complete bi-annual representation letters formally confirming that their businesses comply with the Group’s 
financial reporting policies and other Group policies and procedures.

Internal audit The internal audit function monitors the accounting and financial risks faced throughout the Group and the  
control systems in operation to manage these risks. Any significant internal audit findings are reported to the  
Audit Committee.

Physical risk management The internal physical risk management function, together with operational management, are responsible for 
monitoring the processes which identify, evaluate and manage any significant health, safety, environmental and 
loss prevention risks. All businesses have adopted externally verified auditing systems and other processes to 
identify, measure, reduce and control these physical risks. The results of these audits are reported upon and 
reviewed by local and senior management in order to ensure that appropriate action plans are developed and 
implemented in a timely manner. Any significant findings are reported to the Audit Committee.
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There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating, managing, 
monitoring and reporting the risks faced by the Group. This formal 
process, managed through Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) 
meetings, is the responsibility of all of the Group’s businesses and  
is overseen by the Finance Director and the Head of Internal Audit. 
Separate ARC meetings are held annually with senior management 
of each division as well as key group functions (including Treasury, 
Tax, Finance, IT, Legal, Human Resources, Retirement Benefits, Supply 
Chain and Physical Risk Management) to review the results of their 
internal risk assessments. These meetings are attended by the Finance 
Director and usually by the Chief Executive. They evaluate and 
develop the process for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s 
systems of internal control, including all aspects concerning financial, 
environmental, social and governance related matters. The ARC 
meetings also include a detailed review of the results of internal  
audit activity covering the financial controls and risks as well as the 
physical risks (health, safety, environment and loss prevention) of all 
businesses in the Group. In addition to the ARC meetings, risks in 
relation to each division and business are reviewed at quarterly 
business review meetings with senior management, thus ensuring  
that risk management is a continuing and key element of the internal 
control process.

Risk register forms are used to provide detailed reporting of the 
methodology used to quantify the risks identified. Trend analysis and 
key performance indicators are used to help measure and assess the 
benefits of mitigation steps taken to minimise and manage the risks. 
The process continued to be refined in 2009 and the risk profile of 
the Group was reviewed in detail by senior management to assign 
specific responsibility for managing each of the identified risks. The 
process also aims to ensure that risks are not just the product of a 
bottom up approach but are also examined from a top down 
perspective and closely aligned with the Group’s strategy.

The results of the ARC process are reported to the Committee by the 
Finance Director, Company Secretary and the Head of Internal Audit 
and provide an opportunity for the Committee to discuss and analyse 
the risks reported. In addition to reviewing the risks as presented by 
management, the Committee also requests the sectors or functional 
managers to present their risk profile, enabling the Committee to 
assess at first hand whether the risks identified are being managed 
effectively and to challenge management on the mitigation measures 
in place. During 2009 presentations were made relating to the 
Beverage Can Europe & Asia and Beverage Can North America 
businesses.

The process of internal risk monitoring is regularly reviewed by the 
Board, which has ultimate responsibility for the identification and 
management of risk, to ensure its continuing effectiveness. During 
2009, the Finance Director presented details of the Group risks and 
ARC process to the Board.

In 2009, Rexam reviewed best practice and peer risk management 
systems and updated its risk policy and framework document 
incorporating elements of ISO31000, a standard on implementation 
of risk management. This revised methodology will be rolled out 
through the ARC process.

Details of the key risk factors to which the Group is exposed are 
included in the Business Review which can be found on  
pages 22 and 23.

Audit Committee and Auditors
The objectives of the Committee are to assist the Board in meeting  
its responsibilities in ensuring an effective system of internal control, 
compliance and risk management, and accurate external financial 
reporting, thereby fulfilling the Board’s obligations under law and  
the Code. The Committee also assists the Board in managing the 
relationship with the Company’s external auditors to review and 
monitor their independence, and in particular the provision of  
non audit services to the Group.

The Committee members comprise independent non executive 
directors and the Committee meets at least four times a year. John 
Langston, who was appointed Audit Committee Chairman from  
7 May 2009, replacing Michael Buzzacott who retired from the 
Board and the Committee, is the current Finance Director of Smiths 
Group plc and a qualified chartered accountant. He is well placed 
to provide the Committee with the relevant financial experience to 
enable it to carry out its responsibilities.

Noreen Doyle, who chairs the Finance Committee, is also a member 
of the Audit Committee and has extensive financial experience 
gained from her role as First Vice President of the European Bank for 
Reconstruction & Development before her retirement in 2005 and her 
current non executive directorship of Credit Suisse Group. 

Carl Symon, who is chairman of the Remuneration Committee, is also 
a member of the Audit Committee and has wide international 
experience gained from a 32 year international career with IBM 
Corporation and his current non executive directorships of BT Group 
plc and BAE Systems plc, as well as his previous appointments which 
include HMV Group plc and Rolls-Royce Group plc.

Should it be requested, the Committee has access to independent 
expert advice at the Company’s expense.

The terms of reference of the Committee, which are reviewed 
annually, set out more fully the responsibilities of the Committee  
and can be found on the Rexam website. The performance and 
effectiveness of the Committee are reviewed as part of the main 
performance appraisal of the Board and all its Committees.

The Committee approves the appointment of the Head of Internal 
Audit. The annual programme of internal audit assignments is 
reviewed and approved by the Committee which also ensures that 
the involvement of the internal and external auditors is co-ordinated.

In 2009, the internal audit function and its performance, effectiveness 
and relationship with the Company’s external auditors was assessed 
by the Audit Committee and reported to the Board. This assessment 
included completion of a survey of internal audit’s performance by 
both the Audit Committee and the businesses. The Head of Internal 
Audit will continue to review the role and focus of the internal audit 
function with the Audit Committee Chairman during 2010, looking 
for areas for further improvement and at the balance of internal 
audit’s work in providing assurance to the Committee and Group 
management and overall support for the Group’s businesses.

The Company’s external auditors attend all Audit Committee 
meetings. The Chairman of the Board is invited to attend all Audit 
Committee meetings and, at the request of the Committee Chairman, 
the Chief Executive, Finance Director and Head of Internal Audit 
attend each meeting. The Committee Chairman also has separate 
meetings with the Company’s external auditors to discuss matters of 
interest and meets with the Head of Internal Audit without any other 
member of management being present.
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The first meeting within the Group annual audit cycle is to consider 
the nature and scope of the audit and to consider any additional 
special reviews that may be necessary. Further meetings are held 
prior to the approval of the half year results and the full year results to 
consider, as relevant, the audit conclusions, the results of any special 
reviews undertaken, the business risks facing the Group and the 
reports from the ARC meetings.

The Committee shares responsibility with the Board for reviewing in 
detail the Annual Report and Half Year Report and all other published 
financial information for statutory and regulatory compliance with a 
view to their recommendation and submission to the Board. The 
Committee reports its findings on the audit process and on the wider 
aspects of internal control to the Board.

Prior to the Board’s approval, the Committee reviewed the prospectus 
for the rights issue which the Company undertook during the year. 
The prospectus contained an analysis of the risk factors facing the 
Group and confirmation of adequacy of working capital.

The Committee has primary responsibility for and advises the Board 
on the appointment, re-appointment and the remuneration of the 
Company’s external auditors. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) 
have been the Company’s external auditors since 2003 with the 
lead audit partner changing by rotation in 2008. During 2009,  
the Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s external 
auditors and has recommended to the Board that a resolution to 
re-appoint PwC be proposed at the AGM 2010. A review of PwC’s 
effectiveness will be undertaken in 2010 following completion of the 
2009 year end audit. The Committee will continue to keep under 
review the independence and objectivity of the Company’s external 
auditors.

The Group policy on the provision of non audit services by PwC 
determines the procedures for the pre-approval of such services and 
the fees paid for those services. The scope and extent of non audit 
work undertaken by PwC is monitored by and, above certain 
thresholds, requires prior approval from the Committee to ensure that 
the provision of such services does not impair PwC’s independence 
or objectivity. Non audit fees in 2009 relate mainly to work by PwC 
in connection with the rights issue, a review of certain tax and 
treasury risks in Russia, and global advisory tax services. All non 
audit related instructions were approved by the Audit Committee 
under the Group’s non audit services approval policy. Other audit 
firms were engaged to provide expatriate and specialist tax advisory 
services as well as to advise on acquisition and disposal transactions.

The Company’s external auditors are prohibited from providing 
services to the Company that would be considered to jeopardise 
their independence, such as financial systems design and 
implementation, actuarial services, internal audit outsourcing services 
and investment services. The policy on non audit services will be 
reviewed during 2010 following the FRC review of the provision  
of non audit services currently being undertaken.

Directors’ situational conflicts of interest
In line with the Companies Act 2006 and in accordance with  
the Company’s Articles, the Board has a formal system in place for 
directors to review regularly their interests and report any conflicts of 
interest to the Chairman and the Company Secretary. Any situations 
where the director has an interest that conflicts, or may possibly 
conflict, with the interests of the Company (situational conflicts) are 
considered for authorisation by those directors who have no interest 
in the matter being considered. In deciding whether to authorise a 
situational conflict, the non conflicted directors must act in the way 
they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the 
success of the Company, and they may impose limits or conditions 
when giving the authorisation, or subsequently, if they think this is 
appropriate. Any situational conflicts considered by the Board and 
any authorisations given are recorded in the Board minutes and in  
a register of directors’ conflicts which is reviewed annually by the 
Board. No situational conflicts were reported to the Board during 
2009 and up to the date of this Report.

Shareholder relations
Dialogue with institutional and private shareholders
The Board believes that it is a priority to communicate with 
shareholders and uses various methods to reach as many 
shareholders as possible. There are programmes for the Chief 
Executive, Finance Director and the Head of Investor Relations to 
meet with the Company’s major investors in the UK, US and Europe. 
Presentations are made on the operating and financial performance 
of the Group, including corporate governance related matters, and 
the Group’s longer term strategy. Roadshows are held in the UK, US 
and Europe following the announcement of the full and half year 
results. If it is not possible to meet face to face, meetings are held  
by live webcast or telephone conference. The presentations made  
to representatives of the investment community following the 
announcement of the full and half year results are available on the 
Company’s website, as is a live webcast of the related results 
presentation. 

The Company also hosts plant visits and annual seminars for investors 
and representatives of the investment community. The seminars are 
webcast live and a replay, together with presentation slides, is 
available online.

Institutional shareholders can request an opportunity to meet with  
any of the executive and non executive directors. The non executive 
directors are given regular updates as to the views of institutional 
shareholders. A summary report on investor responses is prepared  
for the Board, normally by the Company’s corporate brokers, after 
the investor meetings held following the announcement of the full and 
half year results. The non executive directors meet with shareholders 
at the AGM and may attend analyst presentations made by the Chief 
Executive and Finance Director following the full and half year results 
announcements. The Board fully supports the principle of the Code 
which seeks to encourage more active interest and contribution from 
institutional shareholders.
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Communication with private shareholders is largely through the 
Annual Report and the AGM which is held at a central London 
location. The notice of the AGM is posted to shareholders with,  
if requested, the Annual Report and any related papers at least  
20 working days before the date of the AGM to ensure that 
shareholders have sufficient time in which to consider the items of 
business to be voted upon. The majority of shareholders have elected 
to access the Annual Report and other shareholder documents online 
via the Rexam website rather than receiving a copy by post.

A presentation is made at the AGM to facilitate awareness of the 
Group’s activities. Shareholders are given the opportunity to ask 
questions of the Board and the Chairman of each Board committee 
during the AGM and meet all the directors informally after the AGM. 
Separate resolutions are proposed for each item of business and the 
‘for’, ‘against’ and ‘vote withheld’ proxy votes cast in respect of each 
resolution proposed at the AGM are counted and announced after 
the shareholders present have voted on each resolution. A summary 
of the number of proxy votes cast in respect of each resolution is 
available to shareholders after the AGM has been held and can  
be viewed on the Rexam website. Following the AGM 2009,  
a summary of the questions and answers raised at the meeting was 
posted on the Company’s website. An announcement confirming 
whether each resolution was passed at the AGM is made through 
the London Stock Exchange.

Rexam’s ADR investors receive details of the AGM and are entitled  
to instruct the depositary, The Bank of New York Mellon, to vote on 
the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM. ADR investors can find 
relevant information on The Bank of New York Mellon’s website, 
www.adrbnymellon.com or on Pink Sheets (www.pinksheets.com), 
the electronic trading market used for the ADR programme.

Financial and other information is available online in the Investors 
section of the Rexam website at www.rexam.com. Shareholders  
can ask questions of the Company at any time by contacting the 
Company Secretary’s department whose contact details are listed  
on the Rexam website and in the Shareholder information section  
of the Annual Report 2009.

Corporate responsibility
Information on the Group’s initiatives and commitment to CR can be 
found in the Corporate responsibility section of the Business Review 
and online in the CR section of the Rexam website.

Code of employee and business conduct
A worldwide code of conduct, which applies to all the Company’s 
employees, has been agreed with the Board and provides a clear 
statement for the benefit of stakeholders involved with or impacted  
by Rexam’s activities. The code of conduct continues to be 
communicated through the new employee induction process, as part 
of the team briefings in the Group’s businesses, and on the Group’s 
intranet and website. The Board is kept informed regarding the 
maintenance of the code of conduct.

Whistle blowing policy
Rexam promotes an open culture whereby employees have an 
opportunity to discuss matters that are of concern with their local 
management. Rexam also recognises that there will be times when 
an employee might not be comfortable with raising concerns directly 
with local management and in such cases, communication with 
sector and Group management is encouraged.

Rexam operates a whistle blowing policy which is supported by an 
external confidential telephone helpline, available to all employees 
for the submission of any concerns, including those of a financial 
nature. The telephone helpline, known as Raise Your Concern, has 
been beneficial as an independent point of contact for employees 
where, if requested, the anonymity of the employee is maintained. 
During 2009 there were 33 concerns (2008: 64) logged and 
investigated, raising matters, in the majority of cases, related to local 
business human resource (HR) issues and practices concerning the 
Group’s code of conduct. 

All concerns reported are investigated at the earliest opportunity  
by the Head of Internal Audit, in conjunction with the Company 
Secretary and, if appropriate, by management of the respective 
business. The majority of all such calls received, due to their nature, 
are normally handled by sector HR management to investigate and 
resolve and the actions taken are reported to Group management. 
The Head of Internal Audit provides an update on all calls received, 
and the action taken to resolve them, to the Audit Committee on a 
quarterly basis. Any significant concerns are reported directly to the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as to senior management.

The Committee evaluates and reviews the whistle blowing policy and 
the Raise Your Concern process annually.
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Remuneration Report
The Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2009 is 
presented by the Remuneration Committee (the Committee) on behalf 
of the Board. The Report covers the main responsibilities of the 
Committee, the remuneration policy for the executive directors and 
Band 1 executives for the year ended 31 December 2009 and the 
policy for the year ending 31 December 2010, together with details 
of directors’ remuneration, short and long term incentives and 
provision of pension benefits.

Compliance
The Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with  
the Companies Act 2006 and schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-
sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 
2008. In addition, the Committee has followed the principles of 
good governance set out in the Combined Code and complied with 
the requirements of the Listing Rules. Shareholders will be asked to 
approve the Remuneration Report at the AGM 2010.

The sections of the Remuneration Report that are referred to in 
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ Auditors’ Report have been marked as 
audited information in this Report.

Membership and main responsibilities
The Board delegates responsibility for the Company’s remuneration 
policy to the Committee which is made up of independent non 
executive directors. Other than in respect of their shareholdings in 
Rexam, the members of the Committee have no personal financial 
interest in the matters to be decided and no potential conflicts arise 
from cross directorships or day to day involvement in the running of 
the Group that could materially affect their independent judgement.

Members of the Committee

Carl Symon Committee Chairman
Michael Buzzacott Retired 7 May 2009
Wolfgang Meusburger
Jean-Pierre Rodier

The Committee met ten times in 2009 and all members attended. 
The Committee holds a strategy meeting once a year to review 
market comparisons and discuss specifically the Company’s 
remuneration policy for the following financial year.

The relationship between the Board and the Committee is governed 
by terms of reference which detail the responsibilities delegated to 
the Committee. The terms of reference are reviewed annually and  
are available on the Company’s website.

Responsibilities

Agreeing the remuneration and benefits policy, including pensions, 
for the Chairman of the Company, the executive directors and  
Band 1 executives.
Within the agreed policy, determining individual remuneration 
packages for the Chairman of the Company, the executive directors 
and Band 1 executives.
Agreeing the policy on terms and conditions to be included in 
service contracts for the executive directors and Band 1 executives 
including, where applicable, termination payments and 
compensation commitments.
Supervising the Group’s remuneration practices and procedures.
Approving any new executive or employee cash or share incentive 
schemes; and for existing shares or cash incentive schemes, any 
significant rule changes and, where appropriate, the performance 
conditions to be used; the grant of awards; and recommendations  
to shareholders for approval.
Approving the extent to which any performance targets for any cash 
or share incentive schemes have been satisfied.
Where appropriate, consulting with major shareholders on the 
Company’s remuneration policy.

During the year the following external advisors provided services  
to the Committee and the Committee has met independently with 
Towers Watson.

Advisor Services

Towers Watson & Co Executive remuneration issues and 
policy; market trends for salaries and 
incentive programmes and competitive 
positioning of remuneration packages.

Mercer Limited Pensions.
Allen & Overy LLP Share incentive schemes, employment 

and pension matters.
Addleshaw Goddard LLP Cash and share incentive schemes. 
Alithos Limited Total shareholder return reports for 

assessing the performance conditions 
under the share incentive schemes.

During 2009, the Committee also received assistance and advice  
on the human resources, financial and legal implications of the 
Committee’s remuneration and pension policies from Roger Bellis, 
Group Director Human Resources, until 31 December 2009 and 
then from Jon Atchue, Group Director Human Resources, David 
Robbie, Finance Director, and David Gibson, Company Secretary 
and Group General Counsel.

The above external advisors provide other professional services to  
the Group. Mercer Limited provided pension consultancy advice and 
benchmarking data whilst Allen & Overy LLP provided legal advice to 
the Company and its subsidiaries in numerous European jurisdictions.



Rexam Annual Report 2009 45

Remuneration strategy and policy
The Committee currently agrees the remuneration and benefits for 
Graham Chipchase and David Robbie who are executive directors, 
and for seven Band 1 executives. In 2008 the Committee undertook 
a comprehensive review of the Group’s remuneration strategy for all 
executive directors, Band 1 executives and Band 2 and 3 senior 
management (the Reward Review). The outcome of the Reward 
Review was set out in detail in the Remuneration Report 2008.

Summary of the key strategic changes following the Reward Review

To place greater emphasis on remuneration linked to stretching levels 
of performance.
To create an integrated Group wide reward strategy, particularly in 
the area of long term incentives.
To ensure remuneration packages are in line with market practice. 
To promote a consistent, clear and transparent focus between 
business performance and shareholder value.
To ensure pension benefits are in line with market practice.

Following a review of the remuneration strategy and policy for 2010, 
the Committee concluded that the current remuneration strategy and 
policy remains appropriate and provides clarity for those executives 
and employees challenged with delivering long term shareholder 
value and sustained business performance improvement. 

In setting its remuneration policy, the Committee is aware of the 
social, ethical, environmental and governance issues that face the 
Group and the need to motivate and manage corporate performance 
whilst not encouraging irresponsible behaviour. The Committee 
believes that the reward strategy implemented in 2009 and which 
will continue for 2010, ensures that Rexam is an employer of choice, 
able to attract, retain and motivate a team of highly qualified people. 

The Committee’s remuneration policy for executive directors during 
2009 is summarised below.

Remuneration policy

To set base salary, benefits in kind and pension benefits at or around 
the median of the relevant market taking into account experience  
and job function.
To provide a balance between short term and long term incentives 
and fixed and variable pay and to ensure that a significant portion  
of the remuneration package is weighted towards variable, 
performance related pay to align the interests of the executive 
directors and senior executives with those of the shareholders.
To reward, retain and motivate a team of highly qualified executives 
to manage the business on an international basis.
To reward stretching and sustained performance focused on 
profitable growth, sustainable margins and cash flow.
To reinforce the Rexam Way values and leadership behaviours.
To provide greater transparency and simplicity.

The annual remuneration package for an executive director 
comprises base salary, benefits in kind, pension benefits and short 
term cash and long term share based incentives. Based on 
achievement of targets for the short term cash incentives and the 
expected value of share awards vesting, the estimated percentage 
value of an annual remuneration package is illustrated below:

Performance related short term cash and long term share based 
incentives represent an earnings opportunity up to the upper quartile 
of the market if stretching financial targets and personal objectives 
are achieved. The value placed on performance related incentives is 
an estimate of the expected value. It cannot be accurately quantified 
until the extent to which performance targets are met is known and 
the incentives crystallise. If the respective minimum performance 
targets are not achieved, then the incentive has no value. If share 
based incentives vest, the Company’s share price at the time of the 
exercise of the awards determines the value of the incentives.

Base salary
The current practice for executive directors and Band 1 executives 
sets base salary at around the median of the market. Following the 
Reward Review, annual salary reviews will not follow an inflationary 
increase structure but will be based on contribution and performance 
as well as alignment with the market median for the position and 
experience of the executive. Salary reviews will also take account  
of current market and economic conditions, as well as salary levels 
awarded throughout the Group.

Executive directors initially received salary increases in January 2009 
in line with market levels. Given the challenging economic 
environment that developed through 2009, these increases were 
reduced to 2% above 2008 levels in March 2009 and, in July 
2009, the salaries were adjusted down to 2008 levels. For 2010 
and future years, executive directors’ salaries will be reviewed by the 
Committee with any adjustment taking effect on 1 May, in line with 
Group annual salary reviews.

The Committee refers to the Towers Perrin General Industry Survey 
salary review data which is further benchmarked by Towers Watson 
to ensure it is Rexam specific when setting levels of base salary and 
incentive earnings opportunity.

Annual remuneration package for an executive director

Source: Towers Watson

Fixed
1  Base salary, benefits in kind 

and pension benefits 48%
Performance related
2  Short term cash incentives 
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3  Long term share based 

incentives 29%
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Short term cash incentives
The short term annual cash incentive scheme for executive directors  
in 2009 depended upon the realisation of demanding Group profit 
before tax and free cash flow targets. Based on the Towers Perrin 
General Industry Survey, attainment of targets result in a bonus 
payment set at market median with upper quartile opportunity for top 
individual performers. 

Following the Reward Review, the level of bonus for all executive 
directors increased from 60% to 75% of base salary which is in line 
with the median for the market. The level of bonus for the Chief 
Executive was already set at 75% of base salary and this did not 
change. The bonus for the Chief Executive and other executive 
directors can increase up to a maximum of a further 75% of base 
salary relative to the extent that such targets are exceeded. The target 
level of bonus for Band 1 executives is 60% of base salary with the 
potential for the bonus to increase up to a maximum of a further 60% 
of base salary relative to the extent that targets are exceeded. 

Further, if targets are achieved, the level of bonus can be increased 
or decreased to reflect personal performance. An executive director’s 
and a Band 1 executive’s personal performance is measured against 
results in relation to objectives and leadership practices. An executive 
director and Band 1 executive can receive up to an additional 25% 
of their bonus (not of their base salary) if their performance exceeds 
expectations. An executive director and a Band 1 executive whose 
performance is below expectations may have their bonus reduced  
by up to 25%.

Recognising the challenging global economic and credit conditions 
faced by the Group in 2009, the short term incentive targets for 
executive directors and Band 1 executives were balanced 70/30 
between the Group’s free cash flow and profit before tax 
respectively, to focus on delivering a significant and sustainable 
improvement in the Group’s free cash flow performance. Whilst the 
target levels of profit before tax have not been achieved, those for 
free cash flow performance have been exceeded. After considering 
the Group’s overall performance and the wider economic context, 
Graham Chipchase and David Robbie have volunteered to invest 
half of their cash bonus award in respect of 2009 (net of income tax 
and national insurance) in Rexam shares which they intend to retain 
for not less than 3 years.

For 2010, the Committee has taken account of the external and 
internal influences relevant to the Group. To incentivise and reward a 
recovery in the Group’s profit performance and to sustain the Group’s 
cash performance, the Committee believes that the performance 
targets in 2009 continue to be challenging and promote the business 
strategy. The bonus levels therefore remain unchanged but incentive 
targets for executive directors and Band 1 executives will be 
balanced 60/40 between Group profit before tax and free cash 
flow respectively.

Long term share based incentives
Following the rights issue in July 2009, the Board approved that the 
number of shares and, where appropriate, the option prices, for all 
outstanding options granted through the Company’s share incentive 
schemes be adjusted to take into account the bonus element inherent 
in the rights issue. HM Revenue & Customs in the UK (HMRC) and 
the Revenue Commissioners in the Republic of Ireland (Revenue 
Commissioners) confirmed the factors used to adjust the number  
of shares and exercise prices for those options granted under the 
sections of those schemes that are subject to HMRC and Revenue 
Commissioners approval. The same factors were used for the 
adjustment of all outstanding options. 

Long Term Incentive Plan 2009 (2009 LTIP)
The 2009 LTIP was approved by shareholders at the AGM 2009 
and is now the primary long term incentive plan for executive 
directors, Band 1 executives and other senior management. Awards 
were proposed under the 2009 LTIP in 2009 but in view of the 
Company’s performance, it was decided prior to the rights issue that 
all 2009 awards be discontinued. 

The Committee’s objective when reviewing the long term share based 
incentives as part of the Reward Review was to have one integrated 
approach that aligned long term incentives for all executives closely 
to shareholder interests. The Committee has recommended that  
2010 awards be made to executive directors and Band 1 executives 
on the basis detailed below. Bands 2 and 3 senior management will 
also receive 2010 awards.

The 2009 LTIP measures performance targets over a three year 
period and there will be no discretion for re-testing of performance 
targets. The awards will vest, subject to performance targets being 
achieved, on a date determined by the Committee following 
confirmation of vesting or, if later, on the third anniversary of the date 
of grant. In certain early leaver situations, the Committee has 
discretion as to whether awards can be exercised and, if so, to 
determine the achievement of performance targets. Participants who 
leave the Group with a right to exercise awards under the rules of the 
2009 LTIP must normally wait until the end of the measurement 
period. If the award vests, the participant will receive an entitlement 
which will be time apportioned for the period from the start of the 
performance period to the date on which employment ended.

Similarly, on takeover or change of control of the Company, the 
Committee will determine vesting according to the achievement  
of performance targets and time apportionment of the resulting 
entitlement.

Any awards to be granted in 2010 to executive directors and  
Band 1 executives will be subject to two performance conditions – 
compound annual earnings per share (EPS) growth and relative total 
shareholder return (TSR) performance thereby providing a clear focus 
on business performance through EPS and shareholder value  
through TSR.
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•  The awards will be conditional on performance targets being 
achieved. 

•  The awards will be granted in respect of Rexam shares to be 
settled by the Rexam Employee Share Trust from shares purchased 
in the market.

•  Executive directors and Band 1 executives will participate at a 
multiple of 2.2 times and 2 times annual base salary respectively. 
Awards will be granted over a number of shares calculated by 
dividing the multiple of base salary by the mid market ordinary 
share price for the day preceding the date of grant or, if the 
Committee determines, by the average ordinary share price for  
the five days preceding the date of grant.

•  Performance targets will be set by the Committee and will link 60% 
of the award to Rexam’s EPS and the remaining 40% of the award 
to Rexam’s TSR. The rationale for a combined EPS and TSR 
approach is to maximise alignment with shareholder interests and 
provide a clear line of sight between management action and 
sustained business performance. The Committee believes that the 
dual performance targets provide an appropriate incentive to focus 
on the shorter and longer term drivers of shareholder value.

•  EPS has been chosen as it is a visible and recognised indicator  
by both employees and shareholders of the Company’s financial 
returns. EPS performance will be measured by compound annual 
growth in underlying earnings per share. For the awards to be 
granted in 2010, the Committee has targeted EPS growth 
performance in a range between 3% pa and 12% pa.

•  EPS performance will be measured over a three year period and  
if the minimum EPS growth target is achieved, 15% of the total 
award will vest. Between the minimum and maximum targets, 
vesting will be calculated on a straight line basis with 60% of the 
total award vesting if Rexam achieves the maximum EPS target.

EPS performance Vesting of total award %

Below minimum growth None
Between minimum and maximum growth 15 – 60
Above maximum growth 60

•  TSR has been chosen as it is an external, verifiable measurement 
target that provides a robust and comparative indicator of the 
Company’s performance against other UK listed companies. 
Rexam’s TSR will be compared with the TSRs of a comparator 
group comprising the largest 150 companies by market 
capitalisation within the FTSE All Share index. Investment Trusts  
are excluded from this comparator group.

•  TSR performance will be measured over a three year period and  
if Rexam achieves median position within the comparator group, 
10% of the total award will vest. Between the median and twenty 
fifth percentile vesting will be calculated on a straight line basis 
with 40% of the total award vesting if Rexam achieves the twenty 
fifth percentile or higher in the comparator group. 

TSR performance percentile within comparator group Vesting of total award %

Below median None
Between median and twenty fifth 10 – 40
Above twenty fifth 40

Band 2 and 3 senior management will have a single performance 
condition focusing entirely upon Rexam’s EPS on the same minimum 
and maximum targets as described above.

Other long term share incentive schemes
The Company also operates or has operated the following share 
incentive schemes. 

Share Incentive Scheme Status

Long Term Incentive Plan 2007 (2007 LTIP) Closed
Long Term Incentive Scheme (LTIS) Closed
Executive Share Option Scheme 2007 (2007 ESOS) Closed
Executive Share Option Scheme 1997 (1997 ESOS) Expired
Savings Related Share Option Scheme 
2007 (United Kingdom) (2007 SAYE) Current
Savings Related Share Option Scheme 
1997 (United Kingdom) (1997 SAYE) Expired
Savings Related Share Option Scheme 
2007 (Republic of Ireland)

(2007 SAYE 
Ireland) Current

Savings Related Share Option Scheme 
2002 (Republic of Ireland)

(2002 SAYE 
Ireland) Closed

Other than under the 2007 SAYE and the 2007 SAYE Ireland, no 
further grants of awards will be made under any of the Company’s 
existing share incentive schemes, whilst subsisting awards will vest 
over time in accordance with the rules of the relevant scheme.

Performance targets were applied to the grants made through the 
LTIS, 2007 LTIP and the 1997 ESOS. As the executive directors and 
Band 1 executives did not participate in the 2007 ESOS, performance 
targets do not apply to grants made through the 2007 ESOS. There 
was no requirement for a payment to be made on the granting of an 
option through any of the share incentive schemes. 

The Company measured Rexam’s performance using TSR for the  
LTIS and 2007 LTIP and economic profit growth for the 1997 ESOS. 
The performance targets applicable to the outstanding grants under 
each Scheme are summarised below and are the same for each 
participant. There is no retesting of performance targets.

During the year, the Company remained within the issued share 
capital headroom limits as set out in the rules of its share incentive 
schemes for the issue of new shares. 

Headroom limits

% of issued share 
capital allocated

31.12.2009

% of issued share 
capital allocated 

31.12.2008

5% in 10 years for discretionary 
share option schemes 1.6 3.0
10% in 10 years for all share  
option schemes 2.1 3.6
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Long Term Incentive Scheme and Long Term Incentive Plan 2007
The last grant made through the LTIS was in 2006. In 2007 and 
2008 grants were made through the 2007 LTIP. Since 2008 no 
further grants have been made through the 2007 LTIP.

Under the LTIS and 2007 LTIP, annual grants of options over ordinary 
shares were made to the executive directors and Band 1 executives 
at the discretion of the Committee and were structured as options to 
allow the participants to choose when to exercise and thereby 
crystallise a gain, subject to the option having vested. Options were 
granted over a number of shares calculated by dividing a multiple  
of base salary by the average ordinary share price for the preceding 
calendar year. Subject to vesting, the options may be exercised on 
or after the third anniversary of the commencement of the 
measurement period at a nominal cost to the participant and are 
generally exercisable from their third anniversary for a period of six 
years and eleven months from the date of grant.

TSR was chosen as the method for evaluating Rexam’s performance 
because it is robust and focuses on comparative performance. By 
averaging the share prices of the members of the comparator group, 
abnormal share price movements do not significantly affect the 
calculation. The calculation compares the TSR received by a 
shareholder investing in Rexam with the TSR that would have been 
obtained by investing in each of the companies comprising the 
comparator group.

TSR is calculated by external advisors as the internal rate of return  
of the series of cash flows that result from share ownership. The share 
is assumed to be bought at the beginning of the measurement period 
at the average price over the previous calendar year and sold at the 
end of the measurement period at the average price over the final 
calendar year of that period. Dividends are treated as cash receipts 
and fund raisings, such as rights issues, as cash payments.

The performance targets determining the levels of vesting for each 
grant were chosen to strongly incentivise executive directors and 
Band 1 executives to achieve the highest levels of TSR, thereby 
rewarding outstanding performance. The number of shares which 
actually vest is dependent upon the Company’s comparative TSR over 
a three year measurement period, commencing on 1 January of the 
year in which the option is granted. 

The comparator groups for options granted between 2006 and 2008 
are international groups of companies of similar size, complexity and 
international reach. The performance percentiles and vesting rates, 
as set out below, are calculated using the TSR for the companies  
in the respective comparator group for those grants.

2006 grant
The 2006 options were granted through the LTIS to executive 
directors and Band 1 executives. The measurement period closed  
on 31 December 2008 and Rexam ranked thirty second which fell 
below the median percentile of its 2006 comparator group. As a 
result, none of the shares under option vested and all outstanding 
options lapsed on 1 January 2009.

2007 grant
The 2007 options were granted through the 2007 LTIP to executive 
directors and Band 1 executives based on the multiple of 3.5 times 
annual base salary. The measurement period closed on  
31 December 2009 and Rexam ranked thirty seventh which fell 
below the median percentile of its 2007 comparator group. As a 
result, none of the shares under option vested and all outstanding 
options lapsed on 1 January 2010.

2008 grant
The 2008 options were granted through the 2007 LTIP to executive 
directors and Band 1 executives based on the multiple of 2.75 times 
annual base salary. The measurement period is 1 January 2008 to 
31 December 2010. Performance will be measured against the 
2008 comparator group.

TSR performance percentile within comparator group  
for the LTIP 2008 grant Vesting %

Below median None
Between median and thirtieth 30 – 90
Between thirtieth and tenth 90 – 100
Above tenth 100

Between the median and the thirtieth percentile and the thirtieth and 
tenth percentile, vesting will be calculated on a straight line basis.  
If Rexam’s performance is below the median at the end of the 
measurement period the options will lapse.

Comparator groups
The following companies, quoted on a number of the world’s  
major stock exchanges, comprise the comparator groups for the 
2007 and 2008 grant of options. Where companies are delisted 
within the performance period, they remain in their respective 
comparator group for the duration of the measurement period and 
the TSR is calculated by combining the return obtained prior to 
delisting with the return on the cash, equity or other instruments 
received in exchange for the original share for the balance of the 
measurement period.

2007 and 2008 comparator groups

Alcan (2007)1 L’Oréal
Alcoa Nestlé
Amcor Norsk Hydro
Anheuser-Busch3 Northern Foods
Aptar Group Owens-Illinois
Associated British Foods Pactiv
Akzo Nobel (2008)2 Pepsico (2008)2

Ball Procter & Gamble
Bemis Reckitt Benckiser
Cadbury Schweppes Rentokil Initial
Capita Group Rexam
Carlsberg SABMiller
Coca-Cola Co Scottish & Newcastle (2007)1

Crown Holdings Sealed Air
Dairy Crest Silgan Holdings
Diageo Smith & Nephew
Dow Chemical Smiths Group
Group Danone Smurfit-Stone
Heineken Sonoco Products
Huhtamäki Tate & Lyle
ICI (2007)1 Toyo Seikan
InBev Unilever
Johnson Matthey

1 Alcan, ICI and Scottish & Newcastle were omitted from the 2008 comparator group as they 
were subject to takeover offers in 2007. 

2 Akzo Nobel and Pepsico were not in the 2007 comparator group but replaced ICI and 
Scottish & Newcastle respectively in the 2008 comparator group. Alcan was not replaced  
in the 2008 comparator group.

 3 Anheuser-Busch was delisted in 2008.
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Details of the grants currently held by directors through the LTIS and 
2007 LTIP are shown on page 55.

Deferred Bonus Incentive Scheme
As disclosed in the Remuneration Report 2008, Graham Chipchase 
is entitled to exercise an option to acquire 57,777 shares for £1 
during a three month exercise period commencing on 1 January 
2010, subject to him being an employee of the Group at the date  
of exercise. The exercise of the option will be satisfied from shares 
which the Rexam Employee Share Trust has purchased or will 
purchase in the market. No awards were made through this incentive 
arrangement during 2009.

Details of the grant currently held by Graham Chipchase is shown  
on page 55.

Executive Share Option Schemes
Following the Reward Review, it was agreed that Bands 2 and 3 
senior management who would normally receive share incentives 
through the 2007 ESOS should participate in the 2009 LTIP. It is 
expected that no further grants will be made through the  
2007 ESOS.

Options were granted through the 1997 ESOS until 2006 and were 
subject to performance targets based on economic profit growth. 
Economic profit is the Group’s operating profit less a capital charge 
on net assets. The target was calculated by increasing the economic 
profit for the year prior to the year of grant over the three year 
measurement period at a predetermined annual growth rate. All 
shares vest if the actual aggregate economic profit is at or above the 
performance target. The performance target for the 2006 grant was 
not achieved and all outstanding options lapsed on 30 March 2009 
or 12 September 2009, depending on the date of grant.

1997 ESOS grant year Capital charge % pa Annual growth rate % pa

2006 11 5

Grants of options under the 2007 ESOS were made in 2007  
and 2008 and, as the executive directors and Band 1 executives 
did not participate in the grants, the Committee determined that no 
performance targets should be applied. All options will vest on the 
third anniversary of the date of grant subject to the rules of the 2007 
ESOS which, in most cases, includes the participant being employed 
on the date of vesting.

Savings Related Share Option Schemes
Grants were made under the 1997 SAYE and 2002 SAYE Ireland 
until 2006 and under the 2007 SAYE and 2007 SAYE Ireland  
from 2007.

The Company’s savings related share option schemes are open  
to all eligible employees in the UK and the Republic of Ireland. 
HMRC and the Revenue Commissioners determine the maximum 
savings period and the amount that can be saved per month. 
Options are granted to acquire, on the date when the contract 
matures, the number of shares that the total savings will buy at the 
acquisition price set at the date of grant. The options are not subject 
to performance targets. Eligible executive directors and Band 1 
executives are permitted to participate in the savings related share 
option schemes.

Details of the grants currently held by directors are shown on  
page 56.

Retirement benefits
Executive directors based in the UK are offered membership  
of the career average revalued earnings defined benefit Rexam 
Pension Plan (the Plan). A flat rate pension supplement is paid to 
executive directors where the Plan is not appropriate for them or  
in respect of any part of an executive director’s base salary which  
is not pensionable under the Plan.

The pensionable pay for members of the Plan is in effect their base 
salary. Each year they individually earn a pension entitlement equal 
to 1/30th of their pensionable pay in that year which is then revalued 
to age 60, which is their expected retirement age under the Plan. 
Members of the Plan approaching the Annual Allowance or Lifetime 
Allowance may elect for a lower pensionable pay and receive a 
corresponding pension supplement based on the reduction in 
pensionable pay. For those current members of the Plan, on death  
in service before reaching age 60 and with dependants, an age 
related amount of between 12 and 15 times salary is provided,  
with any amount not paid as a lump sum to beneficiaries being 
converted into dependants’ pensions.

The benefits provided to executive directors are set out in the rules  
of the Plan and as such are valued and funded as part of the Plan’s 
normal actuarial valuation cycle. Any surplus and deficit in respect of 
executive directors are aggregated, and funded with that of all other 
Plan members. Discretionary benefits for executive directors are also 
dealt with in the same way as benefits for other Plan members. There 
are no allowances for discretionary increases in cash equivalent 
transfer value calculations. The funding position of the Plan on an 
accounting basis is as reported in note 25 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

With the agreement of the employer and the Plan Trustee, early 
retirement benefits can be taken on cessation of employment after 
attainment of age 50 (increasing to age 55 from 6 April 2010 in 
line with a rise in the statutory minimum pension age) with accrued 
benefits reduced by 3% pa before age 60. On retirement, a member 
can elect to convert some of the pension into a tax free lump sum 
payment and, accordingly, take a smaller monthly pension. Pensions 
in payment are increased annually in line with the retail price index, 
subject to the rules of the Plan.

Graham Chipchase and David Robbie are members of the Plan and 
their retirement benefit arrangements are on the basis summarised in 
the paragraphs above. Details of their entitlements and transfer 
values under the defined benefit arrangements provided by the 
Group during 2009 are shown on page 54.

Leslie Van de Walle is also a member of the Plan and details of his 
entitlement are shown on page 54. During 2009 he elected to take 
lower pensionable pay and received a corresponding pension 
supplement as shown in the table on page 53. Following his 
retirement on 31 December 2009, he elected to take reduced early 
retirement benefits. Under his termination arrangements, part of his 
compensation arrangements will be applied to augment his 
retirement benefits, part of which will be through the Plan.

Bill Barker resigned as an executive director on 7 January 2009 and 
his employment with the Group terminated on 28 February 2009. 
He was not a member of the Plan but received a pension supplement 
equivalent to 60% of his base salary. Bill Barker has accrued 
retirement entitlements in respect of his employment with Rexam  
in the US prior to his appointment to the Board.
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Following the Reward Review all new executive appointments will 
join the Plan at an accrual rate of 1/45th for each year of service.  
The normal retirement age for new executive appointments will be 
65 and the reduction for early retirement will be cost neutral. The 
contingent dependants’ benefits will be between 8 and 12 times 
salary with any amount not paid as a lump sum to beneficiaries 
being converted into dependants’ pensions. Alternatively, new 
executive appointments can choose to receive a 25% cash pension 
supplement on any base salary chosen not to be pensionable under 
the Plan. This cash pension supplement is 30% for current executive 
directors on legacy pension terms.

Shareholding requirement
In order to forge a closer community of interest with shareholders, 
executive directors and Band 1 executives are required to 
accumulate a shareholding over time from shares acquired on the 
exercise of their share options. The Committee believes that the 
number of shares that each executive is required to accumulate 
remains appropriate and in line with the market.

Executive Shareholding requirement Rexam shares

Chief Executive 125,000
Executive directors 75,000
Band 1 executives 50,000

The shareholding must be retained until at least age 55 or age 60 
as specified at the time an individual is appointed, after which the 
individual is no longer subject to the shareholding requirement and 
may reduce the shareholding to facilitate retirement planning. 

During 2009 all the executive directors and Band 1 executives 
subject to the shareholding requirement have either met or, where the 
shareholding requirement level has not yet been met, have purchased 
ordinary shares where there has been opportunity to do so. Shares 
have not been acquired through the exercise of share options as no 
share options vested in the year.

Share performance
The following graph illustrates the Company’s share performance 
over the past five years in terms of total shareholder return compared 
with that of the FTSE 100 index of which the Company is a 
constituent. This index is a broad equity market index against which 
the Group’s performance is measured as it provides a cross section 
of other leading UK listed companies. The graph shows the 
cumulative TSR for the five year period ended 31 December 2009 
based on the value of £100 invested in Rexam ordinary shares on 
31 December 2004 compared with the value of £100 invested  
over the same period in the FTSE 100 share index.

The Rexam share prices for the period preceding the rights issue have 
been adjusted for the bonus element inherent in the rights issue.

Contracts of employment
The executive directors’ contracts of employment and the non 
executive directors’ letters of appointment are available for inspection 
by any shareholder of the Company during normal business hours  
at the registered office of the Company on Monday to Friday  
(public holidays excepted).

Duration of contracts 
The Company’s current policy is that all executive directors  
serve under contracts terminable on one year’s notice. However,  
in exceptional circumstances, the policy allows for an externally 
recruited executive director to be offered a contract terminable by  
the Company on two years’ notice if terminated in the first year of 
appointment. Thereafter, the contract becomes terminable on one 
year’s notice. No two year notice period exists for any current 
executive director.

Executive directors’ contracts continue until the director reaches  
the retirement age specified in the contract of employment (or such 
other date as agreed between the director and the Company).  
The contract can also be terminated by either party before the 
retirement age, subject to required notice.

Termination of contracts 
During 2009, the Company prepared a revised form of executive 
contract that applied with immediate effect to all new hires and 
promotions to executive director and Band 1 executive level. This 
contract includes the Company’s right to terminate the contracts 
immediately, even where termination is without cause. In such 
circumstances, the contract provides for a payment in lieu of notice  
to be made and calculated by reference to base pay, pension and 
other benefits. There is no provision for payment of any short term 
bonus in respect of the termination notice period. The Company  
will make this payment in monthly instalments over what would have 
been the notice period until the earlier of the director commencing  
in a new position or the notice period expiring. The executive has  
a duty to mitigate his/her loss of office and actively seek alternative 
comparable employment at the earliest opportunity, thereby reducing 
the need for compensation. The provisions relating to termination of 
office on a change of control have been removed from the revised 
form of contract. The new contract for Graham Chipchase as Chief 
Executive reflects this policy change, subject to a transition period  
as summarised on page 52.

Comparison of five year cumulative total shareholder return

Points on this graph show the relative value of an investment on the last trading day of each year 
Source: Alithos Limited
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Following a streamlining of the global Beverage Can leadership,  
Bill Barker resigned from the Board on 7 January 2009. His contract 
was terminated without cause and his termination arrangements  
were agreed in accordance with the Company’s policy. Details  
of Bill Barker’s compensation payment are summarised on  
pages 52 and 53.

Leslie Van de Walle
Leslie Van de Walle retired as Chief Executive Officer on  
31 December 2009. As compensation for the early loss of office, 
Leslie Van de Walle will be entitled to an amount of £1,599,000 
pursuant to his contract in respect of pay in lieu of notice, pension 
obligations and 2010 short term bonus at target. Part of this 
compensation will be applied to augment his retirement benefits.  
In addition, he is also entitled to healthcare cover and the payment 
of certain legal fees, all of which are included in the compensation 
amount disclosed in the table on page 53. The compensation 
amount is payable in twelve monthly instalments from January 2010. 
The instalments will continue until the earlier of Leslie Van de Walle 
commencing in a new position at a comparable executive level and 
the expiry of his notice period on 31 December 2010. Should Leslie 
Van de Walle secure new employment at a lower salary during his 
period of notice, he will be entitled to receive, for the unexpired 
notice period, a monthly payment based on the difference between 
the payment from Rexam and his new salary. He will receive no 
further awards under the Company’s share incentive arrangements 
and, subject to the further consideration of the Committee at the time 
vesting is determined, he may receive, if the award vests, the value 
of any outstanding award granted under the 2007 LTIP pro-rated  
to 31 December 2009.

Share based entitlements
Any share based rights granted to an executive director will be 
determined at the discretion of the Committee, as permitted by the 
rules of the relevant scheme. An executive director will not retain his 
right to acquire shares under options granted to him if he resigns from 
employment or is dismissed for gross misconduct.

Non executive directors
Non executive directors serve under letters of appointment and are 
generally appointed for an initial three year term renewable thereafter, 
at the discretion of the Board, for a maximum of two further three 
year terms. They are subject to election by shareholders at the first 
AGM following their appointment and to re-election at least once 
every three years thereafter. Appointments of non executive directors 
are terminable without compensation by either the Company or the 
director giving written notice.

The non executive directors receive an annual fee with an additional 
fee if they serve as chairman of a Board committee. The remuneration 
of the Chairman is determined by the Committee (the Chairman 
absenting himself from the discussions if present at the meeting) and 
non executive directors’ fees are recommended by the Chairman and 
Chief Executive and approved by the executive directors.

The fees of the Chairman, the senior independent director and the 
other non executive directors are reviewed in line with current market 
practice. From 1 January 2009, the fee for a non executive director 
(excluding the Chairman) is £50,000 pa with an additional fee of 
£10,000 pa if the non executive director is also chairman of a 
Board committee. The senior independent director receives an 
additional fee of £10,000 pa for the responsibilities of that position. 

External directorships
The Company’s policy on executive directors having non executive 
directorships with other companies is that such appointments are 
permitted, subject to the approval of the Chairman of the Board.  
Any fees payable will be retained by the executive director unless 
otherwise agreed. David Robbie is a non executive director of the 
BBC and a trustee of Aldeburgh Music. Leslie Van de Walle became 
a non executive director of Aviva plc in May 2009 and he resigned 
as a non executive director of Aegis Group plc in the same month.

The table on the next page shows details of the directors’ contracts 
and letters of appointment.
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Directors’ contracts

Executive director Notes
Date of  

appointment
Date of 

current contract
Retirement age

 in contract
Notice period  

(Company)
Compensation on  
early termination

Bill Barker (i) 21 January 2005 3 December 2004 60 1 year As policy
Graham Chipchase (ii) 10 February 2003 30 November 2009 60 1 year As policy
David Robbie 3 October 2005 24 August 2005 60 1 year As policy
Leslie Van de Walle (iii) 17 January 2007 11 September 2006 60 1 year As policy

Non executive director Notes
Date of  

appointment
Date of original  

letter of appointment

Effective date of  
current letter of  

appointment Expiry of term

Michael Buzzacott (iv) 17 May 2000 5 April 2000 20 March 2006 7 May 2009
Noreen Doyle 22 March 2006 20 March 2006 22 March 2009 21 March 2012
Peter Ellwood 1 February 2008 17 January 2008 1 February 2008 31 January 2011
John Langston 30 October 2008 30 October 2008 30 October 2008 29 October 2011
Wolfgang Meusburger 1 December 2006 26 October 2006 1 December 2009 30 November 2012
Jean-Pierre Rodier 7 June 2006 6 June 2006 7 June 2009 6 June 2012
Carl Symon 17 July 2003 16 July 2003 17 July 2009 16 July 2012

(i)  Bill Barker resigned as an executive director on 7 January 2009 and his contract as an employee of the Group ceased on 28 February 2009. He was entitled to a compensation payment of 
US$1,383,596 which has been paid to him in monthly instalments. His notice period expired on 27 January 2010 and as no new employment was secured by Bill Barker, the termination payment 
made by the Group was not mitigated.

(ii)  Graham Chipchase had a contract of employment dated 1 October 2002 that was effective from his commencement of employment with Rexam as Finance Director in February 2003. Following  
the announcement that Graham Chipchase would succeed Leslie Van de Walle as Chief Executive on 1 January 2010, a new contract of employment was signed on 30 November 2009 that was 
effective from 16 November 2009 and acknowledged his continuous employment from February 2003. The new contract reflects the Company’s policy as summarised in the section ‘Contracts of 
employment’ and, in the event of termination of the contract before 1 January 2011, short term bonus will be paid at target for 2010. Graham Chipchase’s annual salary was increased from 
£420,000 to £675,000 on his promotion to Chief Executive designate which reflected the market median.

(iii)  Leslie Van de Walle retired from the Board and as Chief Executive Officer on 31 December 2009.

(iv)  Michael Buzzacott retired from the Board at the conclusion of the AGM on 7 May 2009.
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Directors’ emoluments (audited information)

Notes

2009  
Fees/salary 

£000

2009 
Benefits  
in kind  
£000

2009 
Pension 

supplement 
£000

2009 
Bonus 
£000

2009 
Compensation 

payment   
£000

2009 
Total 

£000

2008 
Total 

£000

Chairman
Rolf Börjesson (retired 01.05.2008) – – 93
Peter Ellwood (appointed 01.02.2008) (i) 300 3 303 213

Non executive directors
Michael Buzzacott (retired 07.05.2009) 21 1 22 55
Noreen Doyle 60 60 55
John Langston (appointed 30.10.2008) 57 57 8
Wolfgang Meusburger 50 50 45
Jean-Pierre Rodier 50 50 45
Carl Symon 70 70 60

608 4 612 574

Executive directors
Bill Barker (resigned 07.01.2009) (ii) 82 19 41 905 1,047 958
Graham Chipchase 458 17 474 949 614
David Robbie 416 1 431 848 590
Leslie Van de Walle (retired 31.12.2009) (iii) 762 19 53 788 1,611 3,233 1,215

(iv) 1,718 56 94 1,693 2,516 6,077 3,377
2009 Total 2,326 60 94 1,693 2,516 6,689
2008 Total 2,645 73 275 958 – 3,951

(i)  Peter Ellwood was appointed a non executive director on 1 February 2008 and succeeded Rolf Börjesson as Chairman of the Company on 1 May 2008. 

(ii)  Bill Barker received a housing allowance of £20,000 for the period to 28 February 2009 when his employment with the Group terminated (2008: £73,077) which is included as salary in the table. 
Housing allowances are excluded for the purpose of calculating pension or incentive entitlements. The amounts in the table in respect of the 2008 financial year do not include any payments made  
in accordance with his termination arrangements.

(iii)  Leslie Van de Walle’s termination arrangements are disclosed on page 51. His compensation entitlement is £1,599,000 which, inclusive of healthcare cover and certain legal fees, gives a total 
entitlement of £1,611,000. Save for £5,000 paid in respect of legal fees, he did not receive any part of the compensation payment in 2009.

(iv)  The free cash flow target for 2009 was exceeded which resulted in a short term bonus of 103% (2008: 48%) of base salary received in the year, being payable to executive directors. Graham 
Chipchase and David Robbie have volunteered to invest half their 2009 bonus in Rexam shares. The level of potential bonus for the executive directors is 75% of base salary for achievement of target, 
together with up to an additional 75% of base salary calculated on a straight line basis if targets are exceeded as explained on page 46. The directors were also subject to personal performance 
objectives. Whilst these objectives were achieved, no adjustment was made to their bonus payment to reflect above or below expected personal performance.

The benefits in kind provided to directors comprise one or more of healthcare, relocation expenses, accommodation and the payment  
of certain professional fees. Executive directors are offered membership of a Group pension scheme, which includes life assurance protection. 

The total amount of fees earned by executive directors in respect of external non executive directorships, not included in the above table, in the 
financial year to 31 December 2009 was £40,800 (2008: £40,000) by David Robbie and £63,004 (2008: £42,083) by  
Leslie Van de Walle.

No amounts were paid to third parties in respect of any executive director’s services to the Company and no termination payments were made  
to any past directors during the year, save those payable to Bill Barker as disclosed above. 

Following his retirement from the Board on 3 May 2007, David Tucker continued as chairman of the Rexam Retirement Benefits Committee.  
He received fees of £10,000 (2008: £10,000) from the Company in respect of this chairmanship.

Details of each director’s share incentives can be found on pages 55 and 56.
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Retirement benefits (audited information)
The following directors were members of defined benefit arrangements provided by the Company during the year. Entitlements and 
corresponding transfer values are shown in the table below.

(1)
Gross increase

in accrued
pension

per annum 
£000

(2)
Increase in 

accrued pension 
excluding inflation 

per annum 
£000

(3)
Total accrued 

 pension
31.12.09 
per annum 

£000

(4)
Transfer value 

of net increase
 in accrual over 

period 
£000

(5)
Change in 

transfer 
value during 

period 
£000

(6)
Transfer value 

of accrued 
pension at 
31.12.09 

£000

(7)
Transfer value 

of accrued 
pension at
31.12.08 

£000 

Graham Chipchase 15 15 66 178 497 1,052 523
David Robbie 15 15 54 148 390 829 390
Leslie Van de Walle 18 18 66 457 988 1,669 681

Gross decrease
in accrued
entitlement 

£000

Decrease in 
accrued entitlement 
excluding inflation 

£000 

Total accrued 
 entitlement 
31.12.09 

£000

Transfer value 
of net decrease 

in accrual 
over period 

£000

Change in 
transfer 

value during 
period 
£000

Transfer value 
 of accrued 

entitlement at
31.12.09 

£000

Transfer value 
of accrued 

entitlement at
31.12.08

£000 

Bill Barker (11) (20) 344 (20) (41) 344 385

(i)  Pension accruals shown are the amounts which would be paid annually on retirement based on service to 31 December 2009. For Bill Barker, the entitlement is in respect of accrued cash balance 
benefits relating to his employment in the US. 

(ii)  Transfer values (columns 4, 6 and 7) have been calculated in accordance with or consistent with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 1996.

(iii)  The value of net increase in accrual (column 4) represents the incremental value to the director of the benefit accrued. It is based on the increase in accrued pension (column 2) after deducting 
contributions made by the director.

(iv)  The change in the transfer value (column 5) includes the effect of fluctuations in the transfer value due to factors beyond the control of the Company or the director, such as long term interest rate and 
exchange rate movements. It is calculated after deducting contributions made by the director.

(v) Voluntary contributions paid by directors and resulting benefits are not shown within the table.

(vi) Part of Leslie Van de Walle’s compensation arrangements already included in the amount shown in the table on page 53 will be used to augment his retirement benefits with effect from 31 December 
2009, the impact of which is reflected in the table on this page. The amounts disclosed under columns (1) to (4) are based on Leslie Van de Walle’s pension prior to any cash commutation and after  
the augmentation. The amount disclosed under column (6) is the value of the pension after taking account of a cash commutation of £256,439 paid by the Rexam Pension Plan on his retirement.

(vii) Following Bill Barker’s cessation of employment on 28 February 2009, part of his pension benefit is now being paid to him. The first instalment of $40,387 was paid in 2009 and the impact of this  
is included in the table.

There were no pension contributions paid for any executive director by any Group employer in respect of defined contribution schemes in 2009 
or 2008.
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Share options (audited information)
The interests of the directors in the shares of the Company through the Company’s share option schemes are disclosed in the tables below. 
Where the number of shares under option remains outstanding at 31 December 2009, the number of shares and, where applicable, the 
exercise price, have been adjusted for the bonus element inherent in the rights issue. There is no requirement for an executive director to make  
a payment on the grant of an option under any of the schemes. The performance conditions applicable to the LTIS and 2007 LTIP are based  
on Rexam’s relative TSR performance against a specified comparator group of companies. A summary of the performance conditions that apply 
to the LTIS and 2007 LTIP can be found on pages 47 and 48. Except for any adjustment in respect of the rights issue, no variations were made 
during the year to the terms and conditions of any options.

The exercise of options granted under the 2007 LTIP and 2009 LTIP will be satisfied from Rexam ordinary shares that the Rexam Employee Share 
Trust, a discretionary trust resident in Jersey, Channel Islands has purchased or will purchase in the market and the cost will normally be met by 
each participant’s employing company. Any ordinary shares purchased to satisfy in part the vesting obligations are held to the order of the 
Rexam Employee Share Trust. The exercise of options granted under the 1997 ESOS, 2007 ESOS, 1997 SAYE, 2007 SAYE, 2002 SAYE 
Ireland and 2007 SAYE Ireland will be satisfied from the allotment of new ordinary shares.

Long Term Incentive Scheme and Long Term Incentive Plans
The options granted on 16 May 2006 did not vest and the respective number of shares under option lapsed on 1 January 2009. The options 
granted on 10 May 2007 have not vested and the respective number of shares under option lapsed on 1 January 2010. The maximum number 
of ordinary shares to which the participant is entitled is reflected in the ‘Granted’ columns of the table. Options that vest are generally exercisable 
between the vesting date and six years and eleven months from the grant date. Directors and former directors held the following options over 
ordinary shares through the LTIS and the 2007 LTIP. No options over ordinary shares are held through the 2009 LTIP.

Note
Scheme
Note (i) Grant date

Exercise
price per  

share
pence

Exercise
price per  

holding
£

First
exercise

date
Note (ii)

Expiry
date

Note (ii)

Granted
1.1.09
number

Rights issue 
adjustment

number
Note (iii)

Lapsed 
during

the year
number

Granted
31.12.09

number

Bill Barker (iv) LTIS 16.05.06 0.1 01.01.09 15.04.13 245,300 245,300 –
(v) LTIP 10.05.07 1 01.01.10 09.04.14 257,400 31,505 288,905

LTIP 26.03.08 1 01.01.11 25.02.15 223,000 27,295 250,295
725,700 58,800 245,300 539,200

Graham Chipchase (iv) LTIS 16.05.06 0.1 01.01.09 15.04.13 270,600 270,600 –
(v) LTIP 10.05.07 1 01.01.10 09.04.14 257,400 31,505 288,905

LTIP 26.03.08 1 01.01.11 25.02.15 223,000 27,295 250,295
751,000 58,800 270,600 539,200

David Robbie (iv) LTIS 16.05.06 0.1 01.01.09 15.04.13 260,500 260,500 –
(v) LTIP 10.05.07 1 01.01.10 09.04.14 250,800 30,697 281,497

LTIP 26.03.08 1 01.01.11 25.02.15 217,700 26,646 244,346
729,000 57,343 260,500 525,843

Leslie Van de Walle (iv) LTIS 20.03.07 0.1 01.01.09 15.04.13 695,876 695,876 –
(v) LTIP 10.05.07 1 01.01.10 09.04.14 494,900 60,575 555,475

LTIP 26.03.08 1 01.01.11 25.02.15 398,200 48,739 446,939
1,588,976 109,314 695,876 1,002,414

(i) Options granted under the Long Term Incentive Scheme are shown as LTIS and options granted under the 2007 LTIP as LTIP.

(ii)  The first exercise date and the expiry date are dependent upon the options vesting but the final expiry date must be no later than six years and eleven months from the grant date.

(iii) Adjustment for the bonus element inherent in the rights issue.

(iv) Options lapsed on 1 January 2009 as the performance target had not been achieved.

(v) Options lapsed on 1 January 2010 as the performance target had not been achieved.

(vi) No options were granted, vested or exercised during the year through the LTIS or 2007 LTIP. The options proposed during 2009 under the 2009 LTIP were discontinued. 

Deferred Bonus Incentive Scheme
Following the acquisition of OI Plastics in August 2007, Graham Chipchase was awarded a deferred bonus incentive over ordinary shares.  
The target achievement was 56.1% and the option vested in 2008 in respect of 51,477 ordinary shares. Subject to Graham Chipchase being 
an employee of the Group at the date of exercise, the option is exercisable between the 1 January 2010 and 31 March 2010. 

Grant date

Exercise
price  

£

First
exercise

date
Expiry

date

Granted
1.1.09
number

Rights issue 
adjustment

number
Note (i)

Granted
31.12.09

number

Graham Chipchase 24.12.07 1 01.01.10 31.03.10 51,477 6,300 57,777

(i)  Adjustment for the bonus element inherent in the rights issue.

(ii)  No options were granted or exercised during the year.
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Share options (audited information) continued
Savings Related Share Option Scheme
Directors and former directors held the following options over ordinary shares through the 2007 SAYE.

Grant 
date

Exercise
price per  

share
(Note (i)

£

Exercise
period

commences
Expiry

date

Granted
1.1.09
number 

Granted  
during 

the year
number

Rights issue 
adjustment

number
Note (ii)

Lapsed 
during 

the year
number

Note (iii) 

Granted
31.12.09 

number

Graham Chipchase 05.09.08 2.9136 01.12.13 31.05.14 4,977 609 5,586 –
15.10.09 2.12 01.12.14 31.05.15 7,334 7,334

4,977 7,334 609 5,586 7,334
David Robbie 05.09.08 2.9136 01.12.11 31.05.12 2,874 351 3,225 –

15.10.09 2.12 01.12.14 31.05.15 7,334 7,334
2,874 7,334 351 3,225 7,334

Leslie Van de Walle 05.09.08 2.9136 01.12.11 31.05.12 2,874 351 3,225 –
15.10.09 2.12 01.12.12 31.05.13 4,280 4,280

2,874 4,280 351 3,225 4,280

(i) The exercise price for the 2008 options was £3.27 per share before adjustment for the bonus element inherent in the rights issue. The 2009 options were granted after the rights issue.

(ii) Adjustment for the bonus element inherent in the rights issue.

(iii) Graham Chipchase, David Robbie and Leslie Van de Walle chose to cancel the savings contracts for the options granted to them on 5 September 2008 and the related shares granted under option 
therefore lapsed. Graham Chipchase, David Robbie and Leslie Van de Walle applied for and were granted options on 15 October 2009.

(iv) No options granted to directors under any of the savings related share option schemes were exercised during the year.

The mid market price of a Rexam PLC ordinary share at 31 December 2009 was £2.906 and the range during 2009 was £1.9935 to 
£3.2253. The aggregate gain on the exercise of directors’ share options during 2009 through all share option schemes was £nil (2008: £nil).

Directors’ interests in Rexam ordinary shares (audited information)

At 31.12.09 At 1.1.09

Graham Chipchase 82,493 58,052
Noreen Doyle 8,360 4,131
Peter Ellwood 57,460 30,437
John Langston 4,090 –
Wolfgang Meusburger 12,276 9,000
David Robbie 23,479 16,523
Jean-Pierre Rodier 8,181 6,000
Carl Symon 21,136 15,500
Leslie Van de Walle 76,599 56,173

All directors subscribed for and received their full entitlement to new ordinary shares offered through the rights issue.

Leslie Van de Walle held 701,000 units (Bond Units) of the Company’s 6.75% Capital Securities due 2067 (Subordinated Bond) with a value  
at maturity of Euro 701,000 at 1 January 2009. During 2009 he purchased a further 564,000 Bond Units with a value at maturity of Euro 
564,000 and therefore at 31 December 2009, he held 1,265,000 Bond Units with a value at maturity of Euro 1,265,000. Leslie Van de 
Walle has pledged 701,000 Bond Units and 56,173 ordinary shares as security against a personal overdraft facility arranged to fund the 
purchase of 701,000 Bond Units. Further general details of the Subordinated Bond can be found in note 22 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The above interests in ordinary shares, options over ordinary shares and the Bond Units as at 31 December 2009 remain unchanged as at  
the date of this Report, with the exception that Leslie Van de Walle’s interests are no longer included as at the date of this Report as he retired  
as a director on 31 December 2009, and the options granted on 10 May 2007 under the 2007 LTIP lapsed in full on 1 January 2010.

On behalf of the Board 
Carl Symon 
Remuneration Committee Chairman  
17 February 2010
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors are required to prepare 
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union 
and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group 
for that year. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•  State whether IFRS as adopted by the European Union and applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the consolidated and Company financial statements respectively;

• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements and the Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the consolidated financial statements, Article 4 
of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed in the Directors and Officers section of the Annual Report, confirm that, to the best  
of their knowledge:

•  The consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view  
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the Group; 

•  The Business Review includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with  
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces; and

•  The Company financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable 
law, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company.
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Rexam PLC for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the Consolidated 
income statement, the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated cash flow statement, 
the Consolidated statement of changes in equity and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities on page 58, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of  
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2009 and of its loss and cash flows for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the lAS Regulation. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the consolidated financial statements are prepared  
is consistent with the consolidated financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

• the directors’ statement on page 34, in relation to going concern; and 

•  the part of the Corporate Governance Report relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined 
Code specified for our review. 

Other matter 
We have reported separately on the company financial statements of Rexam PLC for the year ended 31 December 2009 and on the information 
in the Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited. 

Robert Milburn (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
17 February 2010

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Rexam PLC
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Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 December Notes
2009

£m
 2008  
 £m

Sales 2 4,866 4,618
Operating expenses 3 (4,774) (4,238)
 Underlying operating profit 2 446 466
 Exceptional items 6 (309) (42)
 Amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets (45) (44)
Operating profit 92 380
 Share of underlying post tax profits of associates and joint ventures 15 1 1
 Exceptional items 6 (4) –
Share of post tax (losses)/profits of associates and joint ventures (3) 1
Retirement benefit obligations net finance cost 25 (31) (7)
 Underlying interest expense 7 (134) (144)
 Fair value changes on financing derivatives 7 14 (2)
Interest expense 7 (120) (146)
Interest income 7 3 12
 Underlying profit before tax 285 328
 Exceptional items 6 (313) (42)
 Amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets (45) (44)
 Fair value changes on financing derivatives 7 14 (2)
(Loss)/profit before tax (59) 240
 Tax on underlying profit (85) (102)
 Tax on exceptional items 6 103 18
 Tax on amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets 16 14
 Tax on fair value changes on financing derivatives (4) 1
Tax 8 30 (69)
(Loss)/profit for the financial year (29) 171
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of Rexam PLC (29) 172
Minority interests – (1)

(29) 171

For the year ended 31 December Notes
2009
Pence

2008
restated

Pence

(Loss)/earnings per share
Basic 9 (3.7) 23.9
Diluted 9 (3.7) 23.9
Underlying 9 25.4 31.5

For details of equity dividends paid and proposed see note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The notes on pages 65 to 104 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December Notes
2009

£m
 2008  
 £m

(Loss)/profit for the financial year (29) 171
 Actuarial losses on retirement benefits 25 (181) (30)
 Tax on actuarial losses on retirement benefits 8 61 4
 Exchange differences before recognition of net investment hedges 28 (207) 651
 Net investment hedges recognised 28 57 (184)
 Exchange differences recycled to the income statement on disposal of subsidiaries 28/31 (14) –
 Cash flow hedges recognised 28 73 (189)
 Tax on cash flow hedges 28 (48) 35
 Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory 28 163 9
 Cash flow hedges transferred to the income statement 28 14 –
 Changes in market value of available for sale financial assets 28 (4) 3
Other comprehensive income for the year (86) 299
Total comprehensive income for the year (115) 470
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of Rexam PLC (115) 471
Minority interests – (1)

(115) 470
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As at 31 December Notes
2009 

£m
2008 

£m

Assets
Non current assets
Goodwill 11 1,886 2,246
Other intangible assets 12 595 703
Property, plant and equipment 13 1,723 1,982
Investments in associates and joint ventures 15 54 63
Pension asset 25 – 16
Deferred tax assets 8 201 137
Trade and other receivables 18 80 63
Available for sale financial assets 16 21 30
Derivative financial instruments 24 275 342

4,835 5,582
Current assets
Inventories 17 432 614
Trade and other receivables 18 630 833
Available for sale financial assets 16 2 1
Derivative financial instruments 24 65 54
Cash and cash equivalents 19 113 75
Assets classified as held for sale 20 4 39

1,246 1,616
Total assets 6,081 7,198

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings 22 (140) (587)
Derivative financial instruments 24 (17) (265)
Current tax (15) (4)
Trade and other payables 21 (748) (1,053)
Provisions 26 (62) (21)
Liabilities classified as held for sale 20 – (15)

(982) (1,945)
Non current liabilities
Borrowings 22 (1,955) (2,272)
Derivative financial instruments 24 (141) (229)
Retirement benefit obligations 25 (396) (244)
Deferred tax liabilities 8 (99) (151)
Non current tax (87) (91)
Other payables 21 (47) (33)
Provisions 26 (52) (57)

(2,777) (3,077)
Total liabilities (3,759) (5,022)
Net assets 2,322 2,176

Equity
Ordinary share capital 563 413
Share premium account 989 1,005
Capital redemption reserve 351 351
Retained earnings 55 77
Other reserves 28 362 328
Shareholders’ equity 2,320 2,174
Minority interests 2 2
Total equity 2,322 2,176

Approved by the Board on 17 February 2010

Graham Chipchase, Chief Executive 

David Robbie, Finance Director

Consolidated balance sheet
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For the year ended 31 December Notes
2009 

£m
2008 

£m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 32 708 396
Interest paid (142) (133)
Tax paid (62) (62)
Net cash flows from operating activities 504 201

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditure (184) (389)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 10 6
Acquisition of subsidiaries 30 (5) (112)
Disposal of subsidiaries 31 19 –
Acquisition of joint venture – (2)
Disposal of associate 2 –
Interest received 3 12
Net cash flows from investing activities (155) (485)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 19 477
Repayment of borrowings (540) (115)
Proceeds from rights issue (net of expenses of £16m) 27 334 –
Proceeds from issue of share capital on options – 1
Dividends paid to equity shareholders (79) (131)
Net cash flows from financing activities (266) 232

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 83 (52)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (25) 36
Exchange differences and other adjustments 4 (9)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 83 (52)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 62 (25)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash at bank and in hand 40 62
Short term bank deposits 73 13
Bank overdrafts (51) (100)

62 (25)

Consolidated cash flow statement
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Notes

Ordinary 
share 

capital
£m

Share 
premium 
account

£m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
£m

Retained 
earnings

£m

Other 
reserves 

£m

Shareholders’ 
equity

£m

Minority 
interests 

£m

Total
equity

£m

At 1 January 2009 413 1,005 351 77 328 2,174 2 2,176
Loss for the financial year – – – (29) – (29) – (29)
 Actuarial losses on retirement benefits 25 – – – (181) – (181) – (181)
 Tax on actuarial losses on retirement benefits 8 – – – 61 – 61 – 61
 Exchange differences before recognition of  
 net investment hedges 28 – – – – (207) (207) – (207)
 Net investment hedges recognised 28 – – – – 57 57 – 57
 Exchange differences recycled to the income  
 statement on disposal of subsidiaries 28 – – – – (14) (14) – (14)
 Cash flow hedges recognised 28 – – – – 73 73 – 73
 Tax on cash flow hedges 28 – – – – (48) (48) – (48)
 Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory 28 – – – – 163 163 – 163
 Cash flow hedges transferred to the  
 income statement 28 – – – – 14 14 – 14
 Changes in market value of available  
 for sale financial assets 28 – – – – (4) (4) – (4)
Other comprehensive income for the year – – – (120) 34 (86) – (86)
Total comprehensive income for the year – – – (149) 34 (115) – (115)
Proceeds from rights issue (net of expenses of £16m) 27 150 (16) – – 200 334 – 334
Transfer to retained earnings 27 – – – 200 (200) – – –
Share options: value of services provided – – – 6 – 6 – 6
Dividends paid to equity shareholders – – – (79) – (79) – (79)
At 31 December 2009 563 989 351 55 362 2,320 2 2,322

At 1 January 2008 413 1,004 351 60 3 1,831 2 1,833
Profit/(loss) for the financial year – – – 172 – 172 (1) 171
  Actuarial losses on retirement benefits 25 – – – (30) – (30) – (30)
 Tax on actuarial losses on retirement benefits 8 – – – 4 – 4 – 4
 Exchange differences before recognition of  
 net investment hedges 28 – – – – 651 651 – 651
 Net investment hedges recognised 28 – – – – (184) (184) – (184)
 Cash flow hedges recognised 28 – – – – (189) (189) – (189)
 Tax on cash flow hedges 28 – – – – 35 35 – 35
 Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory 28 – – – – 9 9 – 9
 Changes in market value of available  
 for sale financial assets 28 – – – – 3 3 – 3
Other comprehensive income for the year – – – (26) 325 299 – 299
Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 146 325 471 (1) 470
Share options: value of services provided – – – 2 – 2 – 2
Share options: proceeds from shares issued – 1 – – – 1 – 1
Dividends paid to equity shareholders – – – (131) – (131) – (131)
Increase in minority interests – – – – – – 1 1
At 31 December 2008 413 1,005 351 77 328 2,174 2 2,176
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1 Principal accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as adopted by the European Union and with those parts of the Companies 
Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified by the revaluation of certain financial instruments, share based payments and retirement benefit obligations. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, comparative amounts for earnings per share and dividends per share have been restated  
as a result of the July 2009 rights issue. For more information see notes 9, 10 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS as of 1 January 2009.

(i)  IFRS8 ‘Operating Segments’. For more information see the accounting policy for segment reporting and note 2 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

(ii)  IAS1 (Revised) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’. The revised standard requires all non shareholder changes in equity to be presented 
separately from shareholder changes in equity. As a result, the Group presents non shareholder changes in equity in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income and shareholder changes in equity in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(iii)  IFRS7 ‘Financial instruments - Disclosures’ (Amendment). The amendment requires enhanced disclosures concerning fair value measurement 
and liquidity risk. In particular, the amendment requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a fair value measurement hierarchy.

(iv)  IFRS2 (Amendment), ‘Share based payment’. This amendment deals with vesting conditions and cancellations. It clarifies that vesting conditions 
are only service and performance conditions. Other features of a share based payment are not vesting conditions. These non vesting features 
would need to be included in the grant date fair value for transactions with employees; they would not impact the number of awards expected 
to vest or valuation thereof subsequent to grant date. The amendment does not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(v)  IAS23 (Revised) ‘Borrowing Costs’. This revision of an existing standard requires the capitalisation of borrowing costs directly attributable to 
an acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as part 
of the cost of that asset. The revision does not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The following accounting standards and amendments to existing standards are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. 

(i)  IFRS3 (Revised) ‘Business Combinations’. This revision to an existing standard continues to apply the acquisition method to business 
combinations with certain changes which could impact the Group. For example, all payments to purchase a business must be recorded  
at fair value at the acquisition date with contingent payments classified as debt and subsequently remeasured through the consolidated 
income statement. In addition, all transaction costs must be expensed. The Group will adopt IFRS3 (Revised) from 1 January 2010.

(ii)  IAS27 (Revised) ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’. This revision to an existing standard requires an entity to attribute 
comprehensive income to the parent company and any minority interest even if this results in the minority interest having a deficit balance.  
It specifies that changes in a parent company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in the loss of control must be accounted  
for as equity transactions. It also specifies how an entity should measure any gain or loss arising on the loss of control of a subsidiary, 
whereby at the date when control is lost, any investment retained in the former subsidiary will have to be measured at its fair value.  
The Group will adopt IAS27 (Revised) from 1 January 2010.

There are no other accounting standards or IFRICs that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the Group.

Key estimates and assumptions
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, events or actions, actual results 
may ultimately differ from those estimates. The key estimates and assumptions used in these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Goodwill impairment testing
Goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment in accordance with the accounting policy for goodwill. The recoverable amounts of cash 
generating units are determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates which include cash flow 
projections for each cash generating unit and discount rates based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for specific risks 
associated with particular cash generating units. During 2009 an impairment to goodwill of £196m was made as detailed in note 11 to the 
consolidated financial statements. Since the carrying amount of any remaining goodwill allocated to cash generating units impaired in 2009  
is equal to its recoverable amount, any unfavourable change in the value attributed to the key assumptions will result in a further goodwill 
impairment charge.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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1 Principal accounting policies continued 
Retirement benefit obligations
The consolidated financial statements include costs in relation to, and provision for, retirement benefit obligations. There are two principal funded 
defined benefit pension plans, in the UK and US, and an unfunded retiree medical plan in the US. The costs and the present value of any related 
pension assets and liabilities depend on factors such as life expectancy of the members, the salary progression of current employees, the returns 
that plan assets generate and the discount rate used to calculate the present value of the liabilities. The Group uses estimates based on previous 
experience and third party actuarial advice in determining these future cash flows and in determining the discount rate. If the discount rates were 
to fall by 0.5%, the net liabilities of the plans at 31 December 2009 would rise by approximately £105m (2008: £95m). If equity values were 
to fall by 10%, then the plan assets at 31 December 2009 would fall by approximately £100m (2008: £75m). The accounting policy for 
retirement benefit obligations is set out below and details of the assumptions used for the two principal pension plans and the retiree medical 
plan are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations whose ultimate tax treatment  
is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes are likely to be due.  
The Group recognises deferred tax assets and liabilities based on estimates of future taxable income and recoverability. Where a change in 
circumstance occurs, or the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax balances in the year in which that change or outcome is known. The accounting policy for income taxes 
is set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise Rexam PLC and all its subsidiaries, together with the Group’s share of the results of its associates 
and joint ventures. The financial statements of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are prepared as of the same reporting date using 
consistent accounting policies. Intercompany balances and transactions, including any unrealised profits arising from intercompany transactions, 
are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are entities where the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally accompanied by a share of 
more than 50% of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are included 
until the date on which the Group ceases to control them. Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, 
generally accompanied by a share of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Joint ventures are entities over which the Group has joint 
control, whereby the strategic, financial and operating decisions relating to the venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control and are generally accompanied by a 50% share of voting rights. Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using  
the equity method. If the Group’s share of losses in an associate or joint venture equals or exceeds its investment in the associate or joint venture, 
the Group does not recognise further losses unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

All acquisitions are accounted for by applying the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair values, 
at the acquisition date, of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group, together with any costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition. The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree are measured initially at fair value 
at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill.

Foreign currencies
The financial statements for each of the Group’s subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are prepared using their functional currency. The 
functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates. The presentation currency of the Group is 
sterling. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Exchange differences resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are recognised directly in the consolidated income 
statement. Exceptions to this are where the monetary items form part of the net investment in a foreign operation or designated as hedges of a 
net investment, or designated as cash flow hedges. Such exchange differences are initially recognised in equity. 

The balance sheets of foreign operations are translated into sterling using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date and the income statements 
are translated into sterling using the average exchange rate for the year. Where this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative 
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, the exchange rate on the transaction date is used. Exchange differences on translation into 
sterling arising since 1 January 2004 are recognised as a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, any cumulative 
exchange differences held in equity are recycled to the consolidated income statement.

The principal exchange rates against sterling used in these consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Average
2009

Closing
2009

Average 
2008

Closing
2008

Euro 1.12 1.11 1.26 1.04
US dollar 1.57 1.61 1.86 1.48

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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1 Principal accounting policies continued 
Revenue recognition and other income
Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration, net of rebates and trade discounts. Revenue from the sale of 
goods is recognised when the Group has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods to the buyer, when the amount 
of revenue can be measured reliably and when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group, 
typically on delivery of goods. The Group makes certain advance payments to customers in relation to contracts which are charged in the 
consolidated income statement over the useful economic lives of the contracts. Other income includes licence income and project management 
fees for the construction of manufacturing lines on behalf of customers.

Exceptional items
Items which are exceptional, being material in terms of size and/or nature, are presented separately from underlying business performance in  
the consolidated income statement. The separate reporting of exceptional items helps provide an indication of the Group’s underlying business 
performance. The principal events which may give rise to exceptional items include the restructuring and integration of businesses, significant 
changes to retirement benefit obligations, gains or losses on the disposal of businesses, goodwill impairments, major asset impairments and 
significant litigation and tax claims. 

Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution pension plans. 

A defined benefit pension plan is one that specifies the amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement. The Group 
operates both funded defined benefit pension plans, where actuarially determined payments are made to trustee administered funds, and 
unfunded defined benefit pension plans, where no such payments are made. The asset or liability recognised in the consolidated balance sheet 
in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation less, for funded schemes, the fair value of plan 
assets at the balance sheet date. The defined benefit obligation is calculated, at least triennially, by independent actuaries using the projected 
unit credit method and is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension 
liability. The current service cost and gains and losses on settlements and curtailments are included in operating expenses in the consolidated 
income statement. Past service costs are similarly included where the benefits have vested, otherwise they are amortised on a straight line basis 
over the vesting period. The expected return on assets of funded defined benefit pension plans, less administration expenses of pension plans, 
and the interest on pension plan liabilities comprise the pension element of the net finance cost in the consolidated income statement. Differences 
between the actual and expected return on assets, experience gains and losses and changes in actuarial assumptions are included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

A defined contribution plan is one under which fixed contributions are paid to a third party. The Group has no further payment obligations  
once these contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised in the consolidated income statement when they are due. Prepaid 
contributions are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments  
is likely. 

The Group also provides post retirement healthcare benefits (retiree medical) to certain of its current and former employees. The entitlement to 
these benefits is usually conditional on an employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. 
The consolidated income statement and consolidated balance sheet treatment with respect to retiree medical is similar to that for defined benefit 
pension plans. These obligations are valued by independent actuaries, usually on an annual basis.

Share based payment
The Group operates various equity settled and cash settled share option schemes. For equity settled share options, the services received from 
employees are measured by reference to the fair value of the share options. The fair value is calculated at grant date and recognised in the 
consolidated income statement, together with a corresponding increase in equity, on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on  
an estimate of the number of options that will eventually vest. Vesting conditions, which comprise service conditions and performance conditions, 
are not taken into account when estimating the fair value. All non vesting conditions are included in the fair value. For cash settled share options, 
the services received from employees are measured at the fair value of the liability and recognised in the consolidated income statement on a 
straight line basis over the vesting period. The fair value of the liability is measured at each balance sheet date and at the date of settlement with 
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement. IFRS2 ‘Share based Payment’ has been applied to equity settled share 
options granted after 7 November 2002 and to all cash settled share options. The Rexam Employee Share Trust holds ordinary shares in Rexam 
PLC which are presented in the consolidated balance sheet as a deduction from equity.

Interest
Interest on cash and cash equivalents and borrowings held at amortised cost is recognised in the consolidated income statement using the 
effective interest method. Interest includes exchange differences arising on cash and cash equivalents and borrowings, where such exchange 
differences are recognised in the consolidated income statement. Interest includes all fair value gains and losses on derivative financial 
instruments, and corresponding adjustments to hedged items under designated fair value hedging relationships, where they relate to financing 
activities and are recognised in the consolidated income statement. Interest relating to payments made over an extended period of development 
of large capital projects is added to the capital cost and amortised over the expected lives of those projects.

Non hedge accounted financing derivative financial instruments fair value changes and hedge ineffectiveness on financing derivative financial 
instruments are separately disclosed, within interest, on the face of the consolidated income statement.
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1 Principal accounting policies continued
Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief 
operating decision maker has been identified as the Executive Leadership Team, which comprises the executive directors and certain Band 1 
executives. The Executive Leadership Team is responsible for assessing the performance of the operating segments for the purpose of making 
decisions about resources to be allocated. Operating segments are combined for external reporting purposes where they have similar economic 
characteristics, and the nature of products and production processes, the type and class of customers and the methods to distribute products are 
all similar.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the 
acquiree at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested for impairment at 31 December each year and at any time where there is any indication 
that goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. At the date of acquisition, goodwill is allocated 
to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Goodwill arising on acquisitions on or before 31 December 1997 has been 
deducted from equity. Gains and losses on the disposal of a business include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the business sold except 
for any goodwill deducted from equity. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented in goodwill and goodwill arising on the 
acquisition of associates and joint ventures is presented in investments in associates and joint ventures. Internally generated goodwill is not 
recognised as an asset.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation begins when an asset 
is available for use and is calculated on a straight line basis to allocate the cost of the asset over its estimated useful life as follows:

Computer software acquired 2 to 3 years
Computer software developed Up to 7 years
Customer contracts and relationships acquired 5 to 20 years
Technology and patents acquired 5 to 20 years
Other development projects Up to 5 years

The cost of intangible assets acquired in an acquisition is the fair value at acquisition date. The cost of separately acquired intangible assets, 
including computer software, comprises the purchase price and any directly attributable costs of preparing the asset for use. Computer software 
development costs that are directly associated with the implementation of major business systems are capitalised as intangible assets. Expenditure 
on research is recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement as incurred. Expenditure incurred on other development projects  
is capitalised as an intangible asset if it is probable that the expenditure will generate future economic benefits and can be measured reliably. 

The amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets, comprising acquired customer contracts and relationships and technology and patents,  
is separately disclosed within operating profit on the face of the consolidated income statement.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost comprises purchase 
price and directly attributable costs. Freehold land and assets under construction are not depreciated. For all other property, plant and equipment, 
depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis to allocate cost, less residual value of the assets, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold buildings Up to 50 years
Leasehold buildings Shorter of 50 years or lease term
Manufacturing machinery 7 to 17 years
Computer hardware Up to 8 years
Fixtures, fittings and vehicles 4 to 10 years

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Impairment of assets
This policy applies to all assets except inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non current assets classified as held for sale. At each 
balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists, 
the Group makes an estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is written 
down to its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use and is determined for an 
individual asset. If the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined. Discount rates reflecting the asset specific risks and  
the time value of money are used for the value in use calculation. When an asset is written down to its recoverable amount the impairment loss  
is recognised in the consolidated income statement in the year in which it is incurred. Impairment losses incurred in a cash generating unit  
or group of cash generating units are applied against the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units. Where no goodwill exists,  
the impairment losses reduce the other assets of the cash generating units. Should circumstances change which result in a reversal of a previous 
impairment, the value of the asset is increased and the reversal is recognised in the consolidated income statement in the year in which it occurs. 
The increase in the carrying amount of the asset is limited to the amount which would have been recorded had no impairment been recognised 
in prior years. Impairment losses applied to goodwill are not reversed.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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1 Principal accounting policies continued 
Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first in first out or a weighted average cost basis. 
Cost comprises directly attributable purchase and conversion costs and an allocation of production overheads based on normal operating 
capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and selling costs.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement comprise cash at bank and in hand, money market deposits 
and other short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are presented  
in borrowings within current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale
The assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are available for immediate sale in their present condition and a sale is highly probable  
within one year. Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their 
carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non current assets classified as held 
for sale are not depreciated or amortised and any future write down to fair value less costs to sell will be recognised as an impairment loss.

Grants
Grants received in respect of property, plant and equipment are capitalised and released to the consolidated income statement in equal 
instalments over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Group. Finance leases  
are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Lease payments are apportioned between the liability and finance charge to produce a constant rate of interest on the finance lease balance 
outstanding. Assets capitalised under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term. Leases 
other than finance leases are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the 
consolidated income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. Any incentives to enter into operating leases are recognised  
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight line basis.

Income taxes
The tax expense represents the sum of current tax, non current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax and non current tax are based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the consolidated 
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that 
are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and  
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax arising from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, 
other than an acquisition, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, is not recognised. Deferred tax is 
measured using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement, unless the tax 
relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case the tax is recognised directly in equity through the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when a present obligation exists in respect of a past event and where the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions 
for restructuring are recognised for direct expenditure on business reorganisations where plans are sufficiently detailed and well advanced, and 
where appropriate communication to those affected has been undertaken on or before the balance sheet date. Provisions are discounted where 
the time value of money is considered to be material.

Dividends
Final equity dividends to the shareholders of Rexam PLC are recognised in the period that they are approved by the shareholders. Interim equity 
dividends are recognised in the period that they are paid.
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1 Principal accounting policies continued
Financial instruments
Financial instruments that are measured at fair value are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the following fair 
value measurement hierarchy:

(i)  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

(ii)  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly 
(that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

(iii)  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation 
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all 
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. Derivative financial instruments utilised by the Group include interest rate swaps,  
cross currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and forward aluminium, resin and energy commodity contracts.

Certain derivative financial instruments are designated as hedges in line with the Group’s risk management policies. Hedges are classified  
as follows:

(i)  Fair value hedges where they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability.

(ii)  Cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised 
asset or liability or a forecasted transaction.

(iii)  Net investment hedges where they hedge exposure to changes in the value of the Group’s interests in the net assets of foreign operations.

For fair value hedges, any gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and similarly 
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

For cash flow hedges and net investment hedges, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective 
hedge is recognised in equity, with any ineffective portion recognised in the consolidated income statement. When hedged cash flows result  
in the recognition of a non financial asset or liability, the associated gains or losses previously recognised in equity are included in the initial 
measurement of the asset or liability. For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that are recognised in equity are transferred to the 
consolidated income statement in the same period in which the hedged cash flows affect the consolidated income statement.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments not designated as hedges are recognised immediately  
in the consolidated income statement.

Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments related to operating activities are included in operating profit when recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments related to financing activities are included in interest when 
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost except where they are hedged by an effective fair value hedge, in which case the carrying value  
is adjusted to reflect the fair value movements associated with the hedged risk. Where borrowings are used to hedge the Group’s interests in the 
net assets of foreign operations, the portion of the exchange gain or loss on the borrowings that is determined to be an effective hedge is 
recognised in equity.

Upfront fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are initially capitalised as transaction costs of the loan and amortised in interest over the 
expected term of the loan. Ongoing commitment fees are expensed in interest as incurred.

Available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses are recognised in equity except for impairment losses, 
interest and dividends arising from those assets which are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Trade and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less any provision for impairment. 
Trade and other receivables are discounted when the time value of money is considered material. Trade and other payables are measured at cost.
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2 Segment analysis
With effect from 1 January 2009, the Group adopted IFRS8 ‘Operating Segments’. This accounting standard requires a ‘through the eyes  
of management’ approach under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. 

For internal reporting, Rexam is organised into three operating segments for Beverage Cans based on the geographical locations of Europe  
and Asia, North America and South America, and into one operating segment for Plastic Packaging. For external reporting purposes, the three 
operating segments for Beverage Cans are combined into one reportable segment.

Beverage Cans comprise aluminium and steel cans for a wide variety of beverages including carbonated soft drinks and beer. Plastic Packaging 
comprises rigid plastic products for customers in the Healthcare, Personal Care and Closures divisions. 

(i) Segment information 2009 

Sales 
£m

Underlying  
operating 

profit  
£m

Underlying  
return on 

 sales 
%

Exceptional 
and other 

items1  
£m

Profit/(loss)  
£m

Beverage Cans 3,573 310 8.7 (69) 241
Plastic Packaging 1,241 130 10.5 (287) (157)
Total reportable segments 4,814 440 9.1 (356) 84
Disposals and businesses for sale 52 6 11.5 2 8

4,866 446 9.2 (354) 92
Share of post tax losses of associates and joint ventures (3)
Retirement benefit obligations net finance cost (31)
Net interest expense (117)
Loss before tax (59)
Tax 30
Loss for the financial year (29)

1 Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets.

Assets
£m

Liabilities
£m

Capital  
expenditure

£m

Depreciation and 
amortisation

£m

Goodwill
impairment

£m

Other
 impairment2

£m

Beverage Cans 3,340 (578) 81 146 3 24
Plastic Packaging 2,033 (331) 67 126 193 10
Total reportable segments 5,373 (909) 148 272 196 34
Disposals and businesses for sale – – – – – 2
Associates and joint ventures 54 – – – – –
Unallocated assets and liabilities 654 (2,850) – – – –

6,081 (3,759) 148 272 196 36

2 Net of impairment reversals.

Share of post tax losses of associates and joint ventures comprises a £5m loss in Plastic Packaging offset by a £2m profit in Beverage Cans. 
Segment assets are disclosed after deducting inter segment assets of £2m for Beverage Cans and £2m for Plastic Packaging. Segment liabilities 
are disclosed after deducting inter segment liabilities of £3m for Beverage Cans and £1m for Plastic Packaging. Of the £54m of assets of 
associates and joint ventures, £53m are attributable to Beverage Cans and £1m are attributable to Plastic Packaging.

Underlying operating profit comprises operating profit before exceptional items and the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets. 
Underlying operating profit is included as it is felt that adjusting operating profit for exceptional items and the amortisation of certain acquired 
intangible assets provides a better indication of the Group’s performance. Underlying return on sales comprises underlying operating profit 
divided by sales. 

Non specific central costs are allocated on the basis of net assets excluding investments in associates and joint ventures, net borrowings and tax.

Unallocated assets comprise derivative financial instrument assets, deferred tax assets, pension assets and cash and cash equivalents which are 
used as part of the Group’s financing offset arrangements. Unallocated liabilities comprise borrowings, derivative financial instrument liabilities, 
current and non current tax, deferred tax liabilities and retirement benefit obligations.



72 Rexam Annual Report 2009

2 Segment analysis continued 
(ii) Segment information 2008 

Sales 
£m

Underlying  
operating 

profit  
£m

Underlying  
return 

on sales 
%

Exceptional 
and other 

items1 
£m

Profit  
£m

Beverage Cans 3,289 306 9.3 (36) 270
Plastic Packaging 1,273 157 12.3 (50) 107
Total reportable segments 4,562 463 10.1 (86) 377
Disposals and businesses for sale 56 3 5.4 – 3

4,618 466 10.1 (86) 380
Share of post tax profits of associates and joint ventures 1
Retirement benefit obligations net finance cost (7)
Net interest expense (134)
Profit before tax 240
Tax (69)
Profit for the financial year 171

1 Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets.

Assets
£m

Liabilities
£m

Capital  
expenditure

£m

Depreciation and 
amortisation

£m

Other  
impairment

£m

Beverage Cans 3,846 (768) 277 120 14
Plastic Packaging 2,632 (396) 117 102 2
Total reportable segments 6,478 (1,164) 394 222 16
Disposals and businesses for sale 33 (15) – – 3
Associates and joint ventures 63 – – – –
Unallocated assets and liabilities 624 (3,843) – – –

7,198 (5,022) 394 222 19

Share of post tax profits of associates and joint ventures are wholly attributable to Beverage Cans. Segment assets are disclosed after deducting 
inter segment assets of £5m for Beverage Cans and £4m for Plastic Packaging. Segment liabilities are disclosed after deducting inter segment 
liabilities of £7m for Beverage Cans and £2m for Plastic Packaging. Of the £63m of assets of associates and joint ventures, £53m are 
attributable to Beverage Cans and £10m are attributable to Plastic Packaging.

(iii) Geographic and other information

2009 
Sales 

£m

2009 
Non current 

assets 
£m

2008 
Sales 

£m

2008 
Non current 

assets 
£m

USA 1,899 1,818 1,825 2,303
Brazil 560 380 460 399
Russia 300 196 314 241
Austria 269 104 280 115
Spain 241 110 213 126
UK 185 187 204 195
France 173 366 181 454
Germany 172 340 154 329
Other countries 1,067 858 987 925

4,866 4,359 4,618 5,087
Unallocated non current assets – 476 – 495

4,866 4,835 4,618 5,582

Sales are stated by external customer location. 

One customer, principally in Beverage Cans, contributed £1,459m of Group external sales (2008: £1,333m). 

Unallocated non current assets comprise derivative financial instrument assets, deferred tax assets and pension assets.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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3 Operating expenses
2009 

Underlying  
operating 
expenses 

£m

2009 
Exceptional  

and other 
items1

£m

2009 
 Total 

£m

2008 
Underlying  
operating 
expenses 

£m

2008 
Exceptional  

and other 
items1

£m

2008  
Total 
£m

Raw materials used (2,596) – (2,596) (2,488) – (2,488)
Changes in inventories of WIP and finished goods (12) – (12) 12 – 12
Employee benefit expense (787) (45) (832) (693) (9) (702)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (208) – (208) (166) – (166)
Amortisation of intangible assets (19) (45) (64) (12) (44) (56)
Impairment of goodwill – (196) (196) – – –
Other impairment (2) (38) (40) (3) (16) (19)
Reversal of other impairment – 4 4 – – –
Freight costs (192) – (192) (209) – (209)
Operating lease rental expense (42) (4) (46) (42) – (42)
Operating lease rental income 2 – 2 3 – 3
Other operating expenses (589) (30) (619) (565) (17) (582)
Other operating income 25 – 25 11 – 11

(4,420) (354) (4,774) (4,152) (86) (4,238)

1 Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets.

Other operating expenses include research and development expenditure of £20m (2008: £19m) and fair value movements on forward foreign 
exchange contracts not hedge accounted of £3m (2008: £nil).

4 Employee costs and numbers
(i) Employee benefit expense

2009
£m

2008 
£m

Wages and salaries (706) (593)
Social security (97) (83)
Share based payment (6) (2)
Retirement benefit obligations (23) (24)

(832) (702)

(ii) Key management compensation (including directors of Rexam PLC)
2009

£m
2008

£m

Salaries and short term employee benefits (9) (7)
Post employment benefits (2) (2)
Termination payments (5) –
Share based payment (4) (2)

(20) (11)

Key management comprises all directors of Rexam PLC and the Band 1 executives. For details of directors’ remuneration see the Remuneration 
Report.
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4 Employee costs and numbers continued
(iii) Average number of employees

2009 
Number

2008 
Number

Beverage Cans 7,800 8,200
Plastic Packaging 14,800 15,600
Disposals and businesses for sale 300 300

22,900 24,100

2009 
Number

2008 
Number

USA 6,900 7,200
China 5,100 5,800
France 2,400 2,600
Brazil 1,800 1,800
Germany 1,000 1,000
Russia 900 1,000
UK 700 700
Other countries 4,100 4,000

22,900 24,100

5 Auditors’ remuneration
2009

£m
2008 

£m

Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 0.7 0.7
Statutory audit fees payable to associate members of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 2.7 2.7
Total audit fees 3.4 3.4
Other fees in respect of services required by legislation 1.2 0.2
Fees for tax services 0.6 0.9
Fees for other services 0.3 0.4

5.5 4.9

Included in other fees in respect of services required by legistation in 2009 was £1.0m relating to work performed on the rights issue which  
was charged to share premium account. Excluded from the above analysis for 2009 is £0.2m of statutory audit fees paid in 2009 that related  
to 2008.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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6 Exceptional items 
2009

£m
2008  

£m

Impairment of goodwill (196) –
Restructuring of businesses (108) (31)
Disposal of subsidiaries (5) –
Other exceptional items – (11)
Exceptional items included in operating profit (309) (42)
Disposal of associate (4) –
Exceptional items included in profit before tax (313) (42)
Tax on exceptional items 103 18
Total exceptional items after tax (210) (24)

During 2009, goodwill in relation to the Plastic Packaging Closures cash generating unit was impaired by £193m and goodwill in relation  
to the Beverage Cans India cash generating unit was impaired by £3m following tests for impairment triggered by expected declines in future 
profitability and cash flow forecasts resulting from adverse market conditions. For further details see note 11.

Within Beverage Cans, a restructuring charge of £56m has been made to cover the closure of the Dmitrov and Dunkirk facilities within the 
European business in response to volume decline in that region and for the reorganisation of the North American business initiated in 2008.  
The total restructuring charge in respect of the reorganisation of Plastic Packaging was £45m, reflecting the closure and consolidation of plants 
within Personal Care, Closures and Healthcare and a redundancy programme in Healthcare and in its North American administration function. 
In addition, £7m has been charged in respect of a reduction in corporate staff, including cancellation of certain long term incentives.

In November 2009, the Group disposed of its Petainer plastic bottle business based in Sweden and the Czech Republic for £15m and in 
December 2009 it disposed of a small Plastic Packaging Personal Care business based in Sussex, WI for £4m. The combined loss on these  
two transactions before tax was £5m. For further details see note 31.

In May 2009, the Group disposed of its interest in an associated Plastic Packaging business based in Mexico realising a loss of £4m.

Tax on exceptional items in 2009 relates to impairment of goodwill of £74m, restructuring of businesses of £24m and disposal of subsidiaries  
of £5m.

7 Interest

2009
£m

2008
restated

£m

Interest expense
Bank overdrafts (7) (16)
Bank loans (33) (24)
US public bond (24) (14)
US private placement (8) (6)
Subordinated bond (43) (47)
Medium term notes (37) (58)
Interest on financing derivatives 20 18
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains (2) 3
Underlying interest expense (134) (144)
Fair value gains/(losses) on financing derivatives 14 (2)

(120) (146)
Interest income
Cash and cash equivalents 3 12
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7 Interest continued 
An analysis of fair value gains/(losses) on financing derivatives is set out below.

2009
£m

2008
restated

£m

Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps 5 10
Cross currency swaps – 82
Fair value adjustment to borrowings (9) (63)

(4) 29
Not hedge accounted
Interest rate swaps (3) –
Cross currency swaps 21 (31)

18 (31)

Fair value gains/(losses) on financing derivatives 14 (2)

The loss on fair value hedges of £4m (2008: gain £29m) represents the total hedge ineffectiveness for the year.

The 2008 comparative amounts have been restated to disclose separately the foreign exchange gains and losses on financial instruments and 
the interest on financing derivatives.

8 Tax
(i) Tax included in the income statement

2009 
Underlying 

profit
£m

2009  
Exceptional  

and other  
items1 

£m

2009  
Total
£m

2008  
Underlying 

profit 
£m

2008  
Exceptional  

and other  
items1 

£m

2008  
Total 
£m

Current tax charge (73) – (73) (52) (1) (53)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 5 – 5 5 – 5
Current tax (68) – (68) (47) (1) (48)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (14) 115 101 (55) 30 (25)
Adjustment in respect of prior years (3) – (3) – 4 4
Deferred tax (17) 115 98 (55) 34 (21)

Total (85) 115 30 (102) 33 (69)

1 Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on financing derivatives. 

(ii) Tax included in equity
2009  

£m
2008  

£m

Retirement benefit obligations 61 4
Cash flow hedges (48) 35
Tax included in equity 13 39

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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8 Tax continued 
(iii) Tax reconciliation 
A reconciliation of the tax charge applicable to the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax at the UK statutory rate of 28.0% (2008: 28.5%) with the tax 
charge based on the Group’s effective rate is set out below. 

2009 
Underlying  
profit/tax 

£m

2009  
Exceptional  

and other  
items1 

£m

2009  
Total
£m

2008  
Underlying  
profit/tax 

£m

2008  
Exceptional 

and other  
items1 

£m

2008  
Total 
£m

Loss/(profit) before tax 285 (344) (59) 328 (88) 240

Tax at the UK statutory rate of 28.0% (2008: 28.5%) (80) 96 16 (93) 25 (68)
Non deductible and non taxable items (3) (8) (11) (6) – (6)
Lower/(higher) domestic tax rates on overseas earnings (4) 27 23 (8) 4 (4)
Tax overprovided in prior years 2 – 2 5 4 9
Tax in the income statement (85) 115 30 (102) 33 (69)

Effective rate of tax 30% (51)% 31% 29%

1 Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on financing derivatives.

(iv) Analysis of deferred tax
2009

£m
2008

£m

Deferred tax assets 201 137
Deferred tax liabilities (99) (151)
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 102 (14)

Retirement  
benefit

obligations
£m

Tax losses
£m

Accelerated
tax 

depreciation
£m

Goodwill 
and other

intangible assets
£m

Other 
temporary  
differences

£m
Total
£m

At 1 January 2009 58 32 (109) (63) 68 (14)
Exchange differences (6) – 8 7 (4) 5
Credit/(charge) for the year 4 23 (5) 68 8 98
Credit/(charge) to equity 61 – – – (48) 13
Reclassifications – 6 – – (6) –
At 31 December 2009 117 61 (106) 12 18 102

At 1 January 2008 50 9 (59) (36) 16 (20)
Exchange differences 16 7 (23) (15) 7 (8)
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – (2) (7) – (9)
(Charge)/credit for the year (12) 16 (25) (5) 5 (21)
Credit to equity 4 – – – 35 39
Other movements – – – – 5 5
At 31 December 2008 58 32 (109) (63) 68 (14)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented as non current in the consolidated balance sheet. Of the total deferred tax assets, £40m  
(2008: £29m) are recoverable within one year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right  
of offset and there is an intention to settle the balance net. 

Deferred tax assets have been recognised where it is probable that they will be recovered. In recognising deferred tax assets, the Group has 
considered if it is more likely than not that sufficient future profits will be available to absorb tax losses and other temporary differences. Deferred 
tax assets of £26m (2008: £45m) have not been recognised in respect of losses, tax credits on dividends and other temporary differences due 
to the uncertainty of the availability of suitable profits in the foreseeable future. The principal items on which no deferred tax assets have been 
recognised are tax losses of £97m (2008: £90m). There is no expiry date on these tax losses. In 2008 there were also UK tax credits on 
foreign dividends of £20m. Such tax credits were abolished in the 2009 Finance Act.

No deferred tax has been recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries except where it is probable that the temporary 
difference will reverse in the forseeable future. If the earnings were remitted in full, tax of £34m (2008: £278m) would be payable. This 
reduction is due to changes to the taxation of dividends resulting from the 2009 Finance Act.
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9 (Loss)/earnings per share
(i) Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

2009  
Pence

2008  
restated  

Pence

Basic (3.7) 23.9
Diluted (3.7) 23.9

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

(Loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to shareholders of Rexam PLC (29) 172

2009 
Millions

2008 
restated 
Millions

Weighted average number of shares in issue as originally stated 786.5 642.3
Bonus element of rights issue – 78.6
Weighted average number of shares in issue as restated 786.5 720.9
Dilution on conversion of outstanding share options – 0.2
Weighted average number of shares in issue on a diluted basis as restated 786.5 721.1

Earnings per share have been restated for the 2009 rights issue. For more information on the rights issue see note 27.

There are 0.2 million share options outstanding at 31 December 2009 that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future,  
but were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share for 2009 because they were anti-dilutive.

(ii) Underlying earnings per share

2009  
Pence

2008  
restated 

Pence

Underlying earnings per share 25.4 31.5

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

Underlying profit before tax 285 328
Tax on underlying profit (85) (102)
Underlying profit for the financial year 200 226
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of Rexam PLC 200 227
Minority interests – (1)

200 226

Underlying earnings per share is based on underlying profit for the financial year attributable to equity shareholders of Rexam PLC divided by the 
weighted average number of shares in issue. Underlying profit for the financial year is profit before exceptional items, the amortisation of certain 
acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on financing derivatives. Underlying earnings per share is included as it is felt that adjusting 
basic earnings per share for exceptional items, the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on financing 
derivatives provides a better indication of the Group’s performance.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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10 Equity dividends
 2009 

£m
2008 

£m

Final dividend for 2008 of 10.9p restated paid on 2 July 2009 79 –
Interim dividend for 2008 of 7.8p restated paid on 4 November 2008 – 56
Final dividend for 2007 of 10.4p restated paid on 3 June 2008 – 75

79 131

Equity dividends per share have been restated for the 2009 rights issue. 

A final dividend per equity share of 8.0p has been proposed for 2009 and, subject to shareholder approval, is payable on 3 June 2010. The 
proposed final dividend has not been accrued in these consolidated financial statements.

11 Goodwill
(i) Summary

 2009
£m

2008
£m

Cost
At 1 January 2,246 1,692
Exchange differences (156) 520
Acquisition of subsidiaries 3 34
Disposal of subsidiaries (8) –
At 31 December 2,085 2,246
Impairment
At 1 January – –
Exchange differences (3) –
Impairment for the year (196) –
At 31 December (199) –

Carrying value at 31 December 1,886 2,246

The carrying value of goodwill at 31 December is allocated to cash generating units or groups of cash generating units as set out below.

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

Europe 664 697
USA 351 382
Brazil 188 205
Russia 43 48
Egypt 35 38
Mexico 7 8
India – 3
Beverage Cans 1,288 1,381

Healthcare 324 325
Personal Care 218 239
Closures 56 301
Plastic Packaging 598 865

Total carrying value 1,886 2,246
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11 Goodwill continued 
(ii) Impairment testing 
During 2009, goodwill in relation to the Plastic Packaging Closures cash generating unit was impaired by £193m and goodwill in relation  
to the Beverage Cans India cash generating unit was impaired by £3m following tests for impairment triggered by expected declines in future 
profitability and cash flow forecasts resulting from adverse market conditions. These impairment losses, amounting to £196m in total, are 
recognised in the consolidated income statement within exceptional items.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the recoverable amounts of all cash generating units or groups of cash generating units were determined 
based on value in use calculations. The cash flow projections used in these calculations were based on the financial budget for 2010, as 
approved by senior management in December 2009, and the plans for 2011 and 2012, as approved by management in October 2009.  
The cash flow projections for 2011 and 2012 have been adjusted, where appropriate, to reflect any significant expected changes in trading  
or market conditions since October 2009. Cash flows beyond the three year period have been extrapolated using a zero growth rate. The 
principal accounting policies highlight that the calculation of value in use requires the use of estimates which, although based on managements’ 
best knowledge, may ultimately differ from actual results. 

The discount rates used in the goodwill impairment calculations have a significant impact. The pre tax risk adjusted discount rates used for each 
of the cash generating units are set out below.

2009
%

2008
%

Beverage Cans: Europe and USA 11 11
Beverage Cans: Brazil 15 16
Beverage Cans: Russia 18 21
Beverage Cans: Egypt 22 20
Beverage Cans: Mexico 16 16
Beverage Cans: India 25 25
Plastic Packaging: Healthcare, Personal Care and Closures 11 11

Other key assumptions used in the recoverable amount calculation include:

(i)  Sales and margins. Forecasts are based on sector level analyses of sales, markets, costs and competitors. Consideration is given to past 
experience and knowledge of future contracts.

(ii)  Raw materials and energy price inflation. Forecasts for aluminium and resin are based on forward prices at the time projections are prepared 
and take into account pass through of costs and hedging. Forecasts for other raw materials and energy are based on inflation forecasts and 
supply and demand factors.

As a result of the impairment charge discussed above, the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Plastic Packaging Closures cash 
generating unit at 31 December 2009 is equal to its recoverable amount and, therefore, any unfavourable change in the value attributed to  
the key assumptions described above will result in a further goodwill impairment charge. Management considers that no reasonably possible 
change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the recoverable amount of goodwill attached to the other cash generating units  
at 31 December 2009 to fall below their carrying value. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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12 Other intangible assets

Computer
software
acquired

£m

Computer 
software

developed
£m

Customer
contracts and
relationships

acquired
£m

Technology  
and patents 

acquired
£m

Other
development

projects
£m

Total
£m

Cost
At 1 January 2009 94 26 540 204 12 876
Exchange differences (7) (2) (44) (16) (1) (70)
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – 2 – – 2
Additions 6 1 – – 2 9
Disposals – – – – (1) (1)
Reclassifications – 1 – – (1) –
Transfers 2 – – – 2 4
At 31 December 2009 95 26 498 188 13 820
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2009 (55) (14) (65) (33) (6) (173)
Exchange differences 4 1 5 2 2 14
Amortisation for the year (13) (4) (31) (15) (1) (64)
Impairment – – – – (1) (1)
Transfers (1) – – – – (1)
At 31 December 2009 (65) (17) (91) (46) (6) (225)

Carrying value at 31 December 2009 30 9 407 142 7 595
Cost
At 1 January 2008 65 11 375 147 6 604
Exchange differences 23 5 133 51 3 215
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – 32 5 2 39
Additions 12 4 – 1 1 18
Disposals (2) – – – – (2)
Reclassifications (6) 6 – – – –
Transfers 2 – – – – 2
At 31 December 2008 94 26 540 204 12 876
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2008 (38) (5) (25) (9) (3) (80)
Exchange differences (13) (3) (14) (6) (2) (38)
Disposals 2 – – – – 2
Amortisation for the year (7) (4) (26) (18) (1) (56)
Reclassifications 2 (2) – – – –
Transfers (1) – – – – (1)
At 31 December 2008 (55) (14) (65) (33) (6) (173)

Carrying value at 31 December 2008 39 12 475 171 6 703

The impairment of £1m in 2009 relates to the closure of the European Beverage Cans facility in Dmitrov, Russia.
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13 Property, plant and equipment

Property 
£m

Plant and
equipment 

£m

Assets under 
construction 

£m
Total 
£m

Cost
At 1 January 2009 603 2,375 282 3,260
Exchange differences (44) (160) (19) (223)
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 2 – 2
Additions 2 13 124 139
Disposal of subsidiaries (4) (11) – (15)
Disposals (8) (43) – (51)
Transfers – (4) – (4)
Other movements (3) (1) – (4)
Reclassifications 56 218 (274) –
At 31 December 2009 602 2,389 113 3,104
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2009 (138) (1,140) – (1,278)
Exchange differences 10 75 – 85
Disposal of subsidiaries 1 9 – 10
Disposals 4 36 – 40
Depreciation for the year (22) (186) – (208)
Impairment (7) (30) – (37)
Reversal of impairment – 4 – 4
Transfers – 1 – 1
Other movements 2 – – 2
At 31 December 2009 (150) (1,231) – (1,381)

Carrying value at 31 December 2009 452 1,158 113 1,723
Cost
At 1 January 2008 406 1,574 183 2,163
Exchange differences 145 523 64 732
Acquisition of subsidiaries 19 30 – 49
Additions 6 48 322 376
Disposals (2) (52) – (54)
Capitalisation of interest – – 1 1
Transfers (5) (2) – (7)
Reclassifications 34 254 (288) –
At 31 December 2008 603 2,375 282 3,260
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2008 (86) (767) – (853)
Exchange differences (36) (254) – (290)
Disposals 1 43 – 44
Depreciation for the year (19) (147) – (166)
Impairment – (16) – (16)
Transfers 2 1 – 3
At 31 December 2008 (138) (1,140) – (1,278)

Carrying value at 31 December 2008 465 1,235 282 1,982

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment includes finance leased assets of £34m (2008: £41m) in respect of property and £2m 
(2008: £3m) in respect of plant and equipment.

The impairment of £37m in 2009 relates to write downs of assets to their estimated fair value comprising £23m as part of the closure of the 
Dmitrov and Dunkirk facilities within the European Beverage Cans business, £4m related to the reorganisation of the North American Beverage 
Cans business and £10m as part of the reorganisation of Plastic Packaging. The impairment of £16m in 2008 comprised £14m as part of the 
restructuring of the North American Beverage Cans business and £2m as part of the integration of OI Plastics. The reversal of impairment in 2009 
of £4m relates to the North American Beverage Cans business whereby the proceeds from the sale of assets were higher than previously expected.

Interest capitalised in the carrying value of property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2009 amounts to £nil (2008: £1m relating to the 
construction of a beverage can plant in Denmark).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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14 Investments in subsidiaries
The principal subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned, are shown below. An asterisk indicates that the capital is directly owned by Rexam PLC. 
Subsidiaries incorporated in the UK are registered in England and Wales. All subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements.

Country of  
incorporation

Principal area 
of operation

Identity of  
capital held

Nature of  
business activities

Rexam Beverage Can Company USA USA Common stock Consumer packaging
Rexam Beverage Can Naro Fominsk LLC Russia Russia Capital stock Consumer packaging
Rexam Beverage Can South America SA Brazil South America Common stock Consumer packaging
Rexam do Brazil Ltda Brazil South America Quotas Consumer packaging
Rexam European Holdings Limited UK UK Ordinary shares Holding company
Rexam France SA France France Ordinary shares Consumer packaging
Rexam Group Holdings Limited* UK UK Ordinary shares Holding company
Rexam Holdings AB Sweden Continental Europe Ordinary shares Holding company
Rexam Inc USA USA Common stock Holding company
Rexam Overseas Holdings Limited UK UK Ordinary shares Holding company
Rexam Plastic Packaging Inc USA USA Common stock Holding company

15 Investments in associates and joint ventures
The principal associate and joint venture are set out below.

Country of 
incorporation and 
area of operation Issued capital Group share

Hanil Can Company Limited – associate South Korea 1.7m shares of 5,000 won each 40%
Controladora Envases Universales Rexam SA – joint venture Guatemala 334.5m shares of 1 quetzal each 50%

Associates 
£m

Joint ventures 
£m

Total 
£m

At 1 January 2009 37 26 63
Exchange differences – (2) (2)
Transfer of joint venture to subsidiary status (note 30) – (2) (2)
Disposal of associate (6) – (6)
Share of post tax profits – 1 1
At 31 December 2009 31 23 54

At 1 January 2008 37 18 55
Exchange differences – 5 5
Acquisition of businesses – 2 2
Share of post tax profits – 1 1
At 31 December 2008 37 26 63

There is no goodwill allocated to any associate or joint venture.

The following table sets out summary information on all associates and joint ventures on a 100% basis.

2009 
Associates 

£m

2009 
Joint ventures 

£m

2008 
Associates 

£m

2008 
Joint ventures 

£m

Sales 115 44 116 41
Profit after tax 1 1 – 2
Assets 129 59 147 63
Liabilities (52) (13) (58) (11)
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16 Available for sale financial assets
2009 

£m
2008 

£m

At 1 January 31 22
Exchange differences (3) 7
Income for the year 2 1
Changes in market value (4) 3
Transfer to retirement benefit obligations (3) (2)
At 31 December 23 31

Non current assets 21 30
Current assets 2 1
At 31 December 23 31

Available for sale financial assets at 31 December 2009 include £22m (2008: £30m) of investments used to satisfy certain US retirement 
obligations, of which £18m (2008: £28m) comprises fixed rate listed investments, the fair values of which are determined directly by reference 
to published price quotations in an active market, and £4m (2008: £2m) comprises cash and cash equivalents. Also included in available for 
sale financial assets at 31 December 2009 are unlisted investments of £1m (2008: £1m).

The carrying amounts of available for sale financial assets are denominated in the following currencies, which are the functional currencies  
of the relevant subsidiaries.

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

US dollar 22 30
Euro 1 1

23 31

17 Inventories
2009 

£m
2008 

£m

Raw materials, stores and consumables 182 257
Work in progress 18 28
Finished goods 232 329

432 614

An analysis of provisions against inventories is set out below.

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

At 1 January (30) (21)
Exchange differences 2 (7)
Charge for the year (10) (10)
Released in the year 1 2
Utilised 5 6
At 31 December (32) (30)

Provisions released in the year comprise £1m relating to various provisions in Plastic Packaging (2008: £1m) and £nil (2008: £1m) relating  
to sales of spare parts in Beverage Cans.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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18 Trade and other receivables
2009

£m
2008 

£m

Non current assets
Trade receivables 4 4
Provision for impairment (4) (4)
Net trade receivables – –
Prepayments 33 37
Taxes 8 3
Other receivables 39 23

80 63
Current assets
Trade receivables 499 616
Provision for impairment (12) (7)
Net trade receivables 487 609
Prepayments 42 46
Taxes 36 66
Collateral deposits – 42
Other receivables 65 70

630 833

Total trade and other receivables 710 896

Collateral deposits in 2008 related to funds placed with derivative counterparties in respect of certain commodity contracts where the market 
value of the contract exceeded a predetermined threshold in favour of the derivative counterparties. 

An analysis of provisions for impairment of trade and other receivables is set out below.

2009
£m

2008
£m

At 1 January (11) (6)
Exchange differences 1 (3)
Impairment in the year (10) (4)
Released in the year 3 2
Utilised 1 –
At 31 December (16) (11)

An analysis of total trade and other receivables including those which are past due but not impaired is set out below.

2009
£m

2008 
£m

Not yet due 670 806
Past due less than 1 month 15 72
Between 1 and 2 months 9 12
Between 2 and 3 months 4 4
Between 3 and 6 months 4 2
Between 6 and 12 months 8 –

710 896

The maximum amount of credit risk with respect to customers is represented by the carrying amount on the balance sheet. Customer credit 
facilities for new customers must be approved by designated managers at business level or by senior sector management. Credit limits are set 
with reference to trading history and reports from credit rating agencies. Customer credit facilities are reviewed at the sales order entry stage  
and at the time of shipment so as not to exceed customer limits. Overdue accounts are regularly reviewed and impairment provisions are created 
where necessary. As a matter of policy, all outstanding trade balances greater than three months are fully provided except as approved by senior 
sector management and with due regard to the historical risk profile of the customer. The Group has extremely low historical levels of customer 
credit defaults, due in part to the blue chip multinational nature of many of its customers and the long term relationships it has with them. There 
were no new customers in 2009 where the Group considered there was a risk of significant credit default. There are no trade and other 
receivables that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated.
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18 Trade and other receivables continued
The carrying amounts of total trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies which, in most instances, are the functional 
currencies of the relevant subsidiaries.

2009
£m

2008 
£m

Euro 241 260
US dollar 207 337
Brazilian real 154 121
Sterling 27 32
Russian rouble 17 46
Chinese renminbi 16 30
Swedish krona 11 22
Other 37 48

710 896

19 Cash and cash equivalents
2009

£m
2008

£m

Cash at bank and in hand 40 62
Short term bank deposits 73 13

113 75

The Group has provided letters of credit, secured by short term bank deposits, totalling £5m (2008: £8m) as part of its insurance arrangements.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies.

2009
£m

2008
£m

Euro 56 1
Brazilian real 26 17
US dollar 13 9
Sterling 9 10
Chinese renminbi 4 13
Other 5 25

113 75

20 Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale
An analysis of the assets and liabilities classified as held for sale at 31 December is set out below.

2009 
Total 
£m

2008 
Petainer 

£m

2008 
Other

£m

2008 
Total 
£m

Property, plant and equipment 4 20 4 24
Deferred tax assets – 1 – 1
Inventories – 9 – 9
Trade receivables – 5 – 5
Total assets 4 35 4 39

Trade payables – (14) – (14)
Retirement benefit obligations – (1) – (1)
Total liabilities – (15) – (15)

Carrying value 4 20 4 24

Assets classified as held for sale of £4m (2008: Other £4m) comprise a property in the US deemed surplus to requirements.

In November 2009 the Petainer plastic bottle business was sold. Prior to sale and in accordance with IFRS5 ‘Non Current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations’, the related assets and liabilities of the business were separately classified in the consolidated balance sheet as 
held for sale. No depreciation or amortisation was charged since classification as held for sale. An impairment charge of £2m was recognised 
in 2009 (2008: £3m) in order to align the carrying value with fair value less costs to sell. The impairment was disclosed in the consolidated 
income statement within operating expenses.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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21 Trade and other payables
2009

£m
2008

£m

Current liabilities
Trade payables (417) (679)
Social security and other taxes (57) (71)
Accrued expenses (198) (184)
Other payables (76) (119)

(748) (1,053)
Non current liabilities
Accrued expenses (9) (12)
Other payables (38) (21)

(47) (33)

Total trade and other payables (795) (1,086)

The carrying amounts of total trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies, which in most instances are the functional 
currencies of the relevant subsidiaries.

2009
£m

2008
£m

US dollar (371) (541)
Euro (259) (327)
Brazilian real (64) (83)
Sterling (42) (49)
Russian rouble (15) (20)
Chinese renminbi (14) (25)
Other (30) (41)

(795) (1,086)

22 Borrowings
2009 

£m
2008 

£m

Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts (51) (100)
Bank loans (40) (41)
US public bond (2) (2)
US private placement (1) (1)
Subordinated bond (23) (25)
Medium term notes (21) (416)
Finance leases (2) (2)

(140) (587)
Non current liabilities
Bank loans (120) (313)
US public bond (340) (369)
US private placement (139) (151)
Subordinated bond (734) (771)
Medium term notes (621) (664)
Finance leases (1) (4)

(1,955) (2,272)

Total borrowings (2,095) (2,859)

In March 2009 the Group repaid £370m of medium term notes.
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22 Borrowings continued
The Group has a range of bank borrowings maturing between 2010 and 2012. These facilities may generally be drawn in a range of freely 
available currencies and are at floating rates of interest. In addition the Group has a US public bond, US private placement, subordinated bond, 
and medium term notes in issue. The US public bond and US private placement totalling $775m were issued at a fixed price and mature in 
2013. The subordinated bond is denominated in euros with a maturity of 2067. It was issued at a fixed rate of interest but has been swapped 
into US dollar floating rates of interest through the use of cross currency and interest rate derivatives. The medium term notes are denominated  
in euros and mature in 2013. They were issued at fixed rates of interest although some have been swapped to floating rates of interest in euro 
through the use of interest rate derivatives. 

The bulk of the Group’s drawn debt is currently represented by various bond issues with significant headroom available under its committed bank 
facilities. At 31 December 2009, Rexam had bought back £9m of the medium term notes and may, at its sole discretion, make further selective 
purchases of its medium term notes over the course of 2010 subject to market conditions.

The carrying amounts of total borrowings are denominated in the following currencies.

2009
£m

2008
£m

Euro (1,408) (1,483)
US dollar (615) (777)
Other (72) (599)

(2,095) (2,859)

In 2008, other included £370m of medium term notes.

Included within borrowings are secured loans of £15m (2008: £15m), the security for which is principally property.

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

Finance lease minimum lease payments:
Less than 1 year (2) (2)
Between 1 and 5 years (1) (4)
Over 5 years – (1)
Total minimum lease payments (3) (7)
Future finance charges – 1
Present value of finance leases (3) (6)

Present value of finance leases:
Less than 1 year (2) (2)
Between 1 and 5 years (1) (3)
Over 5 years – (1)

(3) (6)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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23 Net borrowings
An analysis of net borrowings at 31 December by instrument is set out below.

2009 
£m

2008
£m

Cash and cash equivalents 113 75
Bank overdrafts (51) (100)
Bank loans (160) (354)
US public bond (342) (371)
US private placement (140) (152)
Subordinated bond (757) (796)
Medium term notes (642) (1,080)
Finance leases (3) (6)
Collateral deposits – 42
Financing derivatives 154 141

(1,828) (2,601)

An analysis of the movement in net borrowings is set out below.

2009 
£m

2008
£m

At the beginning of the year (2,601) (1,562)
Exchange differences 192 (627)
Acquisition of subsidiaries – (22)
Change in cash and cash equivalents 83 (52)
Proceeds from borrowings (19) (477)
Repayment of borrowings 540 115
Movement in collateral deposits (43) 42
Fair value and other changes 20 (18)
At the end of the year (1,828) (2,601)

A reconciliation of net borrowings to the consolidated balance sheet is set out below.

2009
£m

2008
£m

Total derivative financial instruments (net) 182 (98)
Other derivatives not included in net borrowings (28) 239
Financing derivatives 154 141
Cash and cash equivalents 113 75
Borrowings included in current liabilities (140) (587)
Borrowings included in non current liabilities (1,955) (2,272)
Collateral deposits included in current asset receivables – 42

(1,828) (2,601)
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24 Financial instruments
(i) Carrying amount and fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
An analysis of the carrying values and fair values at 31 December, by category and by class, of financial assets and liabilities is set out below.

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging 

£m

Derivatives  
used for  
trading 

£m

Loans  
and  

receivables 
£m

Available  
for sale 
assets 

£m

Other  
financial 
liabilities 

£m

Total  
carrying  
amount 

£m

Total 
fair  

value 
£m

At 31 December 2009
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents – – 113 – – 113 113
Trade and other receivables1 – – 591 – – 591 591
Available for sale financial assets – – – 23 – 23 23
Derivative financial instruments 338 2 – – – 340 340
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables2 – – – – (738) (738) (738)
Bank overdrafts – – – – (51) (51) (51)
Bank loans – – – – (160) (160) (160)
US public bond – – – – (342) (342) (374)
US private placement – – – – (140) (140) (153)
Subordinated bond – – – – (757) (757) (591)
Medium term notes – – – – (642) (642) (663)
Finance leases – – – – (3) (3) (3)
Derivative financial instruments (11) (147) – – – (158) (158)

327 (145) 704 23 (2,833) (1,924) (1,824)
At 31 December 2008
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents – – 75 – – 75 75
Trade and other receivables1 – – 744 – – 744 744
Available for sale financial assets – – – 31 – 31 31
Derivative financial instruments 376 20 – – – 396 396
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables2 – – – – (1,015) (1,015) (1,015)
Bank overdrafts – – – – (100) (100) (100)
Bank loans – – – – (354) (354) (354)
US public bond – – – – (371) (371) (373)
US private placement – – – – (152) (152) (153)
Subordinated bond – – – – (796) (796) (442)
Medium term notes – – – – (1,080) (1,080) (958)
Finance leases – – – – (6) (6) (6)
Derivative financial instruments (262) (232) – – – (494) (494)

114 (212) 819 31 (3,874) (3,122) (2,649)

1 Excludes prepayments and taxes.

2 Excludes social security and other taxes.

Market values have been used to determine the fair values of available for sale financial assets, bank overdrafts and floating rate bank loans.  
The carrying values of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short 
term nature. The fair values of the US public bond, subordinated bond and medium term notes have been determined by reference to quoted 
market prices at the close of business on 31 December. The US private placement is not a publicly traded instrument and its fair value has been 
approximated using the market value of the US public bond, which has a similar maturity date. The fair values of interest rate swaps, cross 
currency swaps, fixed rate loans and finance leases have been determined by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates. The fair value  
of forward foreign exchange contracts has been determined by marking those contracts to market against prevailing forward foreign exchange 
rates. The fair value of forward commodity contracts has been determined by marking those contracts to market at prevailing forward prices. 

All financial instruments measured at fair value are categorised as level 2 in the fair value measurement hierarchy, whereby the fair value is 
determined by using valuation techniques, except for £18m (2008: £28m) of fixed rate listed investments included in available for sale financial 
assets that are classified as level 1. The valuation techniques for level 2 instruments use observable market data where it is available, for example 
quoted market prices, and rely less on estimates.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



Rexam Annual Report 2009 91

24 Financial instruments continued 
(ii) Financial risk management
The Group bases its financial risk management on sound economic objectives and good corporate practice. Group Treasury operations are 
carried out under strict policies and parameters defined by the Rexam Board and supervised by its Finance Committee. Group Treasury is not 
operated as a separate profit centre nor does it enter into any transactions for speculative purposes. 

The Group’s major operational hedges comply with IAS39 and hedge accounting treatment is applied. Some smaller trading exposures are 
hedged on an economic basis and hedge accounting treatment is not applied where the compliance burden is deemed to be onerous and the 
income statement volatility arising is not expected to be significant. 

(a) Market risk: currencies
Currency risks arise from the multi currency cashflows within the Group. These risks arise from exchange rate fluctuations relating to the translation 
of balance sheet items of foreign subsidiaries (translation risk) and from currency flows from sales and purchases (transaction risk).

The policy regarding translation risk is to mitigate the impact of foreign exchange movements between overseas currencies and sterling arising  
on the translation of the value of non UK operations into sterling for reporting purposes. This is achieved by borrowing a proportion of debt, 
either directly or through the use of cross currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts, in currencies which match or are closely 
linked to the currencies of the overseas businesses. This approach also provides some protection against the foreign exchange translation of 
overseas earnings as it matches the currency of earnings to the currency of the interest expense. These amounts are included in the consolidated 
financial statements by translation into sterling at the balance sheet date and, where hedge accounted, offset in equity against the translation 
movement in net assets.

The policy regarding transaction risk is to hedge the reported net transaction exposure in full less an allowance for variability in forecasting. This 
is generally achieved through the use of forward foreign exchange contracts with amounts hedged being based on the reporting from individual 
Group businesses. None of the foreign exchange derivative instruments at 31 December 2009 related to derivative trading activity, although 
some fair value gains and losses were taken to the consolidated income statement because IAS39 hedge accounting treatment was not applied. 
Foreign exchange derivative instruments are used for hedging general business exposures in foreign currencies such as the purchase and sale of 
goods, capital expenditure and dividend flows. 

Transactional foreign exchange risks are hedged by Group Treasury unless it is a legal requirement in the country where the foreign exchange 
risk arises that hedging is carried out locally. In the latter case, hedging is carried out by the individual responsible for treasury within the local 
business, but still operating within the overall Group policy on foreign exchange management. 

From a treasury management perspective, the currency denomination of borrowings at 31 December 2009 was 70% in US dollars, 27% in euros 
and 3% in all other currencies (2008: 79% US dollars, 15% euros, 6% all other currencies).

(b) Market risk: interest rates
Changes in interest rates on interest bearing receivables and floating rate debt in different currencies create interest rate risk. The objective of  
the Group’s interest rate risk management is to manage its exposure to the impact of changes in interest rates in the currencies in which debt is 
borrowed. Group policy is to keep between 20% and 80% of interest at fixed rates. Interest rate risk is managed through the issue of fixed rate 
debt and through the use of interest rate derivatives that are used to manage the overall fixed to floating mix of debt, which was 72% fixed and 
28% floating at 31 December 2009 (2008: 48% and 52%). Group Treasury operates within a broad framework in respect of the mix of fixed 
and floating rate debt, as the optimum blend will vary depending on the mix of currencies and the Group’s view of the debt markets at any point 
in time.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on bank deposit rates in the relevant currency. Short term deposits are usually made for 
varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the 
respective short term deposit rates. Other floating rate financial instruments are at the appropriate LIBOR interest rates as adjusted by variable 
margins. Interest on floating rate financial instruments is re-priced at intervals of less than one year. Interest on fixed rate financial instruments is 
fixed until maturity of the instrument. 

Some interest rate swaps used to manage the Group’s fixed to floating debt mix, whilst economically effective, are ineligible for hedge 
accounting treatment. Fair value gains and losses on these hedges are recognised in the consolidated income statement. In 2009, there was  
a net gain of £14m (2008: loss £2m) on fair value changes on financing derivative financial instruments, disclosed separately within interest 
expense in the consolidated income statement.
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24 Financial instruments continued 
(c) Market risk: commodity prices
Changes in the market price of commodities used by the Group create commodity risk. Group policy is to manage these risks through both its 
supply chain management and through use of financial derivatives. Where financial derivatives are used, the Group uses mainly over the counter 
instruments transacted with banks, which are themselves priced through a recognised commodity exchange, such as the London Metal Exchange. 
The Group manages the purchase of certain raw materials, including aluminium, resin and energy costs through physical supply contracts which, 
in the main, relate directly to commodity price indices. With regard to aluminium, which represents the Group’s largest commodity exposure, the 
policy is to eliminate as far as possible any market price variability through hedging in tandem with contractual commitments. Where Rexam 
assumes the aluminium price risk on customer contracts, it has defined a risk appetite with a predetermined aggregate consolidated income 
statement limit arising from any related aluminium hedging activities. Its position against this limit is monitored and reported on a monthly basis. 
For other commodities, the policy is to hedge a reducing proportion of exposure over typically three years ahead, the extent of the forward cover 
taken is judged according to market conditions and prices of futures prevailing at the time. None of the commodity derivative financial 
instruments at 31 December 2009 related to derivative trading activity, although some fair value gains and losses were taken to the consolidated 
income statement because IFRS hedge accounting was not applied. The commodity hedges mainly relate to contracted and expected future 
purchases of aluminium, but also include resin and energy. 

(d) Market risk: sensitivities
A sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities affected by market risk is set out below. Each risk is analysed separately and shows  
the sensitivity of financial assets and liabilities when a certain risk is changed. The sensitivity analysis has been performed on balances at  
31 December each year and therefore is not representative of transactions throughout the year. The rates used are based on historical trends 
and, where relevant, projected forecasts.

Key methods and assumptions made when performing the sensitivity analysis (net of hedging):

(a)  For the floating rate element of interest rate swaps, the sensitivity calculation is performed based on the floating rates as at 31 December  
each year and the number of days since the last interest rate reset date.

(b) The translation impact of overseas subsidiaries is not included in the sensitivity analysis.

(c) The sensitivity analysis ignores any tax implications.

Currencies
The foreign exchange rate sensitivity analysis set out in the table below is based on foreign currency positions, other than each Group entity’s 
own functional currency, on the balance sheet at 31 December. The analysis includes only risks arising from financial instruments and gives the 
estimated impact on profit before tax and equity of a reasonable increase and decrease in exchange rates between currency pairs with 
significant currency positions.

Increase 
%

Impact on 
profit before tax 

£m

Impact on 
equity 

£m
Decrease 

%

Impact on 
profit before tax 

£m

Impact on 
equity 

£m

At 31 December 2009
Sterling/US dollar 10 (21) 18 (10) 25 (22)
Sterling/euro 10 23 42 (10) (28) (51)
Euro/US dollar 10 13 (13) (10) (13) 13
Brazilian real/US dollar 10 7 6 (10) (8) (7)
At 31 December 2008
Sterling/US dollar 20 (26) 32 (20) 39 (48)
Sterling/euro 20 40 77 (20) (58) (119)
Euro/US dollar 20 40 (81) (20) (49) 81
Brazilian real/US dollar 20 3 10 (20) (5) (15)

The impact of currency risk on net investment hedges is offset by the translation of overseas subsidiaries on consolidation.

Interest rates
At 31 December 2009, if the US dollar interest rate was increased or reduced by 2% with all other variables held constant, profit before  
tax would reduce or increase by £10m, respectively (2008: 2% and £21m), mainly as a result of US dollar denominated floating rate debt. 
There was no significant interest rate risk relating to equity in either year.

Commodity prices
At 31 December 2009, there was no price risk relating to the income statement since all commodity derivatives were treated as cash flow 
hedges with movements being reflected in equity. If the aluminium price was increased or reduced by 10% with all other variables held constant, 
equity would increase or decrease by £22m, respectively (2008: 20% and £68m).

Equity prices
The Group is not subject to any significant equity price risk.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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24 Financial instruments continued 
(e) Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its liquidity to maintain a sufficient level of undrawn committed debt facilities, thereby ensuring financial flexibility. As at  
31 December 2009, Rexam had £1,174m of undrawn committed debt facilities available (2008: £732m). The increase in undrawn committed 
facilities reflects Rexam’s action to reduce liquidity risk in response to deteriorating conditions in the financial markets. 

Group Treasury mitigates refinancing risk by raising its debt requirements from a range of different sources and with a range of maturity dates.  
As at 31 December 2009, committed debt maturities ranged from 5% repayable in less than one year (2008: 13%) to 21% repayable in 2067 
(2008: 2067, 21%). No more than 37% of commited debt matures in any one financial year (2008: 37% of commited debt).

An analysis of undiscounted contractual maturities for non derivative financial liabilities, derivative financial liabilities and assets and undrawn 
committed debt facilities is set out below.

Within 
1 year 

£m

1 to 2 
 years

£m

2 to 5 
 years

£m

More than  
5 years

£m

Total
contractual

maturity 
£m

At 31 December 2009
Trade and other payables (691) (4) (19) (24) (738)
Bank overdrafts (51) – – – (51)
Bank loans (40) (3) (101) (16) (160)
US public bond (23) (23) (411) – (457)
US private placement (9) (9) (157) – (175)
Subordinated bond (46) (46) (137) (813) (1,042)
Medium term notes (27) (27) (676) – (730)
Finance leases (2) (1) – – (3)
Derivative contracts – payments (729) (79) (199) (1,358) (2,365)
Derivative contracts – receipts 831 96 234 1,406 2,567
Derivative contracts – net settlements 1 4 7 – 12
Commodity contracts 26 7 – – 33
Undrawn committed debt facilities 148 221 805 – 1,174

At 31 December 2008
Trade and other payables (982) (17) (2) (14) (1,015)
Bank overdrafts (100) – – – (100)
Bank loans (50) (234) (71) (19) (374)
US public bond (25) (25) (447) – (497)
US private placement (9) (9) (180) – (198)
Subordinated bond (49) (49) (146) (916) (1,160)
Medium term notes (426) (29) (761) – (1,216)
Finance leases (2) (2) (2) (1) (7)
Derivative contracts – payments (1,364) (140) (176) (1,413) (3,093)
Derivative contracts – receipts 1,394 163 228 1,526 3,311
Derivative contracts – net settlements 3 3 7 – 13
Commodity contracts (220) (15) – – (235)
Undrawn committed debt facilities 35 697 – – 732
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24 Financial instruments continued 
(f) Credit risk
The maximum credit risk exposure of the Group’s financial assets at 31 December is represented by the amounts reported under the 
corresponding balance sheet headings. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk associated with financial instruments of the Group. 
Credit risk arises from exposures to external counterparties. In order to manage this risk, the Group has strict credit control quality measures that 
are applied to counterparty institutions and also limits on maximum exposure levels to any one counterparty. 

To manage credit risk, the maximum limits for bank exposures held under Group policy are set out below by individual counterparty credit rating 
category. These limits are used when making investments and for the use of derivative instruments. The table also sets out the Group’s financial 
asset exposure at 31 December for each counterparty credit rating category. 

Credit rating

2009 
Individual 

counterparty 
limit 
£m

2009 
Cash and  

cash 
equivalents 

£m

2009 
Derivatives 

£m

2009 
Total 
£m

2008 
Individual 

counterparty 
limit 
£m

2008 
Cash and  

cash 
equivalents 

£m

2008 
Collateral 

deposits 
£m

2008 
Derivatives 

£m

2008 
Total 
£m

AA+ 80 to 100 – – – 80 to 100 – 11 63 74
AA 70 to 90 5 51 56 70 to 90 – – 3 3
AA– 60 to 80 18 122 140 60 to 80 3 29 86 118
A+  50 to 70 49 6 55 50 to 70 23 2 163 188
A 40 to 60 37 161 198 40 to 60 32 – 77 109
A– 20 to 40 1 – 1 20 to 40 5 – 4 9
BBB+ and below 10 to 30 3 – 3 10 to 30 12 – – 12

113 340 453 75 42 396 513

(g) Capital risk management
The Group’s objective is to minimise its cost of capital by optimising the efficiency of its capital structure, being the balance between equity  
and debt. The Group views its ordinary share capital as equity. This objective is always subject to an overriding principle that capital must  
be managed to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders. The Group is able to adjust its capital structure through the issue or redemption of either debt or equity and by adjustment to  
the dividend paid to equity holders. The Group uses a range of financial metrics to monitor the efficiency of its capital structure, including  
its weighted average cost of capital and net debt to EBITDA and ensures that its capital structure provides sufficient financial strength to  
allow it to secure access to debt finance at reasonable cost.

At 31 December 2009, the Group’s net debt to EBITDA for financial covenant purposes was 2.2 times (2008: 2.7 times). The Group aims to 
keep this ratio within the range 2.0 times to 2.5 times. For this purpose, net debt is broadly net borrowings adjusted to exclude interest accruals, 
certain derivative financial instruments and an equity portion of the subordinated bond and reflects non sterling amounts at average exchange 
rates. EBITDA is underlying operating profit after adding back depreciation and amortisation of computer software and adjusted to include 
acquisitions on a pro forma basis and excludes disposed businesses.
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24 Financial instruments continued 
(iii) Derivative financial instruments
The net fair values of the Group’s derivative financial instruments designated as fair value or cash flow hedges and those not designated  
as hedging instruments are set out below.

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

Fair value hedges
Cross currency swaps 282 337
Interest rate swaps 14 12

296 349
Cash flow hedges
Forward aluminium commodity contracts 35 (220)
Forward gas commodity contracts (2) (3)
Forward resin commodity contracts – (9)
Forward foreign exchange contracts (2) (3)

31 (235)

Total hedge accounted 327 114

Not hedge accounted
Cross currency swaps (136) (211)
Interest rate swaps (3) –
Forward foreign exchange contracts (operating and financing derivatives) (6) (1)
Total not hedge accounted (145) (212)

Total net fair value of derivative financial instruments 182 (98)

Fair value hedges
The Group has designated interest rate swaps and the interest element of cross currency swaps as fair value hedges whereby interest is 
receivable at fixed interest rates varying from 4.375% to 6.75% (2008: 4.375% to 7.1%) and payable at floating rates. These swaps hedge 
the exposure to changes in the fair value of medium term notes which mature in 2013 (2008: 2009 and 2013). The cross currency swaps 
hedge changes in the fair value of the euro subordinated bond which matures in 2067. Ineffectiveness losses of £4m were included in interest  
in 2009 (2008: gains £29m). The Group has also designated forward aluminium commodity contracts as fair value hedges in circumstances 
where there is inventory price risk exposure. This can occur due to timing differences between purchase of aluminium and subsequent conversion 
and sale to customers. No further disclosure is provided due to the insignificance of the amounts involved.

Cash flow hedges
The Group has designated forward foreign exchange contracts and aluminium, resin and gas commodity contracts as cash flow hedges. 
Forward foreign exchange contracts hedge foreign currency transaction risk and mature between 2010 and 2011 (2008: between 2009 and 
2010). The aluminium commodity, resin commodity and gas commodity contracts hedge anticipated future purchases of aluminium, resin and gas 
respectively, and mature between 2010 and 2011 (2008: between 2009 and 2011). 

Not hedge accounted
Derivatives are not used for trading purposes. However, under IAS39 some derivatives may not qualify for hedge accounting, or are specifically 
not designated as a hedge where natural offset is more appropriate. 

Net investment hedges
An analysis of the Group’s non derivative financial instruments designated as net investment hedges with respect to its subsidiaries, principally  
in the Eurozone and USA, are set out below.

Bank 
loans 

£m

US public 
bond 

£m

Medium 
term notes 

£m
Total 
£m

At 1 January 2009 (43) (192) (499) (734)
Net decrease/(increase) in designations 43 (26) (17) –
Exchange differences recognised in equity – 24 33 57
At 31 December 2009 – (194) (483) (677)

At 1 January 2008 (11) – (350) (361)
Net increase in designations (24) (143) (22) (189)
Exchange differences recognised in equity (8) (49) (127) (184)
At 31 December 2008 (43) (192) (499) (734)
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24 Financial instruments continued 
An analysis of the notional amounts and maturity dates for derivative financial instruments is set out below.

Maturity

2009 
Notional  
amounts

£m

2008 
Notional  
amounts

£m

Fair value hedges
Cross currency swaps – euro 2017 676 721
Cross currency swaps – sterling 2017 (505) (505)
Interest rate swaps – euro 2013 180 192
Interest rate swaps – sterling – – 370
Forward aluminium commodity contracts – US dollar 2010 (5) –
Cash flow hedges
Forward foreign exchange contracts – US dollar 2010 to 2011 130 417
Forward foreign exchange contracts – Brazilian real 2010 40 61
Forward foreign exchange contracts – Sterling 2010 (24) (26)
Forward foreign exchange contracts – Swedish krona 2010 (22) (69)
Forward aluminium commodity contracts – US dollar 2010 to 2011 193 567
Forward resin commodity contracts – US dollar 2010 4 16
Forward gas commodity contracts – US dollar 2010 to 2011 5 13
Not hedge accounted
Cross currency swaps – sterling 2010 to 2017 505 875
Cross currency swaps – US dollar 2010 to 2017 (625) (1,052)
Interest rate swaps – US dollar 2012 248 241
Forward foreign exchange contracts – US dollar 2010 to 2012 (485) (152)

For forward foreign exchange contracts, there are other currencies traded which have been excluded based on the fair valuation amounts for 
these contracts being immaterial.

25 Retirement benefit obligations
(i) Summary

UK 
defined 
benefit 

pensions 
£m

USA 
defined 
benefit 

pensions 
£m

Other  
defined 
benefit  

pensions 
£m

Total 
defined 
benefit 

pensions 
£m

Other 
pensions 

£m

Total 
pensions 

£m

Retiree 
medical 

£m

Gross 
retirement 

benefit 
obligations 

£m

At 1 January 2009 16 (54) (43) (81) (20) (101) (127) (228)
Exchange differences – 8 3 11 1 12 9 21
Service cost (7) (4) (1) (12) (12) (24) (1) (25)
Exceptional items 1 1 – 2 – 2 – 2
Net finance cost (2) (19) (2) (23) – (23) (8) (31)
Actuarial changes (36) (154) 4 (186) – (186) 5 (181)
Cash contributions and benefits paid 17 1 2 20 12 32 11 43
Transfers – 3 – 3 – 3 – 3
At 31 December 2009 (11) (218) (37) (266) (19) (285) (111) (396)

At 1 January 2008 68 (101) (30) (63) (17) (80) (98) (178)
Exchange differences – (17) (8) (25) (4) (29) (33) (62)
Service cost (10) (4) (1) (15) (9) (24) (1) (25)
Exceptional items – (3) – (3) – (3) 4 1
Net finance cost 15 (14) (1) – – – (7) (7)
Actuarial changes (89) 64 (5) (30) 1 (29) (1) (30)
Cash contributions and benefits paid 32 19 2 53 9 62 9 71
Transfers – 2 – 2 – 2 – 2
At 31 December 2008 16 (54) (43) (81) (20) (101) (127) (228)

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

Gross retirement benefit obligations (396) (228)
Deferred tax 117 58
Net retirement benefit obligations (279) (170)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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25 Retirement benefit obligations continued 
(ii) Defined benefit pension plans
The Group operates various defined benefit pension plans throughout the world, the largest being the funded plans in the UK and USA. With respect 
to the UK, a full actuarial valuation by a qualified actuary was carried out as at 31 March 2008 and updated to 31 December 2009. With 
respect to the USA, a full actuarial valuation by a qualified actuary was carried out as at 1 January 2009 and updated to 31 December 2009.

In 2009, Rexam PLC entered into a security agreement with the Trustees of the UK pension plan, granting them a charge over the Beverage 
Cans UK facilities and machinery at Milton Keynes and Wakefield, enforceable before 1 January 2013 in the event of contribution default  
or a material decline in Rexam’s pension covenant.

UK 
2009 

£m

USA 
2009 

£m

Other 
2009 

£m

Total 
2009 

£m

UK 
2008

£m

USA 
2008

£m

Other 
2008

£m

Total 
2008

£m

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
Fair value of plan assets 1,489 980 11 2,480 1,310 1,186 9 2,505
Present value of funded obligations (1,500) (1,159) (14) (2,673) (1,294) (1,200) (16) (2,510)
Funded defined benefit pension plans (11) (179) (3) (193) 16 (14) (7) (5)
Present value of unfunded obligations – (39) (34) (73) – (40) (36) (76)
Net (liability)/asset (11) (218) (37) (266) 16 (54) (43) (81)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement
Current service cost (7) (4) (1) (12) (10) (4) (1) (15)
Exceptional items – past service credit – 1 – 1 – – – –
Exceptional items – curtailments 1 – – 1 – (3) – (3)
Employee benefit expense (6) (3) (1) (10) (10) (7) (1) (18)
Expected return on plan assets 74 52 1 127 94 46 – 140
Interest cost (76) (71) (3) (150) (79) (60) (1) (140)
Net finance (charge)/credit (2) (19) (2) (23) 15 (14) (1) –
Total (8) (22) (3) (33) 5 (21) (2) (18)

(c) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of  
comprehensive income
Actuarial gains/(losses) on plan assets 142 (71) 2 73 (255) 38 (4) (221)
Actuarial (losses)/gains on retirement benefit obligations (178) (83) 2 (259) 166 26 (1) 191
Total (36) (154) 4 (186) (89) 64 (5) (30)

(d) Changes in the fair value of plan assets
At 1 January 1,310 1,186 9 2,505 1,491 861 9 2,361
Exchange differences – (93) (1) (94) – 302 4 306
Expected return on plan assets 74 52 1 127 94 46 – 140
Actuarial gains/(losses) 142 (71) 2 73 (255) 38 (4) (221)
Employer contributions 17 – – 17 32 18 – 50
Plan participant contributions 3 – – 3 3 – – 3
Benefits paid (57) (94) – (151) (55) (79) – (134)
At 31 December 1,489 980 11 2,480 1,310 1,186 9 2,505

% % % % % % % %

(e) Major categories of plan assets
Equities 53 18 74 39 45 11 67 29
Bonds 45 82 22 59 53 89 27 69
Cash 2 – 4 2 2 – 6 2
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25 Retirement benefit obligations continued 
(f) Changes in the present value of defined benefit pension obligations

UK 
2009 

£m

USA 
2009 

£m

Other 
2009 

£m

Total 
2009 

£m

UK 
2008 

£m

USA 
2008 

£m

Other 
2008 

£m

Total 
2008 

£m

At 1 January (1,294) (1,240) (52) (2,586) (1,423) (962) (39) (2,424)
Exchange differences – 101 4 105 – (319) (12) (331)
Current service cost (7) (4) (1) (12) (10) (4) (1) (15)
Exceptional items 1 1 – 2 – (3) – (3)
Interest cost (76) (71) (3) (150) (79) (60) (1) (140)
Actuarial (losses)/gains (178) (83) 2 (259) 166 26 (1) 191
Plan participant contributions (3) – – (3) (3) – – (3)
Benefits paid 57 95 2 154 55 80 2 137
Transfer from available for sale financial assets – 3 – 3 – 2 – 2
At 31 December (1,500) (1,198) (48) (2,746) (1,294) (1,240) (52) (2,586)

(g) Principal actuarial assumptions
UK 

2009
%

USA 
2009

%

Other 
2009

%

UK 
2008

%

USA 
2008

%

Other 
2008

%

Future salary increases 5.20 4.00 3.07 4.30 4.00 3.07
Future pension increases 3.70 – 2.00 2.80 – 2.00
Discount rate 5.70 5.50 5.06 6.00 6.25 5.05
Inflation rate 3.70 2.50 2.00 2.80 2.50 2.00
Expected return on plan assets (net of administration expenses):
Equities 7.75 7.56 8.30 7.47 7.49 8.70
Bonds 4.70 4.76 3.70 4.47 4.50 3.20
Cash and other 0.25 3.16 1.00 1.82 3.01 4.00

To develop the expected return on plan assets assumptions, the Group considered the current level of expected returns on risk free investments, 
primarily government bonds, the historical level of the risk premium associated with the asset class concerned and the expectations for future 
returns of the asset class. The resulting returns for equities, bonds and cash were then reduced to allow for administration expenses.

The mortality assumptions used in valuing the liabilities of the UK pension plan in 2009 and 2008 are based on the standard tables PA92  
as published by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. These tables are adjusted to reflect the circumstances of the plan membership. The life 
expectancy assumed for male pensioners aged 65 is 21.2 years (2008: 21.2 years) and for female pensioners aged 65 is 24.3 years  
(2008: 24.3 years). The life expectancy at age 65 assumed for male non pensioners currently aged 45 is 23.4 years (2008: 23.4 years)  
and for female non pensioners currently aged 45 is 26.7 years (2008: 26.7 years). 

The mortality assumptions used in valuing the liabilities of the US pension plans in 2009 and 2008 are based on the RP2000 combined active 
and retiree mortality table projected to 2006 weighted 70% blue collar and 30% white collar. The life expectancy assumed for male pensioners 
aged 65 is 17.8 years (2008: 17.8 years) and for female pensioners aged 65 is 20.2 years (2008: 20.2 years).

(h) Historic information on defined benefit plans
2009

£m
2008

£m
2007

£m
2006

£m
2005

£m

Fair value of plan assets 2,480 2,505 2,361 2,313 2,357
Present value of defined benefit obligations (2,746) (2,586) (2,424) (2,639) (2,871)
Net liability (266) (81) (63) (326) (514)

Cumulative actuarial gains/(losses) 37 223 253 36 (99)

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Experience gains/(losses) arising on plan assets: 
Amount (£m) 73 (221) 81 32 145
Percentage of plan assets (%) 3 (9) 3 1 6
Experience (losses)/gains arising on defined benefit obligations:
Amount (£m) (259) 191 136 103 (165)
Percentage of present value of defined benefit obligations (%) (9) 7 6 4 (6)

The Group expects to contribute £26m in cash to its defined benefit pension plans in 2010.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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25 Retirement benefit obligations continued
(iii) Other pension plans
The Group operates a number of defined contribution plans, included as part of other pensions in (i) above, for which the charge in the 
consolidated income statement for the year was £10m (2008: £8m) and cash contributions were £10m (2008: £8m).

(iv) Retiree medical
Certain current and former employees in the USA are provided with cover for medical costs and life assurance, referred to in these consolidated 
financial statements as retiree medical. These unfunded benefits are assessed with the advice of a qualified actuary.

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
Present value of the retiree medical obligation (111) (127)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement
Current service cost (1) (1)
Exceptional item – past service credit – 3
Exceptional item – curtailment – 1
Employee benefit (charge)/credit (1) 3
Interest cost (including administration costs of £1m (2008: £1m)) (8) (7)

(9) (4)

(c) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Actuarial gains/(losses) 5 (1)

(d) Changes in the present value of the retiree medical obligation
At 1 January (127) (98)
Exchange differences 9 (33)
Current service cost (1) (1)
Exceptional items – 4
Interest cost (8) (7)
Actuarial gains/(losses) 5 (1)
Benefits paid 11 9
At 31 December (111) (127)

(e) Principal actuarial assumptions

2009
%

2008
%

Discount rate 5.50 6.25
Healthcare cost trend rate 9 reducing to 

5 over 17 years
9 reducing to  

5 over 9 years

The mortality assumptions used in valuing the liabilities for retiree medical in 2009 and 2008 are based on the RP2000 combined active and 
retiree blue collar table projected to 2006. The life expectancy assumed for male pensioners aged 65 is 16.8 years (2008: 16.8 years) and 
for female pensioners aged 65 is 19.6 years (2008: 19.6 years).

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates do not have much of an impact on the Group with respect to retiree medical. A one percentage point 
change in assumed rates would have the impact as set out below.

2009
£m

2008
£m

1% increase – Service cost and interest cost combined increase – –
1% increase – Retiree medical obligation increase (3) (4)
1% decrease – Service cost and interest cost combined reduction – –
1% decrease – Retiree medical obligation reduction 3 5

(f) Historic information on retiree medical
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Present value of retiree medical obligation (£m) (111) (127) (98) (163) (244)
Cumulative actuarial gains/(losses) (£m) 19 14 15 15 (5)
Experience gains/(losses) arising on retiree medical obligation:
Amount (£m) 5 (1) – 20 8
Percentage of present value of retiree medical obligation (%) 5 (1) – 12 3
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26 Provisions

Environmental 
compliance 

£m

Restructuring 
of businesses 

£m

Indirect 
tax  

exposures 
£m

Other 
£m

Total 
£m

At 1 January 2009 (27) (22) (18) (11) (78)
Exchange differences 3 2 (4) (3) (2)
Charge for the year – (74) – – (74)
Utilised 3 36 4 – 43
Transfers (1) 2 – – 1
Other movements – – (4) – (4)
At 31 December 2009 (22) (56) (22) (14) (114)
At 31 December 2009
Current liabilities (3) (54) (4) (1) (62)
Non current liabilities (19) (2) (18) (13) (52)

(22) (56) (22) (14) (114)
At 31 December 2008
Current liabilities (4) (16) – (1) (21)
Non current liabilities (23) (6) (18) (10) (57)

(27) (22) (18) (11) (78)

Environmental compliance mainly relates to the USA and France and is long term in nature with the timing of utilisation unknown due to the  
need to complete remedial investigations, to negotiate remedial plans with local authorities and to implement agreed plans. The provision for 
restructuring of businesses of £56m at 31 December 2009 comprises £29m relating to Plastic Packaging, £26m relating to Beverage Cans  
and £1m relating to the reorganisation of corporate activities. Indirect tax exposures relate to Brazil and are long term in nature, with the timing 
of payment, if any, dependent upon the outcome of tax cases and exposures. Other provisions comprise £12m (2008: £9m) in respect of a 
legacy litigation claim relating to an acquired business where the amount of the final liability and timing of payment, if any, is dependent upon 
the outcome of the litigation and £2m (2008: £2m) in respect of onerous property and other contracts, the timing of the utilisation of which is  
in accordance with those contracts. 

27 Share capital

Number of shares

Ordinary 
shares of  

642/7p issued  
and fully paid 

Thousands

Ordinary 
shares of  

642/7p 
authorised 
Thousands

At 1 January 2009 642,920 933,333
Increase in authorised share capital at AGM 2009 – 233,334
Shares issued on rights issue 233,799 –
Shares issued on employee share option schemes 110 –
At 31 December 2009 876,829 1,166,667

At 1 January 2008 642,590 933,333
Shares issued on employee share option schemes 330 –
At 31 December 2008 642,920 933,333

Under the authority given to the directors at the AGM 2009, the Company issued 233,799,459 new ordinary shares on 19 August 2009 by 
way of a 4 for 11 rights issue at a price of 150p per share announced on 29 July 2009. The rights issue raised net proceeds of £334m after 
costs of £16m. As part of the arrangement for the rights issue, the Company entered into an arrangement with a subsidiary availing itself of 
statutory merger relief for not recording share premium under section 131 of the Companies Act 1985. The nominal value of the new ordinary 
shares issued of £150m was credited to share capital, the costs of £16m were charged to share premium account and the remaining 
consideration of £200m was recorded as a merger reserve. This merger reserve was transferred to retained earnings on 10 November 2009 
following redemption of the preference shares in the subsidiary.

The rights and restrictions attaching to the ordinary shares and the provisions relating to the transfer of ordinary shares are as governed by  
law and in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive all shareholder documents, 
to attend, speak and exercise voting rights, either in person or by proxy, on resolutions proposed at general meetings and participate in any 
distribution of income or capital. The directors may refuse to register a transfer of ordinary shares where such transfer documents are not lodged 
by acceptable means or proof of title is required. Ordinary shares are held by the Rexam Employee Share Trust (Trust) for the satisfaction of 
options granted through the Long Term Incentive Schemes (LTIP), Deferred Bonus Incentive Scheme (DBIS) and in part, through the Executive Share 
Option Scheme (ESOS). The independent trustee of the Trust has the same rights as any other shareholder. The options granted under the 
Company’s other share incentive schemes are satisfied from the issue of new ordinary shares. Participants do not hold any voting rights on the 
ordinary shares under option until the date of exercise. There are no restrictions on the voting rights of holders of ordinary shares nor any known 
agreements between holders of ordinary shares under which financial rights are held by any person other than the registered holder, or voting 
rights or the transfer of ordinary shares are restricted.
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28 Other reserves

Translation
reserve 

£m

Net 
investment

hedge
reserve 

£m

Cash flow
hedge
reserve 

£m

Available 
for sale 

financial 
assets 

reserve 
£m

Merger
reserve

£m
Total
£m

At 1 January 2009 662 (183) (151) – – 328
Exchange differences before recognition of net investment hedges (207) – – – – (207)
Net investment hedges recognised – 57 – – – 57
Exchange differences recycled to the income statement on disposal of subsidiaries (14) – – – – (14)
Cash flow hedges recognised – – 73 – – 73
Tax on cash flow hedges – – (48) – – (48)
Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory – – 163 – – 163
Cash flow hedges transferred to the income statement – – 14 – – 14
Changes in market value of available for sale financial assets – – – (4) – (4)
Recognised on rights issue (note 27) – – – – 200 200
Transfer to retained earnings (note 27) – – – – (200) (200)
At 31 December 2009 441 (126) 51 (4) – 362

At 1 January 2008 11 1 (6) (3) – 3
Exchange differences before recognition of net investment hedges 651 – – – – 651
Net investment hedges recognised – (184) – – – (184)
Cash flow hedges recognised – – (189) – – (189)
Tax on cash flow hedges – – 35 – – 35
Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory – – 9 – – 9
Changes in market value of available for sale financial assets – – – 3 – 3
At 31 December 2008 662 (183) (151) – – 328

29 Share based payment
Rexam’s equity settled share based payment schemes comprise the Long Term Incentive Schemes (LTIP), Deferred Bonus Incentive Scheme (DBIS), 
Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS) and the Savings Related Share Option Schemes (SAYE). Rexam’s cash settled share based payment 
scheme is the Phantom Stock Plan (Phantoms).

LTIP
Annual grants of options over ordinary shares are made to executive directors and certain senior executives. The Total Shareholder Return (TSR)  
of Rexam is measured and compared to a comparator group of listed companies. The percentage of share options that actually vest is dependent 
upon Rexam’s comparative TSR over a three year measurement period, commencing on 1 January of the year in which the option is granted. If 
performance targets are met, share options vest on 1 January, three years after the start of the measurement period and can be exercised at a 
nominal cost to the employee. The expiry date is six years and eleven months after the grant date. No options were granted in 2009.

DBIS
A grant of options was made during 2007 to an executive director. The number of shares that vested was measured over 2007 against a non 
market based condition relating to an OI Plastics operating profit target. The option may be exercised at nominal cost to the participant for a 
period of three months from 1 January 2010, subject to the director being an employee of the Group at the time, and will expire on  
31 March 2010.

ESOS
Annual grants of options over ordinary shares are made to certain senior management. For grants up to and including 2006, shares vest if  
a performance target (annual growth rate of pre determined economic profit) is met over the three year measurement period. No performance 
target was set for the 2007 and 2008 grants and the options will vest three years after the grant date, provided the participant is an employee 
of the Group at that time. Share options are exercisable three years after grant date and expire ten years after grant date. The exercise price is 
set at market value using the market price of a Rexam ordinary share at the grant date. No options have been granted since 2008.

SAYE
All employee SAYE schemes are open to eligible employees resident in the UK and Ireland. Annual grants of options over ordinary shares are 
currently made at an exercise price of 80% of the market value of Rexam shares at the grant date. Share options vest three, five or seven years 
after the commencement of the savings contract, depending on the term selected by the employee at grant and expire six months after vesting.

Phantoms
This scheme operates in the same way as the ESOS with the same terms and conditions. Grants are made to senior management located outside 
the UK and Europe and are settled in cash. No options have been granted since 2008.
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29 Share based payment continued 
The employee benefit expense recognised in relation to share based payment in 2009 is £6m, wholly in relation to equity settled schemes 
(2008: £2m).

The fair values of the share options granted during the year are calculated using the models set out below.

Valuation model

LTIP Monte Carlo/Binomial
DBIS Black–Scholes
ESOS Binomial
SAYE Black–Scholes
Phantoms Binomial

The number of options and weighted average exercise prices of all share option schemes are set out below.

2009 
Number of 

options

2009 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
Pence

2008 
Number of 

options

2008 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
Pence

Outstanding at 1 January 16,906,601 272.3 16,413,640 279.2
Rights issue adjustment 1,424,706 252.3 – –
Granted 1,537,603 212.0 6,207,407 289.4
Lapsed (6,036,988) 247.9 (5,021,675) 300.5
Exercised (131,093) 262.0 (362,283) 298.6
Expired (657,876) 398.4 (330,488) 481.2
Outstanding at 31 December 13,042,953 234.3 16,906,601 272.3

Exercisable at 31 December 845,747 313.4 1,178,596 351.7

The exercise prices and average remaining contractual lives of share options by scheme are set out below.

2009 
Options 

outstanding 
Number

2009 
Range of 

exercise prices  
Pence

2009 
Weighted average 

remaining 
contractual life  

Years

2008 
Options 

outstanding 
Number

2008 
Range of 

exercise prices  
Pence

2008 
Weighted average 

remaining 
contractual life  

Years

LTIP 4,474,100 – 4.7 6,629,676 0.0 to 0.1 5.2
DBIS 57,777 – 0.2 51,477 – 1.2
ESOS 3,769,776 186.9 to 461.1 7.4 5,189,131 196.9 to 552.7 7.8
SAYE 1,946,505 212.0 to 387.6 4.0 1,356,081 280.3 to 435.0 3.4
Phantoms 2,794,795 270.6 to 456.6 7.4 3,680,236 303.7 to 552.7 8.1

The key assumptions used in valuing share options are set out below.

2009 2008

Expected dividend growth (%) 6.9 to 7.4 4.5 to 5.8
Expected and historical volatility (%) 29.5 to 42.6 22.3 to 34.1
Risk free interest rate (%) 1.7 to 4.1 2.0 to 5.0
Expected life of LTIP options (years) 3 3
Expected life of ESOS options (years) 5 5
Expected life of SAYE options (3 year, 5 year and 7 year contracts) (years) 3.2, 5.2 and 7.2 3.2, 5.2 and 7.2
Expected life of DBIS options (years) 2.3 2.3
Expected life of phantoms options (years) 3 to 10 3 to 10
Weighted average share price (pence) 287 401
Weighted average fair value of options granted (pence) 41 92
Weighted average exercise price (pence) 331 287

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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29 Share based payment continued 
The assumptions made to incorporate the effects of expected early exercise have been included by assuming an expected option life based  
on historical exercise patterns for each option scheme. Historical volatilities are arrived at using a period comparable with the expected life of  
the option. The correlation coefficient for the LTIP is calculated using the correlation matrix for the TSR simulation using three year daily historical 
stock price series for each company in the comparator group, including Rexam, from the beginning of the measurement period. A ten year life  
is initially assumed to calculate the fair value of phantoms. As the fair value is updated at each subsequent valuation the expected life is reduced 
for each year until exercise.

Rexam Employee Share Trust
The Group operates an employee share trust, the Rexam Employee Share Trust (Trust), that owns 525,805 ordinary shares of 642/7p in Rexam 
PLC at 31 December 2009 (2008: 463,910) acquired at an average cost of £4.72 (2008: £5.15) and included in the consolidated balance 
sheet within retained earnings at a cost of £2m (2008: £2m). The shares are used to satisfy LTIP, DBIS and certain ESOS share option exercises. 
The purchases are funded by a combination of cash contributions from participating companies and interest free loans from Rexam PLC. 
Dividends receivable during the year have been waived. The administration expenses of the Trust are borne by the Trust. Shares are allocated by 
the Trust when relevant options under the schemes are exercised. The market value of the shares at 31 December 2009 was £2m (2008: £2m).

30 Acquisition of subsidiaries
On 20 February 2009, the Group acquired the remaining 50% of Rexam Pavisa de CV, a Mexican Plastic Packaging business. The business 
was previously accounted for as a joint venture.

£m

Cash consideration 5
Fair value of net assets acquired (2)
Goodwill 3

Book
values

£m

Fair value 
adjustments 

£m

Fair
values 

£m

Intangible assets – 2 2
Tangible assets 2 (2) –
Net assets acquired 2 – 2
Share of net assets originally held as a joint venture 2 – 2
Total net assets 4 – 4

Fair value adjustments were the recognition of £2m of intangible assets relating to customer contracts, a £1m write down of property, plant and 
equipment with respect to asset lives and a £1m write down relating to inventory valuation. The goodwill is attributable to the value of synergies 
and the workforce.

31 Disposal of subsidiaries
In November 2009 the Petainer plastic bottle business was sold and in December 2009 a small Personal Care business based in Sussex, WI, 
was sold. The combined net assets, proceeds and loss on disposal of these disposals are set out below.

£m

Goodwill 8
Property, plant and equipment 5
Working capital 1
Assets classified as held for sale 37
Liabilities classified as held for sale (13)
Net assets 38

Cash proceeds 19
Accrued amounts (1)
Notes receivable 1
Total proceeds 19

Gross loss on disposals (19)
Exchange gains recycled from translation reserve to the income statement 14
Exceptional loss on disposals (note 6) (5)

Included in net assets was £4m of cash and cash equivalents recorded within assets classified as held for sale.
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32 Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax to cash generated from operations 
2009

£m
2008

£m

(Loss)/profit before tax (59) 240
Adjustments for:
Net interest expense 117 134
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 208 166
Amortisation of intangible assets 64 56
Impairment of goodwill 196 –
Impairment of other assets 40 19
Reversal of impairment of other assets (4) –
Movement in working capital 40 (155)
Movement in provisions 31 8
Movement in retirement benefit obligations 11 (40)
Movement in collateral deposits 43 (42)
Other adjustments 21 10
Cash generated from operations 708 396

33 Contingent liabilities
2009

£m
2008

£m

Guarantees of borrowings – 3

In an international group a variety of claims arise from time to time; some have little or no foundation in law or in fact and others cannot be 
quantified. The claims include litigation against Group companies, investigations by regulatory and fiscal authorities and obligations arising 
under environmental legislation. Provision has been made in these consolidated financial statements against those claims which the directors 
consider are likely to result in significant liabilities. 

34 Commitments
(i) Operating lease commitments
The Group leases offices and warehouses under non cancellable operating leases. The leases have varying terms, purchase options, escalation 
clauses and renewal rights. The Group also leases plant and equipment under cancellable operating leases.

An analysis of the total future minimum lease payments under non cancellable operating leases is set out below.

2009
Property

£m

2009
Plant and

equipment
£m

2008
Property

£m

2008
Plant and

equipment
£m

Less than 1 year 29 2 29 3
Between 1 and 5 years 60 3 64 4
Over 5 years 46 – 53 –
Total 135 5 146 7

Total future minimum sublease receipts under non cancellable operating leases are £11m (2008: £10m).

(ii) Capital commitments
2009 

£m
2008

£m

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure not provided in the consolidated financial statements
Property, plant and equipment 18 25

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Five year financial summary
2009

£m
2008

£m
2007 

£m
2006

£m
2005

£m

Consolidated income statement
Continuing operations
Sales 4,866 4,618 3,611 3,301 2,806
Underlying operating expenses (4,420) (4,152) (3,257) (2,926) (2,435)
Underlying operating profit 446 466 354 375 371
Underlying share of post tax profits of associates 1 1 – 1 3
Retirement benefit obligations net finance cost (31) (7) (14) (22) (28)
Underlying net interest expense (131) (132) (95) (90) (76)
Underlying profit before tax 285 328 245 264 270
Exceptional and other items1 (344) (88) 15 4 49
(Loss)/profit before tax (59) 240 260 268 319
Tax 30 (69) (86) (73) (95)
(Loss)/profit for the financial year (29) 171 174 195 224
Discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) for the financial year – – 66 28 (1)
Total (loss)/profit for the financial year (29) 171 240 223 223

Consolidated balance sheet
Goodwill and other intangible assets 2,481 2,949 2,216 1,532 1,510
Property, plant and equipment 1,723 1,982 1,310 1,190 1,186
Retirement benefit obligations (net of tax) (279) (170) (128) (365) (548)
Other net assets/(liabilities) 225 16 (3) 64 81
Underlying net assets 4,150 4,777 3,395 2,421 2,229

Shareholders’ equity 2,320 2,174 1,831 1,247 1,009
Minority interests 2 2 2 2 –
Total equity 2,322 2,176 1,833 1,249 1,009
Net borrowings 1,828 2,601 1,562 1,172 1,220
Capital employed 4,150 4,777 3,395 2,421 2,229

Statistics
Underlying return on sales2 % 9.2 10.1 9.8 11.4 13.2
Underlying earnings per share2,6 Pence 25.4 31.5 24.9 31.7 31.0
Basic (loss)/earnings per share3,6 Pence (3.7) 23.9 25.2 31.0 36.2
Dividends per ordinary share4,6 Pence 8.0 18.7 17.8 16.9 16.1
Interest cover3,5 Times 3.4 3.5 3.7 4.2 4.9
Free cash flow £m 290 (128) 24 173 248
Capital expenditure (gross) £m 184 389 311 214 176
Return on net assets7 % 17.1 20.6 24.3 34.7 39.3
Return on capital employed8 % 9.5 11.0 11.9 15.6 16.4
Gearing % 79 120 85 94 121
Average number of employees3 Number 22,900 24,100 22,300 20,600 17,800

1 Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on financing derivatives.

2 Based on continuing operations before exceptional and other items.

3 Based on continuing operations.

4 Includes proposed final dividends.

5 Based on underlying operating profit and underlying net interest expense.

6 Restated for the 2009 rights issue.

7 Underlying operating profit from continuing operations plus share of associates profit after tax divided by the average of opening and closing shareholders’ equity after adding back retirement benefit 
obligations (net of tax), net borrowings and goodwill.

8 Underlying operating profit from continuing operations plus share of associates profit after tax divided by the average of opening and closing shareholders’ equity after adding back retirement benefit 
obligations (net of tax) and net borrowings.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Rexam PLC
We have audited the company financial statements of Rexam PLC for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the Rexam PLC 
Balance Sheet and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities on page 58, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the company financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of  
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the company financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2009;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion: 

• the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and 

•  the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the company financial statements are prepared is consistent  
with the company financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches  
not visited by us; or 

•  the company financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records  
and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Other matter 
We have reported separately on the consolidated financial statements of Rexam PLC for the year ended 31 December 2009. 

Robert Milburn (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
17 February 2010
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Rexam PLC balance sheet

As at 31 December Notes
2009 

£m
2008 

£m

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 4 11 11
Investments in subsidiaries 5 5,333 5,700
Derivative financial instruments 9 268 337

5,612 6,048
Current assets
Debtors receivable within one year 6 11 51
Derivative financial instruments 9 29 29
Cash at bank and in hand 53 16

93 96
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings 8 (52) (454)
Derivative financial instruments 9 (4) (13)
Other creditors 7 (584) (482)

(640) (949)

Net current liabilities (547) (853)
Total assets less current liabilities 5,065 5,195
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings 8 (1,922) (2,232)
Derivative financial instruments 9 (139) (212)
Other creditors 7 (603) (598)

(2,664) (3,042)
Provisions for liabilities and charges (1) –
Net assets 2,400 2,153

Capital and reserves
Ordinary share capital 563 413
Share premium account 989 1,005
Capital redemption reserve 351 351
Profit and loss reserve 342 229
Other reserves 155 155
Total capital and reserves 12 2,400 2,153

Approved by the Board on 17 February 2010

Graham Chipchase, Chief Executive

David Robbie, Finance Director
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Notes to the company financial statements
1 Principal accounting policies
The financial statements of Rexam PLC are prepared under UK GAAP using the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of 
certain financial instruments and in accordance with applicable accounting standards. As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 
2006, the profit and loss account is not presented.

The Company has adopted the FRS20 ‘Share based payment’ (Amendment) as of 1 January 2009.

This amendment deals with vesting conditions and cancellations. It clarifies that vesting conditions are only service conditions and performance 
conditions. Other features of a share based payment are not vesting conditions. These non vesting features would need to be included in the 
grant date fair value for transactions with employees; they would not impact the number of awards expected to vest or valuation thereof 
subsequent to grant date. The amendment does not have a material impact on the company financial statements.

Foreign currencies
All exchange differences arising on foreign currencies are taken to the profit and loss account.

Interest
Interest on cash and cash equivalents and borrowings held at amortised cost is recognised in the profit and loss account using the effective 
interest method. Interest includes exchange differences arising on cash and cash equivalents and borrowings. Interest includes all fair value gains 
and losses on derivative financial instruments, and corresponding adjustments to hedged items under designated fair value hedging relationships, 
where they relate to financing activities and are recognised in the profit and loss account. 

Retirement benefits
The pension rights of Rexam PLC employees are dealt with through a self administered scheme, the assets of which are held independently of the 
Group’s finances. The scheme is a defined benefit scheme that is funded partly by contributions from members and partly by contributions from 
Rexam PLC and its subsidiaries at rates advised by independent professionally qualified actuaries. In accordance with FRS17, Rexam PLC 
accounts for its contributions as though it were a defined contribution scheme. This is because the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme 
cover Rexam PLC and a number of its subsidiaries and it cannot be split between each subsidiary on a consistent and reasonable basis, as the 
scheme has a large number of members who were employed by companies which are no longer in existence or are no longer part of the 
Group. An actuarial valuation at a Group level on an FRS17 basis has not been performed, but a deficit at 31 December 2009 of £11m 
(2008: surplus £16m) has been calculated in accordance with IAS19. Further details of the scheme and its accounting deficit (2008: surplus) 
can be found in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share based payment
Rexam PLC operates various share settled share option schemes. The services received from employees are measured by reference to the fair 
value of the share options. The fair value is calculated at grant date and recognised in the profit and loss account, together with a corresponding 
increase in shareholders’ funds. Share settled share options granted directly to subsidiary company employees are treated as a capital 
contribution to the subsidiary. The capital contribution is measured by reference to the fair value of the share options and recognised as an 
increase in the cost of investment with a corresponding increase in shareholders’ funds. The recognition of the fair value is based on a straight 
line basis over the vesting period, based on an estimate of the number of options that will eventually vest. Vesting conditions, which comprise 
service conditions and performance conditions, are not taken into account when estimating the fair value. All non vesting conditions are included 
in fair value. FRS20 has been applied to share settled share options granted after 7 November 2002. The Rexam Employee Share Trust holds 
shares in Rexam PLC which are presented in the balance sheet as a deduction from shareholders’ funds.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less provision for depreciation. Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost, less 
estimated residual value, of tangible fixed assets over their expected lives by equal annual instalments. Depreciation is provided on all tangible 
fixed assets. Assumed lives vary according to the class of asset as follows:

Computer hardware and software 2 to 7 years
Fixtures and fittings 4 to 10 years

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provisions for impairment where appropriate.

Dividends
Under FRS21, final ordinary dividends payable to the shareholders of Rexam PLC are recognised in the period that they are approved by  
the shareholders. Interim ordinary dividends payable are recognised in the period that they are paid. Dividends receivable are recognised  
when the Company’s right to receive payment is established.
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1 Principal accounting policies continued 
Financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. Derivative financial instruments used by the Company include interest rate swaps, 
cross currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and forward aluminium commodity contracts.

Certain derivative financial instruments are designated as hedges in line with the Company’s risk management policies. Hedges are classified  
as follows:

(i) Fair value hedges where they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability.

(ii)   Cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised 
asset or liability or a forecasted transaction.

For fair value hedges, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised in the profit and loss account.  
Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and similarly 
recognised in the profit and loss account.

For cash flow hedges, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised  
in reserves, with any ineffective portion recognised in the profit and loss account. When hedged cash flows result in the recognition of a non 
financial asset or liability, the associated gains or losses previously recognised in reserves are included in the initial measurement of the asset  
or liability. For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that are recognised in reserves are transferred to the profit and loss account  
in the same period in which the hedged cash flows affect the profit and loss account.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments not designated as hedges are recognised immediately  
in the profit and loss account.

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost except where they are hedged by an effective fair value hedge, in which case the carrying value  
is adjusted to reflect the fair value movements associated with the hedged risk.

Debtors are measured at amortised cost less any provision for impairment. Debtors are discounted when the time value of money is considered 
material.

2 Employee costs and numbers   
2009

£m
2008

£m

Employee costs including directors:
Wages and salaries 16 15
Termination payments 6 –
Social security 2 2
Share based payment 4 2
Retirement benefits 9 10

37 29

For details of directors’ remuneration see the Remuneration Report.

2009 
Number

2008
Number

Average employee numbers 108 131

3 Equity dividends
For details of equity dividends see note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the company financial statements
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4 Tangible assets
Computer
hardware

and software
£m

Fixtures and
fittings

£m
Total
£m

Cost
At 1 January 2009 15 2 17
Additions 3 – 3
At 31 December 2009 18 2 20
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2009 (5) (1) (6)
Depreciation for the year (3) – (3)
At 31 December 2009 (8) (1) (9)

Carrying value at 31 December 2009 10 1 11
Cost
At 1 January 2008 13 2 15
Additions 5 – 5
Disposals (3) – (3)
At 31 December 2008 15 2 17
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2008 (6) (1) (7)
Disposals 3 – 3
Depreciation for the year (2) – (2)
At 31 December 2008 (5) (1) (6)

Carrying value at 31 December 2008 10 1 11

5 Investments in subsidiaries
 Shares

£m
 Loans

£m
Total
£m

At 1 January 2009 1,276 4,424 5,700
Exchange differences – (217) (217)
Additions/advances 840 1,293 2,133
Disposals/repayments (338) (1,945) (2,283)
At 31 December 2009 1,778 3,555 5,333

At 1 January 2008 1,276 3,364 4,640
Exchange differences – 687 687
Additions/advances – 758 758
Disposals/repayments – (385) (385)
At 31 December 2008 1,276 4,424 5,700

For details of the principal subsidiaries of Rexam PLC see note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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6 Debtors receivable within one year
2009

£m
2008

£m

Trade debtors 1 2
Due from subsidiaries – 2
Prepayments 4 3
Collateral deposits – 42
Other debtors 6 2

11 51

Collateral deposits in 2008 related to funds placed with derivative counterparties in respect of certain commodity contracts where the market 
value of the contract exceeded a predetermined threshold in favour of the derivative counterparties. 

7 Other creditors
2009

£m
2008

£m

Amounts falling due within one year
Trade creditors (2) (2)
Due to subsidiaries (567) (469)
Other tax and social security (3) (3)
Accruals (10) (7)
Other creditors (2) (1)

(584) (482)
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Due to subsidiaries (602) (597)
Other creditors (1) (1)

(603) (598)

8 Borrowings
2009 

£m
2008

£m

Unsecured
Bank overdrafts (2) (10)
Bank loans (91) (277)
US public bond (342) (371)
US private placement (140) (152)
Subordinated bond (757) (796)
Medium term notes (642) (1,080)

(1,974) (2,686)
Repayment analysis
Amounts falling due after more than one year:
In more than one year but not more than two years – (222)
In more than two years but not more than five years (1,188) (1,239)
In more than five years (734) (771)

(1,922) (2,232)
Amounts falling due within one year (52) (454)

(1,974) (2,686)

In 2009 a fair value loss of £2m (2008: £11m) on medium term notes and a fair value loss of £7m (2008: £52m) on the subordinated bond 
under designated fair value hedge relationships were included in retained loss for the year.

Notes to the company financial statements
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9 Derivative financial instruments
For details of the financial risk management objectives and policies and principal financial risks see note 24 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

2009
£m

2008
£m

Fair value of derivative financial instruments at 31 December
Cross currency swaps 146 126
Interest rate swaps 11 12
Forward foreign exchange contracts (3) 3

154 141

Market values have been used to calculate the fair value of cross currency swaps. The fair value of interest rate swaps have been determined  
by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts has been determined by marking 
those contracts to market against prevailing forward foreign exchange rates.

2009
£m

2008
£m

Fair value changes included in retained profit at 31 December
Cross currency swaps (53) (24)
Interest rate swaps (1) 7
Forward foreign exchange contracts 7 (7)

(47) (24)

Cross currency swaps
At 31 December 2009, two cross currency swaps were outstanding. The first swapped Euro 750m to £505m (2008: Euro 750m to £505m)
receiving fixed interest rates of 6.75% and paying floating interest rates. The second swapped £505m to US$1,007m (2008: £505m to 
US$1,007m) receiving and paying floating interest rates. Both of these swaps mature in 2017.

Interest rate swaps
At 31 December 2009, three interest rate swaps were outstanding. The first two have a combined principal of Euro 200m (2008: Euro 200m) 
receiving a fixed interest rate of 4.4% and paying floating interest rates. Both of these swaps mature in 2013. The third, transacted in 2009,  
has a principal of US$400m paying fixed interest rates of 2.06% and receiving floating interest rates. This swap matures in 2012.

Forward foreign exchange contracts
At 31 December 2009, forward foreign exchange contracts had principal amounts equivalent to £468m (2008: £366m). The main currencies 
traded were the US dollar, euro and rouble. These contracts mature in 2010.
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10 Operating lease commitments
Operating lease rentals payable in 2010 relating to contracts expiring after five years are £1m (2008: £1m payable in 2009 and expiring 
after five years).

11 Contingent liabilities
2009

£m
2008

£m

Guarantees 48 277

12 Capital and reserves
Ordinary

share
capital

£m

Share 
premium 
account

£m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
£m

Profit  
and loss 
reserve

£m

Merger 
and other 

reserves
£m

Total  
equity

£m

At 1 January 2009 413 1,005 351 229 155 2,153
Retained loss for the year – – – (93) – (93)
Proceeds from rights issue (net of expenses) 150 (16) – – 200 334
Transfer to profit and loss reserve – – – 200 (200) –
Share options value of services provided – – – 4 – 4
Share options cost of investment – – – 2 – 2
At 31 December 2009 563 989 351 342 155 2,400

At 1 January 2008 413 1,004 351 315 155 2,238
Retained loss for the year – – – (88) – (88)
Share options value of services provided – – – 2 – 2
Share options proceeds from shares issued – 1 – – – 1
At 31 December 2008 413 1,005 351 229 155 2,153

The loss after tax for the financial year dealt with in the financial statements of Rexam PLC is £14m (2008: profit £43m). Other reserves reflect 
unrealised gains related to the transfer of investments between subsidiaries. The profit and loss reserve of £342m (2008: £229m) arose partly 
as a result of a provision of £214m against certain investments in subsidiaries in 2001 of which £156m was reversed in 2005. The directors 
consider the value of the remaining investments in subsidiaries is considerably more than their book value and, accordingly, the remaining 
provision of £58m does not impact the distributable reserves of Rexam PLC which were £394m at 31 December 2009 (2008: £283m).

Under the authority given to the directors at the AGM 2009, the Company issued 233,799,459 new ordinary shares on 19 August 2009  
by way of a 4 for 11 rights issue at a price of 150p per share. The rights issue raised net proceeds of £334m after costs of £16m. As part of 
the arrangement for the rights issue, the Company entered into an arrangement with a subsidiary availing itself of statutory merger relief for not 
recording share premium under section 131 of the Companies Act 1985. The nominal value of the new ordinary shares issued of £150m was 
credited to share capital, the costs of £16m were charged to share premium account and the remaining consideration of £200m was recorded 
as a merger reserve. The merger reserve was transferred to retained earnings on 10 November 2009 following redemption of the preference 
shares in the subsidiary. For further details of ordinary shares see note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the company financial statements
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13 Share based payment
Rexam PLC’s equity settled share based payment schemes comprise LTIP, DBIS, ESOS and SAYE. For further information on these schemes, 
including the valuation models and assumptions used, see note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

The number of options and weighted average exercise prices of share option schemes relating to Rexam PLC are set out below.

2009 
Number of 

options

2009 
Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

Pence

2008 
Number of 

options

2008 
Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

Pence

Outstanding at 1 January 6,509,741 140.8 6,608,634 155.2
Rights issue adjustment 535,269 145.6 – –
Granted 317,291 212.0 2,116,564 180.3
Lapsed (2,265,652) 96.4 (1,839,789) 184.9
Exercised (80,561) 270.9 (170,525) 298.0
Expired (417,929) 386.8 (131,254) 466.0
Transfers – – (73,889) 521.0
Outstanding at 31 December 4,598,159 121.7 6,509,741 140.8

Exercisable at 31 December 134,352 292.3 361,059 350.8

The exercise prices and average remaining contractual lives of share options relating to Rexam PLC by scheme are set out below.

2009 
Options 

outstanding 
Number

2009 
Range of 

exercise prices  
Pence

2009 
Weighted average 

remaining 
contractual life  

Years

2008 
Options 

outstanding 
Number

2008 
Range of 

exercise prices  
Pence

2008 
Weighted average 

remaining 
contractual life  

Years

LTIP 2,949,773 – 4.7 4,377,576 0.0 to 0.1 5.1
DBIS 57,777 – 0.2 51,477 – 1.2
ESOS 1,221,181 213.7 to 456.6 7.5 1,864,435 239.8 to 552.7 7.7
SAYE 369,428 212.0 to 387.6 4.0 216,253 315.0 to 435.0 3.1
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Registered office
Rexam PLC, 4 Millbank, London SW1P 3XR, United Kingdom

Tel +44 (0)20 7227 4100  
Fax +44 (0)20 7227 4109

Registered in England and Wales number 191285

Rexam website 
www.rexam.com
The Rexam website has comprehensive information on the Group 
and its strategy. In the Investors section there is useful shareholder 
information, together with the real time price of the Company’s 
shares, a share value calculator and historic share prices. Details  
on the Group’s businesses, Corporate Responsibility and Corporate 
Governance as well as press releases, stock exchange 
announcements and copies of shareholder publications such as 
Annual and Interim Reports can be downloaded or viewed online.

Registrar
www.shareview.co.uk
Equiniti, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex  
BN99 6DA, United Kingdom

Tel 0871 384 2256 for UK holders (i) 
Tel +44 121 415 7008 for overseas holders

For enquiries concerning your shareholding, dividends, the rights 
issue 2009 or the AGM 2010, and to register changes to your 
personal details, please contact Equiniti.

Equiniti also provides online access to a range of shareholder 
information on its Shareview website where you can view your 
shareholding in Rexam, find practical help to update your personal 
details and register for electronic communication. There is also  
a facility to buy or sell your Rexam shares online. Your shareholder 
reference number, shown on share certificates and tax vouchers, will 
enable you to view your shareholding on the Shareview website.

For general enquiries you may contact the Company Secretary’s 
department at Rexam PLC or email company.secretary@rexam.com.

If you have received more than one copy of the Notice of AGM 
2010 you may be registered under more than one shareholder 
reference number. To amalgamate your accounts please contact 
Equiniti.

Electronic communication
The majority of shareholders have chosen to view shareholder 
documents on the Rexam website and do not receive a paper copy 
of the Annual Report or certain other shareholder documents. 

If you have received a paper copy of the Annual Report 2009  
and would prefer to view shareholder documents electronically,  
you can send your instruction in writing to Equiniti or, alternatively, 
make your request through their Shareview website at  
www.shareview.co.uk/rexam. 

You can request a paper copy of any shareholder document  
at any time, which will be sent to you free of charge. Please contact 
Equiniti by telephone or in writing.

Stock Exchange listing
The Company has ordinary shares of 642/7p each which are listed 
with the UK Listing Authority and admitted to trading on the London 
Stock Exchange. The shares are classified under the FTSE General 
Industrials sector and trade under the code REX. In the US, shares  
are traded in the form of American Depositary Receipts on an  
Over-the-Counter Program under symbol REXMY on the Pink Sheets 
electronic trading market.

Financial calendar 2010
The following dates are given for information purposes. Please check 
the Rexam website nearer to the expected dates to ensure there have 
been no changes to them.

Events

2010

Announcement of 2009 Final Results 17 February
Ex dividend date for 2009 final dividend 5 May
Annual General Meeting 2010 6 May
Record date for 2009 final dividend 7 May
Payment date for 2009 final dividend 3 June
Announcement of 2010 Half Year Results 28 July
Proposed payment date for 2010 interim dividend 5 October
Financial year end 31 December

Dividends
Subject to shareholder approval, the directors have proposed a 
2009 final dividend of 8.0p per share. A 2009 interim dividend 
was not declared and the total dividend for the year ended  
31 December 2009 is therefore 8.0p per share (2008: 18.7p 
restated).

Dividend on shares 
Dividend  

per share (p)
Ex dividend

date
Record

date
Payment 

date

2009 final 8.0 05.05.10 07.05.10 03.06.10

Dividend mandate
Shareholders who wish their dividends to be paid directly to a  
bank or building society account should contact Equiniti or download 
a dividend mandate form from the Shareview website or from the 
Investors section on the Rexam website. Dividends can also be paid 
directly into certain foreign bank accounts. For details of those 
countries for which this service is offered, please contact Equiniti  
or download the list of countries from the Rexam website.

Dividend reinvestment plan
The Company’s dividend reinvestment plan provides a simple  
and economic way for shareholders to reinvest their Rexam dividends 
in Rexam shares. Details of the plan and an application form can be 
downloaded from the Investors section on the Rexam website, from 
the Shareview website or by contacting Equiniti by telephone. The 
last date for receipt of instructions to reinvest the 2009 final dividend 
is 12 May 2010.

Capital gains tax
The market value of Rexam shares at 31 March 1982 was 75.3p 
per share, as adjusted for the subdivision of shares in November 
1992 and the capital reorganisation in October 1998. 
Shareholders requiring clarification of their capital gains tax position 
should consult their professional advisor. 

Shareholder information

(i) All calls to 0871 numbers are charged at 8p per minute from a BT landline.  
Other telephone provider costs may vary.
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Rights Issue 2009
On 29 July 2009 the Company announced a 4 for 11 rights  
issue and nil paid new shares were issued at 150p per share  
to shareholders registered on the record date of 23 July 2009.  
At the end of the offer period on 18 August 2009, shareholders  
had subscribed for 95% of the total number of new shares.  
The remaining shares were sold in the market at a price of 253p  
per share. Subject to the payment being over £5.00 per holding, 
shareholders who had not subscribed or were not eligible to 
subscribe for the new shares by reason of being resident in a 
restricted territory, or those who had already sold their nil paid new 
shares before the 18 August 2009, received a payment of 103p 
per new share. CREST stock accounts were credited with the new 
shares on 19 August 2009 or share certificates for the new shares 
were posted to shareholders on 26 August 2009.

American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) 
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services 
PO Box 358516 
Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8516

Tel +1 201 680 6825 
Tel 1 888 BNY ADRS (toll free within the US) 
Email shrrelations@bnymellon.com

Rexam has an ADR programme for which The Bank of New York 
Mellon acts as Depositary and transfer agent. One ADR equates  
to five Rexam shares. The Depositary receives the sterling dividends 
payable to ADR holders and makes the equivalent payment in US 
dollars. ADRs are traded as a Level 1 ADR Over-the-Counter Program 
under symbol REXMY on the Pink Sheets electronic trading market. 
Trading data can be viewed at www.pinksheets.com or through 
www.adrbnymellon.com. 

Historic ADR information can be viewed at www.rexam.com.

ShareGift 
www.sharegift.org
Tel +44 (0)20 7930 3737

ShareGift is an independent charity share donation scheme that 
provides a charitable solution to the problem of unwanted small 
holdings of shares. If you have shares that you wish to dispose  
of and whose value makes it uneconomic to sell, you may wish  
to consider donating them to charity through ShareGift.

Analysis of ordinary shareholders
Holdings of Rexam PLC ordinary shares, as at 15 February 2010, 
are as follows:

Shareholding analysis
Holdings

number %
Shares

 number %

Category
Individuals 15,886 72 24,626,784 3
Pension funds 4 0 9,413 0
Banks and nominees 5,695 26 828,501,691 94
Other corporate holders 494 2 23,691,550 3

22,079 100 876,829,438 100

Size of holdings
Up to 2,000 shares 15,750 71 12,028,630 1
2,001 – 20,000 shares 5,500 25 25,027,058 3
20,001 – 100,000 shares 366 2 17,835,971 2
Over 100,000 shares 463 2 821,937,779 94

22,079 100 876,829,438 100

Fraudulent transactions
The Financial Services Authority (FSA) has issued a warning to all  
UK shareholders about unsolicited phone calls or correspondence 
concerning investment matters. These are typically from overseas 
based ‘brokers’ who target UK shareholders, offering to sell them 
what often turn out to be worthless or high risk shares in US or UK 
companies. These operations are commonly known as ‘boiler room 
scams’. Shareholders are advised to be very wary of any unsolicited 
advice, offers to buy shares at a discount, or offers of free company 
reports. If you receive any unsolicited investment advice: 

•  Make sure you get the correct name of the person and 
organisation.

•  Check that they are properly authorised by the FSA before getting 
involved by visiting www.fsa.gov.uk/register

•  If you are concerned, report the matter to the FSA either by calling 
0845 606 1234 from within the UK or +44 20 7066 1000 
from outside the UK, or visiting www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk

•  The FSA can be contacted by completing an online form at  
www.fsa.gov.uk/pages/Doing/Regulated/Law/Alerts/overseas.shtml 

•  If the caller persists, hang up.

More detailed information on these or similar activities can be found  
on the FSA website www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk

Protecting your shareholding
•  Ensure all your share certificates are kept in a safe place  

or hold your shares electronically in CREST via a nominee.

•  Keep all correspondence from Rexam or Equiniti which shows  
your shareholder reference number in a safe place, or destroy 
correspondence by shredding.

•  Inform Equiniti if you change address. If you receive a letter  
from the Registrars regarding a change of address and have  
not recently moved, please contact Equiniti immediately as you 
may be a victim of identity theft.

•  If you are buying or selling shares, only deal with brokers 
registered in the UK or your country of residence.
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For details of our individual operations  
please refer to our website www.rexam.com

Addresses
Head office
Rexam PLC
4 Millbank 
London SW1P 3XR 
United Kingdom

Tel +44 (0)20 7227 4100 
Fax +44 (0)20 7227 4109

Main overseas service centres
Asia Pacific
Rexam Asia Limited
Room 3701, 37/F 
AIA Tower 
183 Electric Road 
North Point 
Hong Kong 

Tel +852 2291 7000 
Fax +852 2802 1768

USA
Rexam Inc
4201 Congress Street 
Suite 340 
Charlotte 
NC 28209 
USA

Tel +1 704 551 1500 
Fax +1 704 551 1572

Frank Brown 
Director of US Administration

Operational headquarters
Rexam Beverage Can Europe & Asia
100 Capability Green 
Luton 
Bedfordshire  
LU1 3LG 
United Kingdom

Tel +44 (0)1582 408999 
Fax +44 (0)1582 726065

Rexam Beverage Can North America
8770 W Bryn Mawr Avenue 
Chicago 
IL 60631 
USA

Tel +1 773 399 3000 
Fax +1 773 399 8088

Rexam Beverage Can South America
Av. Luis Carlos Prestes 
290 - sala 101 
Barra da Tijuca 
Rio de Janeiro - RJ 
CEP 22.775-055 
Brazil

Tel +55 21 2104 3300  
Fax +55 21 2104 3401 

Rexam Plastic Packaging
4 Millbank 
London SW1P 3XR 
United Kingdom

Tel +44 (0)20 7227 4100 
Fax +44 (0)20 7227 4109
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